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OUR VISION
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To be an Asian
originated world-class

e outdoor communication
enterprise
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KNI fEdD
OUR MISSION

AEFPREGENFINEETHER
URHERESESNaEREDRER

To provide optimal Out-Of-Home (OOH)
communication solutions with highest Return-On-
Investment (ROI) and effectiveness
BEBERITERRE  ReTEEERT
To promote professional excellence in
outdoor advertising media
BRENE - S - BFENEK

To nurture our workforce into a
harmonious, efficient and effective team
BiTHEER  BELESHE

To be a community conscious enterprise  ©®

B IR ME
OUR CORE VALUES

WE HAERE  BEE

Integrity: Being honest and truthful towards people
S HEREREEX 0 TEBER

Excellence: Continuous improvement and the pursuit
of excellence

B BRI -B 2O EEHSE
Benevolence: Taking social responsibilities and caring
for the community
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ASIARAY AT A GLANCE

1993

I EEEXBNFN
The year we started our
advertising business

*

o
NO.1

RPERPERBEEISESEHISEEE
Our rank in Greater China’s airport
advertising market

1,000+

81
Employees

e
ct

2059 &
MILLION

M BEBREISH2018F AR R
Air passenger traffic of Asiaray’s
exclusive airport resources in 2018
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NO.2
Y PN T

Our rank in Greater China’s metro advertising
market

39
BT NYE

Cities where we
have operations

19
PSR T
w5

Metro lines with exclusive
concession rights

31

BRETEENKS (BiEEm=nRE
Bl PR35 25 R U 8 )

Airports with exclusive concession rights (including
Sanya Phoenix International Airport Terminal 2)

* (BROR : 2017 FHE A FIRE R T 5 &)

(Source: Frost & Sullivan Report 2017 and latest market information)
* BEE201943A31H

As at 31 March 2019
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MEDIA NETWORK

* As at 31 March 2019
EHZE2019F3A31H
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B @R
Cross—Boundary Transport Hub
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Airport
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Metro Line
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BEEREAEREES

Billboard and Building Solution
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EEEFEARNE
Key Account Office
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OUR PHILOSOPHY

ZEEEE

BARC REENKLEE - BEREN Htt?"i"i)\ ZEEH | WRBESMLIDERATR -
BB R =MERRANERENT  BUREEEF KREREBALEARTEIEEE -

EEEF — BCESNERYR B ESMa
BEEREAA —XCERRFEERS  RAWXEE
TE—NRBEHERE - B8 BENKE  ZEBHRE - EEIKE

SPACE MANAGEMENT

We view ourselves as the managers of the space, which distinguishes us from the traditional
“Buy Wholesale, Sell Retail” approach.

Our well-developed space management model enables us to create value for our advertising customers,
media resources owners and passengers.

Advertising customer — enhance the overall impact of the advertisement
Media resource owner — enhance the overall ambience and optimize the commercial value

Passenger — extend beyond the visual to stimulate senses of smell, touch, hearing and taste,
making up an exuberant journey

l REED
CHINA MOBILE
BREE (FBR) REAE2 RS

HIGH SPEED RAIL (HONG KONG SECTION)
TICKETING CONCOURSE DOMINATION

y

4
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COCA-COLA

LEDE®S
LED SCREEN
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BILLBOARD
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COUNTRY GARDEN
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METRO MEDIA RESOURCES
0PPO
BISE SR
AIRPORT MEDIA RESOURCES
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BRAND DISPLAY
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KERE

EVENTS OF THE YEAR

Rl
RIS ERE o

2018
1R
JANUARY

ERIRBRSN IR ERER
REETE -

Obtained exclusive operation
right on media resources

of Zhuhai Airport.

RHAEEREEERAT 2018 Fif 12

ERRARSNEEE RSB

Obtained exclusive operation
right on media resources of
Lancang Airport.

BRI st ISR B S
IR ERE RS -
Obtained exclusive operation right
on media resources of Beijing
Airport Line (Train body).

BRI R B BRI 25 s
IR E RS -

Obtained the operation right on
media resources of Beijing Capital
International Airport — Terminal 2.

ERALZBRESHREEIR
Obtained operation right

on media resources of Xi'an
International Airport.

9A

SEPTEMBER

R SRR (BB ) IR RE
BRBREEHE o

Obtained exclusive right

to operate media resources

of High Speed Railway (Hong
Kong Section).

EEFRGBIRNRAR GRROFEAT
B)NERERBRICEHE
Obtained exclusive operation
right on media resources of

Hong Kong-Zhuhai-Macao Bridge
(Zhuhai-Macau Boundary-
Crossing Artificial Island).



Pk Zh Y Radius Displays
International Limited 2 51%E.
BT ©

Completed the acquisition of 51%
issues shares in Radius Displays
International Limited.

108 128

UCTUBE MBER

RRIhEN (BERAE RS
THERE@mIE) o
Successfully organized “The
Greater Bay Connect Forum”.

BB O XS HEBER
R EHE -

Obtained exclusive operation right
on media resources of

Haikou Meilan International

EROBN BB AS 12 HREE
BRBREEHE -

Obtained exclusive rights to
operate media resources of
Wenzhou Metro S1.

Airport.

RGBS HERSNER
BRBREEHE -

Obtained exclusive operation right
on media resources of Hainan
Qionghai Bo'ao Airport.

BRI R KBS IR EIR
REETE -

Obtained operation right on
media resources of Beijing Daxing
International Airport.

ERMNESRAERNIREER
BREEHE -

Obtained exclusive operation right
on media resources of

Hangzhou Metro Line 5.

Asiaray Media Group Limited

2A
EBRUARY

BRI R E AT AR R IR RE
IR G EHE -

Obtained exclusive operation right
on media resources of Beijing
Metro Line 14.

2018 Annual Report 13



RIARRHE
AWARDS AND RECOGNITION

& E QUALIFICATIONS

P —REE X (ERRER) (ZEEts)

First-class Advertising Agency of China (Media Service) (Yunnan Asiaray)
PE-RESEE(EERBEGE) (LeHEE)

First-class Advertising Agency of China (Media Service) (Shanghai Asiaray)
PETESHEEBEEEM( ERTE)

Standing Member of the Outdoor Advertising Committee of Shanghai Advertising Association (Shanghai Asiaray)
bPemELREER(LEHEE)

Famous trademark in Shanghai (Shanghai Asiaray)
GB/T9001-2008/1SO9001:20153FFE ( /G HEH4)

GB/T9001-2008/1SO9001:2015 International Certificate of Registration (Shanghai Asiaray)
BB EKRE

Hong Kong Green Organisation Certification

REM AEFREERTE WINNING TWO INTERNATIONAL AWARDS

ZE1GBEABRAVHNERLZ2EEESEITE  AheEBEBRAEN TR  RAFYEIHWROISREAR - $
HESREESE  BED R HANEFSRIBHAG60HRIE -

Participated in 16 international and national advertising showcase awards with strong recognition in the industry,
including the internationally renowned ECI Award, the influential ROl Gold Award and China Advertising Great-wall
Award, etc., and won more than 60 gold, silver, bronze and outstanding awards.

BRI (EM) BRI =8
CANNES LIONS

R 2 B BRI P A0

BEME - R

Healthcare and Wellness
Outdoor Advertising
Category - Silver Award

2N A = ER

SPIKES ASIA
FERFH
B -
Graphic and Outdoor
Advertising Category
- Bronze Award

5 ® %22 GROUP RECOGNITIONS

FEIPINEEN+FRREE - FEESHE

China’s 40 Years of Outdoor Advertising (Elite Agency) — China Advertising Association
TEFINEENTFERAENCE(ZREEBRAKENBEREGRAA) - PEESEHE

China’s 40 Years of Outdoor Advertising (Most Promising Agency) (Yunnan Airport Asiaray Information Media
Company Limited) — China Advertising Association

hEPIMEREFEHAE - PREPIMEERS

Annual Model of the Outdoor Media Industry in China — China Outdoor Communication Conference
RERMNEREDSRGREN - PRALGRNEREZRBHE

Vice President Unit of the Child Welfare and Protection Council - China Association of Social Welfare and Senior
Service

RASEEEEERAT 2018 FiR 14



£ [ 445 GROUP RECOGNITIONS

2018 DR EAR(EMAIF ) - BAPEEHOES

Outstanding Import & Export Enterprise Awards 2018 (Innovation Excellence Award) — The Hong Kong Chinese
Importers’ & Exporters’ Association

EERREBAR(ERIBAR)FE- REEHEES

Hong Kong Awards for Environmental Excellence (Media and Communication) Bronze Award — Environmental
Campaign Committee

bETESHeERTZEM( LERIH)- LETESHE

Commendatory Unit of Shanghai Advertising Association (Shanghai Asiaray) — Shanghai Advertising Association

= {512 1 CAMPAIGN AWARDS

FSETHESRNE - BFE

The 25th China Advertising Great-wall Awards — Merit Award

RWRENITIHEE - $R48 - iH48 - BEHE

Great-wall Media Marketing Awards — Silver Award, Bronze Award, Merit Award
PONGRITIHEE - ©48 - RET - AR

Outdoor Scene Marketing Awards — Gold Award, Silver Award, Bronze Award
BIEABITIHAIF R - R4T - R4S

Mawards — Silver Award, Bronze Award

SR - R

China Content Marketing Awards — Bronze Award

©RAE - REE

Golden Vision Awards — Silver Award

%= B = J& 2% 18 GROUP CHAIRMAN'S AWARDS

FEEIINESNTFREAY - PEESHE

China’s 40 Years of Outdoor Advertising (Elite Practitioner) — China Advertising Association
TDMNEINEFNBTER - FEPIMEERE

Asia’s 15 Years of Outdoor Advertising (Meritorious Entrepreneur) — China Outdoor Communication Conference
2018 EE (LM AR-ITES) - BAEEES

Directors Of The Year Awards 2018 (Listed Companies — Executive Directors) — The Hong Kong Institute of
Directors

FEEBREEMFERA(FERACAEPEEME) - PR EEME

Elite of the Year of Shanghai International Advertising Festival (Most Valuable Business Leader Award of the Year)
— CPC Shanghai Municipal Committee

LEmESHeEARRE - LETESHE

Individual Contribution Award of Shanghai Advertising Association — Shanghai Advertising Association

S MiE(FELETARICEO) - IR

Golden Lion Award (Best CEO of Listed Companies) — Sina Finance

Asiaray Media Group Limited 2018 Annual Report 15
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

REWA
COMBINED REVENUE
BEAET 2,799.7
HKD million 2,567.0
807.8 870.8
1,759.2 1,928.9 SEEHBA
Group’s consolidated revenue
3 ENE [ PN
2017 2018 ® Associate companies’ revenue

RERIE - BIE - IERBHEIHNER
EARNINGS BEFORE INTEREST, TAX,
DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION

BEATT 196.0
HKD million

133.5

2017 2018

REB DB E 2B
REVENUE BREAKDOWN BY OPERATING SEGMENT

BEAETT
HKD million 1,928.9
1,759.2 226.3
202.2
7135 974.9
©® 35 Airports
2435 O HEBRERESRE
: 727.7 Metro Lines & Billboards
© Ef others
2017 2018

RHAEEREEERAT 2018 Fi#f 16



FEHRE

CHAIRMAN S STATEMENT

AANBBREARTREME AR (5 [
SEHDEZE2018F12A3MBIEFENEF X

=
4 o

BE—FHARBEELAEKN  2018F 12
BEANDAAIN25RAF - BEVEBEL SN
)SUK/ R AR B R HETT ﬁzﬁﬂi?)ﬁ?f oy
Kes#B THEREBmE|([HEB]) - @®
EHN2018F 10 A 12 BRI 8B 1T 7%%?’%3@
EHMBEREYS o EEHEEBRANERE (XK
/%EJ)EEHI/* ERBENRIARLE - BB
WIEMEREMRA - RNAREQAFLERRM
/\Evé%ﬁ’ﬁ?\;;%ﬂ*%%&m%“mﬁﬁ@i
LWEBEIRAERIKDY  c ERRAEZLE L
FEENSBRERER  KMABHEEESE
RSB EIRREARAOFZE - HASIE
MERRASEEEEBHRREAB(ZRROF)
MEREE(BER)NTBRIFHEER
WEHAREAEEEEEST - HBERE
%S NREREE -

| hereby present the annual results of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 31
December 2018.

The past year was particularly significant for the Company
as 2018 marked our 25th anniversary. To celebrate our silver
jubilee, as well as the launch of “Greater Bay Area Initiative”,
we organised “The Greater Bay Connect Forum ({ 8% 8
RNEREBE TR ERE@mE))" (the "Forum”). The Forum,
held in Shenzhen on 12 October 2018, served as a platform
for leaders in their respective business segment to share
insights into the transportation infrastructure evolution now
underway in the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater
Bay Area (the “Greater Bay Area”). As a co-organizer of the
event, it was delighted to have in attendance leaders from
both the public and private sectors to share their invaluable
knowledge and experiences, which made the Forum a
tremendous success. Given the various opportunities and
developments that will be presented by rising investment in
infrastructure in the region, we will be able to leverage on
our leading market position to maximize benefits. Already,
we have secured new exclusive concession rights in respect
of two national strategic projects, namely the Hong Kong-
Zhuhai-Macao Bridge (Zhuhai-Macao Port) and High Speed
Rail (Hong Kong Section), and more exciting opportunities
are expected to emerge, brought by the infrastructure boom
across Mainland China.

Asiaray Media Group Limited 2018 Annual Report 17



FREE  CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

ETREER
ARREREII25BF R - IRE R
RITERSEER -

HEREEHES

RN BEEHS5EM T 2 30MEKS (BIESE
=I5Bl E B RS 2SR AR 12 ) 1 715 B
BEREBERNBRETCEE(EHZ2018
F12A318)  RMEER ATIFEEE -
RIS R EBREHEMEENFINESE
WAFE  DRIERISEEMSRIMEESE
MHBHEE—RE_(ERTR  2017F#5E
A RIS REMATIZER) - REE
FE BRABKBRABEROR) ReRER
(BBE)IN - FAMIINES BRE 5 R AT b
HSManmERERAMIE TR EHEBEEN
PIEEEES - A EBEMRERKNER TR
MIHEERARRI=AMNEE R RE
ERELERRNG - BEEBRE T RS
ETZBMN [ZHEEIRIEZET - #1
ZuLEBENERE RN EFHESHEE
B SEBEBERKAE2016F X8R
TETAER o NEB —HBeMIRIFIE B 18
£ AMB2016FHRFERBE=FEFE
—EHEEHEBERBEEQASE -

HZE2018F12A31MHLIEFE  AEBBEI
MNMEREREREBESEBZENAREEMR
BEERRMNAHRARKA @ B ERK
MAREEEBFE) R2011F E2018F 815
HNEAFEERE15.2% ° BIFCTREN
BERNOMET  PEAEREEEETEHN2018
FIRFIZR2.9% @ EPEE - BB EEMT
Z(TMTHHhERS @ BRAEEJEER
SERTIHEHERE -

A @EEEEERAT 2018 FR 18

BUILDING ON SOLID FOUNDATION
The Company has made significant headway in terms of
business development while celebrating its 25th anniversary.

Outperformance continues

With exclusive concession rights to mainstream media
resources for 30 airports (including Sanya Phoenix
International Airport Terminal 2, Hainan) and 17 metro lines
in over 35 cities as at 31 December 2018, we continued to
be a market leader, ranking first in the airport advertising
market and second in the metro advertising market based
on outdoor advertising revenue generated from exclusive
arrangements with airports and metro lines respectively
(Source: Frost & Sullivan Report 2017 and latest market
information). During the review year, apart from the Hong
Kong-Zhuhai-Macao Bridge (Zhuhai-Macao Port) and the
High Speed Rail (Hong Kong Section), we also secured
media resources in Zhuhai Airport, Hangzhou Metro Line
5 and the train media at the Beijing Capital Airport Line,
which are expected to generate synergies with our existing
and ample media resources in the Greater Bay Area, as
well as Yangtze River Delta area and the Beijing-Tianjin-
Hebei region. Backed by an effective “space management”
approach, our diversified and high-quality media resources
together with the newly secured media resources have
resulted in sustained growth in business scale and revenue
since our rebound in 2016 despite the challenging
business environment. The Group has been able to sustain
satisfactory financial growth, thereby continuing the string
of positive profit alert announcements made for three
consecutive annual year since FY2016.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, our combined
revenue, consisting of consolidated revenue and revenue
from all associated companies of the Group engaged in the
media advertising business, which reflects a more accurate
view of the Group's business scale, achieved a CAGR of
15.2% between 2011 and 2018. According to CTR Market
Research1, the overall advertising market in Mainland China
grew by 2.9% year-on-year in 2018, while Technology,
Media and Telecommunications Industry (“TMT") became
the largest contribution, thus indicating that the Group has
continued to outperform the market.



FREE  CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

TR RBARERAR T XK BEAS S| B H P A
FraFE

REBREBRERIIETEE - EHRMIXBR
BT RESHBETEREK AP INEEITE
FBRRAZEE BB IEAR LG THE
WERBEM @ AIEFERNESHEIEE
ERASETRERE  BMBE2015FR—EE
BEONMECIRBIBEEINEENEEH &
PR ER L E B A R AL (T AIEAF
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Say|B&E  EMHERERR - MAHELEET
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REEFE  ZMMAIBLEZ—F  FiB
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ISP ERBETYS - ZTREFH
WRINESTFRREHZENRY - ATk A
FETFB A HR RO FIINBIBTERBER =
MBS EDNMABRRE - BREBHESE
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THREEMKY - TR R KIEBEES
TEEESE(FRIREFERBIBERNES
EEREBAEENKEER - AEEAH
BBt O HAREEHREERES @ AELY
BER BEPREARAZROESEAER °

Promising online and offline strategies will usher new era

While the pursuit of business growth is highly important, we
are well aware that innovation and advancement are equally
significant in order to evolve and become a pioneer in the
out-of-home (“OOH") advertising industry. Given that a
shrewd combination of online and offline ("O&0O") media,
which are complementary to one another, can facilitate
the transformation of OOH from an ancillary media to a
mainstream one, we have been actively and conscientiously
directing efforts to strengthen our O&O and digital out-of-
home ("DOOH") capabilities since 2015. This has included
the establishment of the Central Innovation and Technology
Unit ("CTU"), which is involved in integrating mobile and
digital elements such as Html5, Virtual Reality and iBeacon
into advertising solutions. Among CTU’s recent triumphs
include the Vitasoy Real Friends Campaign, which received
overwhelmingly positive market response. With using the
O&O platform, the customer can voice out their thoughts to
friends by live broadcasting their messages in the giant LED
screen located at Russell Street.

During the review year, we made another significant step
forward with the creation and launch of the first media
buying platform featuring programmatic DOOH media in
Hong Kong with Google and the global media investment
management company under the WPP Group. This new
programmatic DOOH platform provides a comprehensive
range of services, from booking placement to the launch of
an advertising campaign, with all our outdoor digital media
resources now available for trading. With such cooperation,
we have brought the local OOH industry to a new era in
which convergence of the Internet and DOOH are enabled,
and which also brings our O&O strategies closer to fruition.
With the new platform, more diversified advertisers can be
attracted and connected to the Group’s media resources
remotely, especially those keen on using digital media.
Working in concert with CTU, the Group can deliver tailored
campaigns, enabling the creation of content that achieves an
all-win result for advertisers, consumers and the Company.

Asiaray Media Group Limited 2018 Annual Report 19
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Bt B Radius

S—EANEIEHG5E BUHERadius Displays
International Limited([ Radius])HIR%4E © {2
EMBEHEBBEZEE - RadiusTE B -
2 B R BOM b [ 12 4 S 4R R I T 5 PR AR AR
e IRRERRE TEEGEENFINES
REXMED  BIER2017FEAA] DA LES
RAHBRRESRENOH EE RN EE
HhE o BXBE o WEFE B S RadiusBER
SESENEFPEARRKABEINEEKS
BHRREEBREEHBRNG M ESE
BERMEBES  BWARBEREFEREZ T
It BBEEEHREREHN - RPVRERKE
EREEMA - RHEF & B Radius K H T 5]
AFEEN™S » kK2 RadiusiEE K
MbENBEREFAAEERE®YS - B
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RERK 2018 FREBEFENEBAY
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Rotsh REEENRETENRESB
BBAPIMIENSE  BEEAKRERE
AHMISAEERNENULE - LERBEX
BTSN ER
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Strategic acquisition of Radius

Yet another significant milestone was achieved regarding
the expansion of our business coverage upstream. This
has been facilitated by acquiring a stake in Radius Displays
International Limited ("Radius”). Radius provides signage
and urban furniture design engineering and consulting
work in Hong Kong, the US and the Eurozone. Among
its impressive portfolio of OOH advertisements include
the world’s first robotic 3D sign - featuring a Coca-Cola
ad, which it had a major role in engineering and went on
to receive the admiration of people at New York’s Times
Square in 2017. The acquisition creates synergies between
new and existing businesses by bringing together the
respective client base of Radius and the Group and by
creating more cross-selling opportunities, thereby enriching
the Group with a more diversified business portfolio, income
stream and client base. The alliance will result in yet another
mutual benefit. With our strong presence in the Greater
China region, we can provide a platform for introducing
Radius technology to new high-potential markets, while
conversely, Radius’ exemplary reputation in the US and
Eurozone will provide the Group with a platform for
expanding outside its major footholds when appropriate.

TURNING HEADWINDS INTO OPPORTUNITIES
Going forward, concerns that affected the global economy
in 2018 are expected to persist in the coming year,
including such issues as the US-China trade war, slowing
Chinese economy, Brexit and financial risks in emerging
markets. Such developments will invariably impact the world
economy and the OOH market in the Greater China region.
Despite the growing headwinds, we remain cautiously
optimistic about the Group’s prospects as we firmly believe
that opportunities arise even in the most challenging
times. With our proven “Space Management” model, our
diverse client mix comprising companies involved in Fast-
Moving Consumer Goods to premium products, as well as
breadth and depth of media resources that result in highly
tailored solutions, we have been able to maintain stable
growth during economic peaks and troughs for over two
decades. Moreover, as difficult times often accelerate the
consolidation process, driving out weaker players from the
OOH industry, market leaders such as the Group will be
well-positioned to capture greater market share.
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Transportation infrastructure boom creates
opportunities in the short to medium term

Regardless of economic cycle, developing media resources
at airports and metro lines will remain our strategic
business focus. In the coming decade, the transportation
infrastructure boom in Mainland China will significantly
increase the number of airports and metro lines in operation,
which will further expand OOH media coverage as well
as their reach to target audiences, creating tremendous
opportunities for the Group. Subsequent to the review
year, we have signed new exclusive concession rights
agreements that include Beijing Metro Line 14 and Wenzhou
Metro Line S1. We will continue to closely monitor market
developments and leverage on our favorable position to
capture new opportunities in the Belt and Road region,
booming Yangtze River Delta Area and Beijing-Tianjin-
Hebei region. With the Group’s rich media resources and
network in Mainland China and exciting new opportunities
on the horizon, we trust that Group will generate still greater
synergies, leading the integration in the highly fragmented
industry, and further strengthen its foremost position in the
market.

| would like to take this opportunity to thank all of the
Group's stakeholders for their support, including our many
business partners for reinforcing their strategic ties which
has given the entire workforce added motivation. With a
successful history stretching 25 years, we look forward to
achieving our goal of becoming an OOH market leader not
only in the Greater China region but around the globe in the
coming years.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

While 2018 marked the 25th anniversary of the Company,
it also introduced a period of challenges brought upon by
developments such as the US-China trade war and slowing
down of Hong Kong and Mainland China economies.
Nonetheless, by leveraging our leading position in the
out-of-home (“OOH") advertising industry in Mainland
China and Hong Kong, effective “Space Management”
approach embraced by advertisers, and growth momentum
accumulated during the past few years, the Group has
been able to sustain satisfactory financial growth, thereby
continuing the string of positive profit alert announcements
made for three consecutive annual year since FY2016. For
the year ended 31 December 2018, revenue increased
by 9.6% to approximately HKD1,928.9 million (2017:
approximately HKD1,759.2 million), which was mainly due to
the encouraging results of the metro and billboard business,
representing a CAGR over 15.2% from 2011-2018. Gross
profit rose by 33.5% to approximately HKD484.1 million
(2017: approximately HKD362.7 million), while gross profit
margin was up by 4.5 percentage points to 25.1% (2017:
20.6%), as a result of improved contributions from the
Yunnan Airport Group and Zhengzhou Airport, as well as
the outstanding performance of the Hong Kong billboard
business and Beijing metro lines. The combined revenue of
the Group, which provides a more accurate representation
of total business scale by including the above mentioned
consolidated revenue and the revenue of all associated
companies, grew by 9.1% to approximately HKD2,799.7
million (2017: approximately HKD2,567.0 million). The
EBITDA (Earnings before interests, tax, depreciation and
amortisation) was recorded approximately HKD196.0 million
which has a raised of 46.8% with compared to last year
(2017: approximately HKD133.5 million). Moreover, profit
for the year surged by 77.9% to approximately HKD126.7
million (2017: approximately HKD71.2 million), while profit
attributable to owners of the Company rose by 40.9%
to approximately HKD63.0 million (2017: approximately
HKD44.7 million).
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Maintaining leadership while having a lasting impact
According to a report by CTR Market Research, 2018 was
a year in which the Mainland China advertising market
underwent a period of adjustment and development. Overall
advertising spending (“adspend”) recorded a growth of
only 2.9% in 2018, slipping from 4.3% in 2017. Meanwhile,
the Group's revenue recorded a 9.6% growth in 2018,
such a figure suggests that the Group outperformed the
market — able to accelerate growth even in a challenging
environment, thus successfully strengthened our leading
position among privately-owned media companies in the
airport and metro advertising markets in the Greater China
region. As at 31 December 2018, the Group provided
exclusive advertising services for 17 metro lines and 30
airports (including Sanya Phoenix International Airport
Terminal 2, Hainan) and other OOH media across over 35
cities in the Mainland China.

It is worth noting that in the second half year, we have
secured the exclusive concession rights to the media
resources of the Hong Kong-Zhuhai-Macao Bridge (Zhuhai-
Macao Port) and High Speed Rail (Hong Kong Section),
which both national projects are the largest of their kind
in the world. Together with the winning of a series of new
projects in 2018, including the media resources of six
airports and two metro lines, the Group is set to substantially
improve its presence in the prosperous Greater Bay Area,
and further enrich its already well-established media
resources network in Mainland China covering nearly 40
cities — cementing the Group's leadership in the market.
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Update of business segments

Metro lines and billboards

During the past year, the metro and billboard business
became the growth engine of the Group, driven by several
recently secured projects such as Hangzhou Metro Line 2
and 4, as well as the satisfactory performance of other metro
lines. Consequently, revenue of this business segment rose
by 36.6% to approximately HKD974.9 million, while segment
gross profit surged by 66.1% to approximately HKD184.3
million. Apart from the signature project High Speed Rail
(Hong Kong Section), the Group also obtained the exclusive
operation rights to the train media at the Beijing Capital
Airport Line, as well as the Hangzhou Metro Line 5 that
enjoys synergies with the city’s existing Metro Line 2 and 4.

Our billboards are a traditional yet effective OOH
advertising solution for reaching the masses. The Group's
newest billboards, which are all located in prime locations
such as the Star Ferry Carpark in Central, 1 Leighton Road,
Laforet and Lin Fook House in Causeway Bay, and Sim City in
Mong Kok, all of them have realized revenue growth for the
Group during the year.

Airport

With the improved performance of the Yunnan Airport
Group and Zhengzhou Airport, as well as better cost control
measures in place, segment gross profit increased by 18.7%
to approximately HKD269.3 million. Enhanced profitability
can also be attributed to other factors, including national
marketing efforts to promote our media resources network
as a whole, introduction of top-level luxury brands to airports
of first-tier cities and brought in creative showcases that
are backed by our “space management” model. During the
year, the Group also secured the operation rights to media
resources in Lancang Airport, Xi‘an International Airport and
Haikou Meilan International Airport, as well as the Zhuhai
Airport, Beijing Capital International Airport and the new
Beijing Daxing International Airport, which have further
strengthened our presence in the Greater Bay Area and
Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei region.
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Groundbreaking digital out-of-home (“DOOH") initiative

The Group has created the first media buying platform with
programmatic DOOH media in Hong Kong during the year.
The programmatic DOOH platform project represents a
joint effort with Google and the global media investment
management company under the WPP Group. This project
signifies the entry of a new era by the OOH industry,
enabling the convergence of the Internet and DOOH,
which also echoes the Group’s promising online and offline
('O&Q’) strategies. The Group believes programmatic
buying is a major future trend and introducing this platform
in Hong Kong is in line with Asiaray’s pursuit of innovation
and development in DOOH as an industry pioneer. This new
programmatic DOOH platform provides a comprehensive
range of services, from booking placement to the launch
of an advertising campaign, with all our outdoor digital
media resources now available for trading. Advertisers can
therefore reach their target audiences directly through
digital media, whether they are indoor or out. For example,
different advertisements can be shown according to
different real-time factors such as weather, stock index and
any other identifiable parameter. This feature has been
successfully employed to meet the needs of advertisers
from different industries, including pharmaceutical, retail,
technology and luxury goods. The platform will further
enhance Asiaray’'s leading position in the market by
attracting and connecting more diversified advertisers to
purchase the Group’s media resources remotely, especially
those keen on using digital media. Going forward, we plan
to add more interactive and customisable elements such
as bidding systems to the platform, as well as secure more
digital media resources in order to expand our network.
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Acquisition of Radius

In August 2018, the Group, by acquiring 51% stake in
Radius, significantly expanded its business coverage
upstream. Incorporated in Hong Kong, Radius is principally
engaged in the provision of signage and urban furniture
design, engineering and consulting work in Hong Kong, the
US and Europe. It has developed several impressive OOH
advertisements, including the world’s first robotic 3D sign
that went up in New York’s Times Square in 2017 featuring
a Coca-Cola ad - a project that Radius played a major part
in its engineering design. By integrating Radius’ engineering
expertise into our OOH advertising solutions and leveraging
the cross-selling opportunities between the two companies,
the Group will be strengthened in terms of having a
more diversified business portfolio, income stream and
client base. Also, more comprehensive and sophisticated
advertisement solutions will be delivered to our clients
thanks to synergies generated between the two companies.

Making our mark on the industry

Aside from celebrating our 25th anniversary, we also
celebrated the winning of numerous accolades as a result of
our innovative “Space Management” model. Such honors
include the “China Advertising Great-wall Award”, which
is a top national advertising competition, and the world-
renowned “Cannes Lions 2017 — Silver” and “Spikes Asia
2017 - Bronze"” awards. In addition to the aforementioned
achievements, the Group won a Bronze Award in the Media
and Communication category of the 2017 Hong Kong
Awards for Environment Excellence (“HKAEE") in May 2018,
and "Outstanding Import & Export Enterprise Awards 2018 —
Innovation Excellence Awards” in October 2018.
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OUTLOOK

Looking ahead, the outlook for the global economy is
expected to be filled with uncertainties as it will be affected
by various issues including the US-China trade war, weaker
prospects for emerging markets, geopolitical tensions,
etc. In Mainland China, economic growth has continued
to slow, with various indicators failing to achieve forecast
targets in 2018. The Hong Kong economy has encountered
similar challenges. The trade war and weakening domestic
demand have added further pressure on the GDP of
Mainland China and Hong Kong. Despite the challenging
environment, the Group, as a market leader with strong
presence and extensive network in the two markets, remains
prudently optimistic about the prospects given the potential
of the OOH market and the competitive advantages it
has established. Apart from being encouraged by our
outperformance in the industry, which has demonstrated
the Group’s ability to weather headwinds, we believe the
difficult operating environment will accelerate consolidation
in the fragmented OOH industry, which will provide a golden
opportunity for industry leaders such as ourselves to gain
greater market share in the future.

With the transportation infrastructure boom along with
various national projects expected to commence in the
coming years, the Group expects large growth opportunities
to the OOH industry. Besides the Greater Bay Area, more
exciting opportunities are emerging in the country brought
by the Belt and Road, as well as the flourishing Yangtze
River Delta area and the Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei region. Our
unique and favorable market standing, including a leading
position in the airport and metro media sectors, combined
with expansive network as well as innovative advertising
solutions backed by the unique “space management”
model, will enable us to seize the opportunities ahead and
pursue our goal of becoming a leading industry player in the
world. Consistent with our goal to build an even stronger
foundation for achieving our objectives, we have secured
several new projects in the past six months, including media
concession rights of Beijing Capital International Airport
and the new Beijing Daxing International Airport, exclusive
concession rights of Wenzhou Metro S1, Beijing Metro Line
14, Hangzhou Metro Line 5, Haikou Meilan International
Airport, Qionghai Bo’ao Airport in Hainan and two national
projects — the High Speed Rail (Hong Kong Section) and
the Hong Kong-Zhuhai-Macao Bridge (Zhuhai-Macao
Port), which further expand the Group’s presence in the
Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay area, Beijing-
Tianjin-Hebei region and the Yangtze River Delta area.
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The Group will continue to optimize the Central Innovation
and Technology Unit (“CTU"), which is involved in
the development of programmatic buying and media
technologies, including data-driven OOH advertising
solutions, to further improve the programmatic buying
experience as well as enhance internal inventory
management. Such efforts are in line with our objective to
offer even more interactive elements, leading to greater
personalized experiences and engagement with a larger
number of customers. Also, the Asiaray 360 platform
(https://360.asiaray.com/en/) has been launched during
the year, and serves as a media management and planning
system through which customers and advertisers are able to
better visualize our inventory of OOH advertising solutions
and their respective costs, as well as request for quotes,
resulting ultimately in more prompt transactions. Going
forward, we will leverage this platform to better manage
our media inventory, capture the interest of advertisers, and
generate greater sales.

In addition to our core businesses, we will continue to
pursue innovation and advancement as well as business
diversification in order to broaden the Group’s revenue
streams and generate synergies with our sales and business
operations. Backed by the acquisition of Radius, we are not
only in a favorable position to extend coverage upstream,
but also have the potential to leverage Radius’ strong
reputation in the European and the US markets to expand
outside the Greater China region when appropriate.

Having celebrated our silver jubilee in 2018, we are proud
to have reached this important juncture and the many
achievements that been made leading up to this point.
This includes the establishment of an extensive network
that stretches across close to 40 major cities in the Greater
China region and Hong Kong. We target to achieve more
milestones in the coming 25 years. Towards this goal, we
will seek to provide the best OOH communication solutions
with the highest return on investment (ROI) in an effective
manner. We are confident in our ability to succeed in view of
our capacity to innovate and adapt, as well as observe the
same founding principles that have enabled us to flourish
over the past 25 years.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2018 increased from approximately HKD1,759.2 million to
approximately HKD1,928.9 million, representing a year-
on-year an increase of 9.6%. The increase was mainly
attributable to the increase in revenue in the metro and
billboards segments partially offset by the decrease in
revenue in airport segment. The combined revenue of the
Group, which includes the consolidated revenue of the
Group and the total revenue of the Group's associated
companies engaged in the media business as an operating
information, reached approximately HKD2,799.7 million,
representing a year-on-year increase of 9.1%.

The metro and billboards segment increased by 36.6% from
approximately HKD713.5 million for the year ended 31
December 2017 to approximately HKD974.9 million in 2018.
This was primarily attributable to the additional revenue
from High Speed Rail (Hong Kong section) and additional
billboards in Hong Kong. Hangzhou metro lines 2 and 4
recorded a significant revenue growth after the ramp-up
period. Tianjin Metro Lines 2 and 3, Shenzhen metro line 3
and 4, Beijing metro line and Hong Kong metro lines also
recorded a strong growth during the year.

The airports segment decreased by 13.7% from
approximately HKD843.5 million for the year ended 31
December 2017 to approximately HKD727.7 million in
2018 mainly due to expired projects on Hangzhou airport.
However, Yunnan group airport, Zhengzhou airport and
Sanya airport contributed a satisfactory result and achieved
a double-digit growth during the year.

The others revenue increased by approximately HKD24.1
million or 11.9%, from approximately HKD202.2 million
for the year ended 31 December 2017 to approximately
HKD226.3 million in 2018, which was primarily attributable
to the increase in our agency business in respect of sales of
advertising spaces in media resources operated by certain
associated companies and other companies.
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During the year, the Group acquired its first ever project
management business. On 30 October 2018, the Group
completed the acquisition of the 51% interests in Radius, a
Hong Kong based company, its principally engaging in the
provision of signage and urban furniture design, engineering
and consulting work. From the acquisition date to the year
end of 2018, Radius contributed approximately HKD3.9
million revenue in two months period. The revenue of Radius
delivered is classified as Others in the segment information.

The following table sets forth a breakdown of the growth
rate of our airports and metro and billboards segments and
the consolidated group revenue for the year:
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Consolidated group revenue 7.8% 9.6%

# defined as revenue generated from the same projects which both

contributed revenue for the year and the corresponding year in 2017

respectively

Cost of Revenue

Our cost of revenue increased by approximately HKD48.2
million, or 3.5%, from approximately HKD1,396.5 million
for the year ended 31 December 2017 to approximately
HKD1,444.7 million in 2018. The increase was primarily
due to (a) the initial cost at Hangzhou metro lines, Zhuhai
airport and High Speed Rail (Hong Kong section); and (b)
the increase of concession fee payable under the concession
rights contract of Shenzhen metro lines which were renewed
in second quarter of 2017 and the first quarter of 2018.
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Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

The gross profit of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2018 increased from approximately HKD362.7
million to approximately HKD484.1 million and the Group'’s
gross profit margin increased from 20.6% in 2017 to 25.1%
in 2018. The increase in gross profit margin was due to:
(1) an increase in gross profit from the airport business
primarily due to the promising revenue growth in a stable
performance delivered by existing airports; (2) an increase
in gross profit contributed by Hong Kong metro and
billboard business and Beijing metro lines due to successful
advertising campaigns.

Selling and Marketing Expenses

Our selling and marketing expenses increased by
approximately HKD28.6 million, or 21.1%, from
approximately HKD135.4 million for the year ended 31
December 2017 to approximately HKD164.0 million in 2018.
This increase was primarily attributable to the increase in
employee benefit expenses, travelling and entertainment
expenses, and set up expenses as a result of the growth and
expansion of our business operations.

Administrative Expenses

Our administrative expenses increased by approximately
HKD35.1 million, or 22.9%, from approximately HKD153.3
million for the year ended 31 December 2017 to
approximately HKD188.4 million in 2018. The increase was
primarily attributable to the increase in employee benefit
expenses, office rental expenses and legal and professional
fee due to expansion of our business operation. In addition,
the increase was also attributable to the increase in
impairment provision for the trade and other receivables,
due to the change of Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standard.

Finance Costs, net

Net finance cost was approximately HKD4.0 million
for the year ended 31 December 2018, compared with
approximately HKD3.5 million in 2017. This was primarily
attributable to the increase in bank borrowings during the
year.
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Share of Results of Investments in Associates

Our share of results of investments in associates for
the year ended 31 December 2018 increased 45.3%
from approximately HKD8.6 million for the year ended
31 December 2017 to approximately HKD12.5 million
in 2018 due to better performance in an associate
company, Shenzhen Airport Asiaray Media Company
Limited (“Shenzhen Airport Asiaray”). During the year, our
Group has formed an associate company, Zhuhai Yueya
Media Company Limited* (ZR/E8 EHEEBR A F]) with
an independent third party to operate the advertising
construction and media under the exclusive concession
rights to the advertising spaces located at Hong Kong-
Zhuhai-Macao Bridge (Macau-Zhuhai Port).

Income Tax Expenses

Our income tax expense increased by approximately HKD7.2
million from approximately HKD19.4 million for the year
ended 31 December 2017 to approximately HKD26.6 million
in 2018. This increase in expense was primarily attributable
to the increase in profit before income tax by approximately
HKD62.7 million.

Earnings before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and
Amortisation (EBITDA)

The EBITDA of the Group increased by approximately
HKD62.5 million, or 46.8%, from approximately HKD133.5
million for the year ended 31 December 2017 to
approximately HKD196.0 million in 2018. The increase was
due to increase in earnings of the Group for the year.

Profit Attributable to Owners of the Company

Profit attributable to owners of the Company was
approximately HKD63.0 million for the year ended 31
December 2018, compared to approximately HKD44.7
million in 2017. The increase in profit was the net effect
of the increase in gross profit of the Group and as fully
explained in the above.

*  For identification purpose only
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FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT AND TREASURY POLICY
The Group adopts a conservative approach for cash
management and investment on funds. The net proceeds
from the listing have mainly been placed on short-term bank
deposits with reputable banks in Hong Kong and the PRC.

As the Group carries out business in the Mainland China
and Hong Kong, most of our receipts and payments were
denominated in Renminbi and Hong Kong dollars. As the
conversion of Renminbi into foreign currencies is subject
to the rules and regulations of foreign exchange control
promulgated by the PRC government, the directors of the
Company consider that there is no significant exposure on
the foreign exchange risk. The Group will closely monitor
foreign exchange exposure and consider hedging significant
exposure should the need arises.

Dividend Policy

The Company endeavours to maintain a balance between
meeting shareholders’ expectations and prudent capital
management with a sustainable dividend policy. The
Company adopts a dividend policy, which is based on
the profit attributable to owners of the Company, and the
distribution amount is up to 100% of the profit attributable
to owners of the Company.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group's cash and cash equivalents, short-term bank
deposits and restricted cash was approximately HKD435.5
million as at 31 December 2018, representing an increase
of approximately HKD33.0 million compared with that as at
31 December 2017. As at 31 December 2018, the financial
ratios of the Group were as follows:

A20185F N2017F

TR ED b M Current ratio ™
BEBELX® Gearing ratio @

(1) RPEENFESTAABRDEERARDEE -

() EAAFELENAEDALEFAMERASES

12A31H 12A31H

As at As at

31 December 31 December

2018 2017

1.36 1.46

FRE FRE

Net cash Net cash

Notes:
(M Current ratio is calculated by dividing current assets by current
liabilities.

(2) Gearing ratio is calculated by dividing net debt by total equity.
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Borrowings

The Group had bank borrowings as at 31 December 2018 in
the sum of approximately HKD269.0 million. Out of the total
borrowings, approximately HKD191.3 million was repayable
within one year, while approximately HKD77.7 million was
repayable after one year. The carrying amounts of bank
borrowings are denominated in Hong Kong dollars and
Renminbi.

No financial instruments were used for hedging purposes,
nor were there any foreign currency net investments hedged
by current borrowings and/or other hedging instruments.
The weighted average interest rate (per annum) was
4.38% for non-current borrowings and 3.89% for current
borrowings as at 31 December 2018.

Exposure to Interest Rate Risk

The Group's interest rate risk arises from interest-bearing
short-term bank deposits and bank borrowings. Short-
term bank deposits and bank borrowings issued at variable
rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. Bank
borrowings at fixed rates expose the Group to fair value
interest rate risk.

The Group's interest rate risks arise primarily from variable
rates bank borrowings. The management manages interest
rate risks and controls such risks within a reasonable level by
closely tracking changes in the macroeconomic environment
and monitoring changes in current and projected interest
rates on a regular basis, taking into account conditions in the
domestic and international markets.

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 December 2018, the Group pledged its buildings
and land use rights with carrying amount of approximately
HKD24.1 million (31 December 2017: approximately
HKD34.9 million), respectively to secure borrowings of the
Group. The total secured borrowings as at 31 December
2018 amounted to approximately HKD4.3 million (31
December 2017: approximately HKD5.7 million).
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Net proceeds
raised

(#4)

Tén
(approximately)
HKD'000

2700 -RLELES
(MEELRER

ETRRERE)

General working capital
(Improvement of advertising
fixtures and office renovation)

~RegEe General working capital
(FIRERFEMA)  (Newrecruitment and salary costs)

—Regie General working capital
(ROEERFEER)  (Bank charges and interest expenses)

Fund raising activities and Use of Proceeds
Subscription of perpetual subordinated convertible
securities under general mandate

On 7 September 2017, the Company entered into
the subscription agreement which the Company has
conditionally agreed to issue the perpetual subordinated
convertible securities (the "PSCS”) in the principal amount
of HKD50,000,000 convertible into conversion shares at the
initial conversion price of HKD3.54 per conversion share
under general mandate. The intended use of proceeds
was disclosed in the circular issued by the Company dated
30 November 2017. The issuance of PSCS in the principal
amount of HKD30,000,000 was completed on 28 December
2017. The net proceeds of approximately HKD29,700,000
was received. As at 31 December 2018, PSCS in the principal
amount of HKD30,000,000 has not been converted into
conversion shares.

The use of proceeds was as follows:

As at 31 December 2018

FifcE e ERXER FRRERA
FEN Framan REZARE
RERR  ERERGE RARER NEBREA
Whether
the proceeds
Expected are to be used
timeframe for according to
application of the intention
Intended use of Actual Unutilized  the unutilized previously
the net proceeds used amount amount  proceeds disclosed
(#4) (#4) (#4)
TR TR TR
(approximately)  (approximately)  (approximately)
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000
15,000 15,000 Nil  N/A Yes
(used as intended) B @R 3
(RHERERR)
10,000 10,000 Nil - N/A Yes
(used as intended) - o 3
(RHERERR)
4,700 4,700 Nil  N/A Yes
(used as intended) B @R 3
(BHEREER)
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Capital Expenditures

Our capital expenditures primarily comprise cash
expenditures for property, plant and equipment, such as
advertising facilities and furniture and office equipment. Our
capital expenditures for the year ended 31 December 2018
and 2017 were approximately HKD60.6 million and HKD27.2
million, respectively.

Commitments
(1) As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Group did not
have any material capital commitments.

(2) Operating leases commitments

The Group leases certain office buildings and certain
media resources under non-cancellable operating
lease agreements. The lease terms for office buildings
are negotiated for terms ranging from 1 to 10 years,
and those for media resources are negotiated for
terms ranging from 1 to 10 years, and majority of lease
agreements are renewable at the end of the lease
period at market rate.

The Group’s future aggregate minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable operating leases are
as follows:

R20185F M20174
12A31H 12H31H
As at As at

31 December 31 December
2018 2017

FTET FET
HKD’000 HKD’000

TER—F
BN —FETERES

Not later than 1 year 794,710 887,656
Later than 1 year and

not later than 5 years 1,586,818 2,046,838
BRAF Later than 5 years 626,906 756,139
3,008,434 3,690,633

RARAE
BB RadiusEENEM K ABEN - B
2018F12A31H  AEEBWEERNKARE

&

HERREE

REFEHRE [MEPRERIMEEESIN
R20185F12A310 2% » WWHEAEMEAKN
EH-
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Contingent liabilities

Other than the contingent liabilities payable arising from the
acquisition of Radius, the Group had no material contingent
liabilities outstanding as at 31 December 2018.

Subsequent events

Saved as disclosed in the “Events After the Reporting
Period” of the Report of the Directors, there is no material
events subsequent to 31 December 2018.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Lam Tak Hing, Vincent, aged 59

Executive Director, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Mr. Lam Tak Hing, Vincent (“Mr. Lam”) was appointed as the
Director on 20 May 2014 and designated as the executive
Director and Chairman on 12 June 2014 and serves as the
Chief Executive Officer of the Company. Mr. Lam is the
founder of the Group and is responsible for the overall
strategic planning and development of the Group. He is also
a director of certain members of the Group.

Mr. Lam graduated from the University of Sydney with a
Bachelor of Science Honours degree in March 1984 and
subsequently obtained a Master’s degree in Commerce from
the University of New South Wales (“UNSW") in Australia in
April 1987. Mr. Lam is also a member and a director of the
UNSW Hong Kong Foundation Board. He has been a fellow
of the CPA Australia. In addition, Mr. Lam is a director of
the Christian Action. He was also re-appointed as a panel
member of the Administrative Appeals Board for a term of
three years with effect from 15 July 2018.

Lam Ka Po, aged 45

Executive Director and Chief Operation Officer

Mr. Lam Ka Po (“Mr. K. P. Lam”) was appointed as the
Director on 20 May 2014 and designated as the executive
Director of the Company on 12 June 2014. Mr. K. P. Lam
is also the Chief Operation Officer of the Company. He
joined the Company in December 2007 and is responsible
for the overall operations in Hong Kong and marketing
management of the Group. He is also a director of certain
members of the Group.

Mr. K. P. Lam worked for Euro RSCG Partnership Ltd., an
advertising agency under the Association of Accredited
Advertising Agencies of Hong Kong (“HK4As"), as the senior
media planner from 1996 to 1998. He then worked as the
media supervisor and media manager of Motivator, a HK4As
advertising agency, from 1999 to 2002. He was the media
manager of Zenith, a HK4As advertising agency from 2003 to
2004. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. K. P. Lam acted as
the associate business director of OMD, a HK4As advertising
agency, from 2004 to 2007.

Mr. K. P. Lam graduated from the Chinese University of
Hong Kong with a Bachelor of Business Administration
degree in Integrated BBA (Marketing concentration) in April
1996.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Wong Chi Kin, aged 45

Mr. Wong Chi Kin (“Mr. Wong”) was appointed as the non-
executive Director of the Company on 24 March 2017. Mr.
Wong has over 20 years of accounting, banking and finance
experience with commercial banks and investment banks
(including ING Bank, UBS and Morgan Stanley) as well as
various listed companies in Hong Kong and the UK.

Mr. Wong obtained a Bachelor of Science (Honours) degree
in Finance from The City University of Hong Kong in
December 1996, a Certificate in Consecutive Interpretation:
Putonghua/English from The School of Professional and
Continuing Education of The University of Hong Kong in
March 2001, a Master’s degree in Practising Accounting
from The Monash University, Australia in November 2001,
and a Master of Business Administration degree (Executive
MBA Programme) from The Chinese University of Hong
Kong in December 2010 (Dean'’s list: 2009/2010). Mr. Wong
is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, a fellow member of CPA Australia and
an associate member of Hong Kong Institute of Directors.

Mr. Wong was the chief financial officer of Orient Victory
Travel Group Company Limited (formerly known as Orient
Victory China Holdings Limited) (Stock Code: 265) during
the period from October 2014 to October 2018. Prior to
joining Orient Victory China Holdings Limited, Mr. Wong
held various positions at China Qinfa Group Limited (Stock
Code: 866) including (i) deputy chief financial officer (from
April 2011 to September 2011); (ii) chief financial officer
(from September 2011 to October 2014); and company
secretary and authorised representative (from July 2011 to
August 2014). Moreover, Mr. Wong was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of Tsui Wah Holdings
Limited (“Tsui Wah") (Stock Code: 1314) on 5 November
2012 and was re-designated to non-executive director of
Tsui Wah on 1 November 2016.

On 9 July 2018, Mr. Wong was appointed as an independent
non-executive director and the chairman of the independent
board committee of Shenzhou Space Park Group Limited
(formerly known as China Household Holdings Limited)
(Stock Code: 692) (“Shenzhou Space”) mainly responsible
for providing independent advice to Shenzhou Space on
resumption proposal. At the request of the Securities and
Futures Commission, all dealings in the shares of Shenzhou
Space have been suspended since 17 July 2017. Moreover,
on 13 December 2018, a creditor’s winding-up petition was
presented at the High Court of Hong Kong against Shenzhou
Space. For details of the winding-up petition, please refer to
the announcements of Shenzhou Space dated 21 December
2018 and 13 February 2019.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung, aged 77

Mr. Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung ("Mr. A. Ma") was appointed
as the Director on 20 May 2014 and designated as the
independent non-executive Director of the Company on 12
June 2014.

Mr. A. Ma is a founder and former director of AMA
CPA Limited (formerly known as Andrew Ma DFK (CPA)
Limited) in Hong Kong. He is presently a director of Mayee
Management Limited. He has more than 40 years of
experience in the fields of accounting, auditing and finance.

Mr. A. Ma is currently also an independent non-executive
director of Asia Financial Holdings Limited (stock code: 662),
C. P. Pokphand Co. Ltd. (stock code: 43), China Resources
Power Holdings Company Limited (stock code: 836) and
Chong Hing Bank Ltd. (stock code: 1111) and C-MER
Eye Care Holdings Limited (stock code: 3309). He was an
independent non-executive director of Southwest Securities
International Securities Limited (formerly known as Tanrich
Financial Holdings Limited) (stock code: 812) from April 2005
to January 2015.

Mr. A. Ma received his Bachelor's degree in Economics
from the London School of Economics and Political Science
(University of London) in England in 1966. He is a fellow
member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in
England and Wales, the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, The Hong Kong Institute of Directors
and The Taxation Institute of Hong Kong.
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Ma Ho Fai GBS JP, aged 67

Mr. Ma Ho Fai (“Mr. Ma”) was appointed as the Director
on 20 May 2014 and designated as the independent non-
executive Director of the Company on 12 June 2014.

Mr. Ma is a senior partner of Woo Kwan Lee & Lo, a local law
firm in Hong Kong, and was admitted as a solicitor in Hong
Kong in 1984, England and Wales in 1987, Australian Capital
Territory in 1988 and the Republic of Singapore in 1990. Mr.
Ma has been appointed by the Ministry of Justice as a China-
Appointed Attesting Officer since 2000 and a Civil Celebrant
since 2006. He has also been appointed by the Government
of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region as the
chairman of Home Purchase Allowance Appeals Committee
Panel since 2014 and the chairman of the Protection of
Wages on Insolvency Fund Board since 2018. In addition,
he is a Deputy of the 11th, 12th and 13th National People’s
Congress of the PRC. In recognition of his distinguished
public and community service, Mr. Ma was appointed as a
Non-Official Justice of the Peace in 2005 by the Government
of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region and was
awarded the Gold Bauhinia Star in June 2017. Mr. Ma was
also appointed as a non-executive director of the Insurance
Authority in 2015. He is currently an independent non-
executive director of Goldbond Group Holdings Limited
(stock code: 172).
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Mak Ka Ling, aged 49

Ms. Mak Ka Ling (“Ms. Mak”) was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director of the Company on 5
May 2017.

Ms. Mak has over 20 years of experience in human resources
and organization effectiveness consulting. She had worked
at Korn Ferry Hay Group ('"Hay Group”), which is the global
people and organizational advisory division of Korn Ferry
International, a company listed on the New York Stock
Exchange (NYSE: KFY), for the last 13 years. Ms. Mak was
an associate director and an associate client partner of Hay
Group from December 2014 to May 2016 and May 2016 to
April 2017, respectively. During her tenure at Hay Group,
she advised boards on market best practices on human
capital related issues; and worked with organizations to help
clarify strategy priorities, develop people and organization
transformation solutions and consulted on human resources
implementation plans to support organization changes.

Ms. Mak started her career as an executive management
trainee of Jardine, Matheson & Co., Limited (the ""Jardine
Matheson’’), a subsidiary of Jardine Matheson Holdings
Limited listed on the Singapore Stock Exchange (SGX:
J36), in September 1993. During her employment with
Jardine Matheson until February 2002, Ms. Mak held various
managerial positions, including working as a business unit
head at the subsidiaries of Jardine Matheson as well as a
human resources management leader in the head office of
Jardine Matheson.

Ms. Mak obtained a Bachelor of Science (Joint Honours)
degree in Computer Science and Accounting from the
University of Manchester in July 1992, a Master of Business
Administration degree from the business school of Imperial
College, University of London in November 1993. She is an
associate member of The Hong Kong Institute of Directors.
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The board of directors of the Company (“Board”) is committed
to uphold a high standard of corporate governance practices
appropriate to the conduct and growth in its business in
accordance with all applicable rules and regulations. The
Board believes that good corporate governance is important
in balancing the interests of shareholders, customers and
employees and the success of business.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has adopted the principles and code provisions
set out in the Corporate Governance Code (“CG Code”)
contained in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“Listing Rules”). Throughout the year, the Company has
complied with the CG Code except for deviations from code
provisions A.2.1 and A.6.7. The deviation from code provision
A.2.1 of the CG Code is explained in the paragraph headed
“Chairman and Chief Executive” of this annual report.

Under code provision A.6.7 of the CG Code, independent
non-executive directors should attend general meeting of
the Company and develop a balanced understanding of
shareholders’ view. Due to other business engagement, an
independent non-executive Director was unable to attend
the general meetings of the Company.

THE BOARD

Responsibilities

The Board is mainly responsible for formulating the Group's
long term strategy and development plan, deciding major
financial and capital project and reviewing internal control
and risks.

The Board delegates aspects of its management and
administration functions to the management for implementing
day-to-day operation. It has given clear directions to the
management as to its powers, in particular, with respect to
different circumstances. While allowing management to enjoy
substantial autonomy to run and develop the Company’s
business, the Board also plays a key role in structuring and
monitoring the reporting systems and internal controls.
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Composition
The Board currently comprises six directors (“Directors”), the
composition is set out as follow:

Executive Directors:
Lam Tak Hing, Vincent (Chairman)
Lam Ka Po

Non-Executive Director:
Wong Chi Kin

Independent Non-Executive Directors:
Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung

Ma Ho Fai GBS JP

Mak Ka Ling

The biographical details of Directors are set out on pages 37
to 41 of this annual report. There is no relationship (including
financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationship(s)) among the Directors.

Throughout the year and up to the date of this report, the
Company has had three independent non-executive Directors,
representing more than one-third of the Board, with one
independent non-executive Director possessing appropriate
professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial
management expertise. The Company has received annual
confirmation in writing of independence from each of the
independent non-executive Directors and considers them to be
independent according to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Under the Company's articles of association, the Board
may from time to time appoint a Director either to fill a
casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board. Any such new
Director shall hold office until the next following general
meeting of the Company after his/her appointment and shall
then be eligible for re-election at the same meeting.

All non-executive directors (including independent non-
executive directors) are appointed for a specific term of
one year and all directors (including independent non-
executive directors) are subject to retirement by rotation at
least once every three years and are subject to re-election in
accordance with the Company'’s articles of association.
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Chairman and Chief Executive

Under the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should
not be performed by the same individual. The division of
responsibilities between the chairman and chief executive
officer should be clearly established.

Mr. Lam Tak Hing, Vincent currently assumes the roles of
both Chairman and chief executive officer (the "CEQ") of
the Company. The Board considers that this structure could
enhance efficiency in formulation and implementation of
the Company’s strategies. The Board will review the need
of appointing suitable candidate to assume the role of CEO
when necessary.

Board Diversity

The Company adopted a board diversity policy which set out
its approach to achieve diversity on the Board with a view
to achieving a sustainable and balanced development of the
Company.

The Company seeks to achieve board diversity through
the consideration of a number of factors, including but
not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. The Company will also
take into account factors based on its own business model
and specific needs from time to time. The ultimate decision
will be based on merit and contribution that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board. The Company has
considered board diversity policy in designing composition
of the Board.
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Name of Directors

YTEE Executive Directors

MWEE Lam Tak Hing, Vincent

MRE Lam Ka Po

FUTES Non-Executive Director

B Wong Chi Kin

BUEHTES Independent Non-
Executive Directors

SiRE Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung

B51E GBS JP Ma Ho Fai GBS JP

EER Mak Ka Ling

Board Meetings

During the year under review, the Board held five meetings
to review Group's overall strategies and policies, to approve
interim/final results, to discuss significant issues and
operation of the Group. The attendance (either in person or
through other electronic means of communication) record
of each director at the meetings of the Board, the Audit
Committee, the Nomination Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and general meetings during the year ended 31
December 2018 is set out below:

HE/ BTERIAY
Number of meetings attended/held
- EHEI = REZES FHMEEE RREFAE

Annual
Audit Nomination Remuneration General
Board Committee Committee Committee Meeting

5/5 TER A 1”n 11
N/A

5/5 TER TER TaR 11
N/A N/A N/A

5/5 TER TER TaRs 11
N/A N/A N/A

5/5 3/3 TER 17 11

N/A
4/5 3/3 11 il 1”1
5/5 3/3 11 il 0/1
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Name of Directors

Directors’ Continuous Professional Development

A comprehensive, formal and tailored induction training will
be given to every newly appointed Director, if any. Directors
will be provided with materials relevant to the Company’s
business and director’s duties and responsibilities. In
addition, in order to allow the Directors to understand the
latest development of regulatory and compliance issues, they
are also provided with market news and regulatory updates. A
summary of their records of continuous development training
during the year ended 31 December 2018 is as follows:

el
e BE 'R
REESEER
BRZEREH
Attending trainings/

briefings/seminars/
conference/

reading regulatory
updates relevant to
corporate governance

HITES Executive Directors
NG Lam Tak Hing, Vincent N
MRE Lam Ka Po N
FHITES Non-Executive Director
BEE Wong Chi Kin N
BYEHTES Independent Non-Executive Directors
T RRAE Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung V
S5 GBS JP Ma Ho Fai GBS JP v
£ Mak Ka Ling N
EEEe%8e BOARD COMMITTEES
EEgEXRV T =—BEEE  ARFZE

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee. The table below provides membership information
of these committees on which each Director serves.

EERZEY
Board Committees
EZES BREZER FHEER
Audit Nomination Remuneration
Name of Directors Committee Committee Committee
MIE R Lam Tak Hing, Vincent I3 C M
N/A
SRR Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung C AN B M
N/A
B IEGBS JP Ma Ho Fai GBS JP M M C
BEEe Mak Ka Ling M M M
Hist - Notes:
C HHREESZRESER C Chairman of the relevant Board Committees
M HBREEeZEeKE M Member of the relevant Board Committees
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established on 6 December 2014
and currently comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung, Ma Ho Fai GBS
JP, and Mak Ka Ling.

The principal duties of the Audit Committee include (1) to
review the Company’s financial statements and reports,
the changes in accounting policies and practices, and the
compliance with applicable accounting standards, the Listing
Rules and legal requirements; (2) to oversee the Group's
financial reporting system, risk management and internal
control systems; and (3) to review the services and appointment
of the Company’s external auditor, the nature and scope of
auditing, and the related audit fees. The terms of reference of
Audit Committee are available on the Company’s website.

The Audit Committee held three meetings during the year
under review. During the meetings, the Audit Committee
(i) reviewed the interim and annual financial statements and
reports; (ii) discussed and reviewed the risk management
and internal control systems; (iii) reviewed the corporate
governance issues; (iv) reviewed the continuing connected
transactions; and (v) made recommendation to the Board on
the re-appointment of the external auditor.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established on 6 December
2014 and currently comprises two independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Ma Ho Fai GBS Jp and Mak Ka Ling and one
executive Director, namely, Lam Tak Hing, Vincent.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include
(1) to review the structure, size, composition and diversity
of the Board at least annually and make recommendations
on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the
Company’s corporate strategy; (2) to report to the Board
the composition of the Board members and monitor the
implementation of the policy on board diversity; (3) to
identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the Board
on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships;
(4) to assess the independence of independent non-
executive Director; and (5) to make recommendations to the
Board on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors
and succession planning for Directors, in particular the
chairman and the chief executive of the Company. The terms
of reference of Nomination Committee are available on the
Company'’s website.
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Nomination Committee held one meeting during the year
under review. During the meeting, Nomination Committee
(i) reviewed the structure, size, composition and diversity of
the Board; (ii) reviewed the independence of independent
non-executive directors; (iii) made recommendations to the
Board on the proposed re-election of the retiring Directors
at the forthcoming annual general meeting; and (iv) made
recommendation to the Board on the appointment of
Director.

The Board adopted a Board Diversity Policy on 6 December
2014 which sets out the approach to achieve diversity of the
Board.

Under the Policy, the Company recognises and embraces
the benefits of having a diverse Board to enhance the quality
of its performance.

In designing the Board’s composition, Board diversity
has been considered from a number of aspects, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. All Board appointments
will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be
considered against objective criteria, having due regard for
the benefits of diversity on the Board.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The
ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution
that the selected candidates will bring to the Board.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established on 6
December 2014 and currently comprises three independent
non-executive Directors, namely, Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung,
Ma Ho Fai GBs Jp and Mak Ka Ling and one executive
Director, namely, Lam Tak Hing, Vincent.

The principal duties of the Remuneration Committee
include (1) to make recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policy and structure for all Directors’ and senior
management’s remuneration and on the establishment
of a formal and transparent procedure for developing
remuneration policy; (2) to review and approve the
management’s remuneration proposals with reference to
the Board’s corporate goals and objectives; (3) to make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management; and (4) to make recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration of non-executive Directors. The
terms of reference of Remuneration Committee are available
on the Company’s website.

Remuneration Committee held one meeting during the year
under review. During the meeting, Remuneration Committee
reviewed and made recommendations on the remuneration
packages of the Directors and senior management.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements
of the Company in accordance with the Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards. The Directors confirm that
suitable accounting policies have been used and applied
consistently, and reasonable and prudent judgment and
estimates have been made in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements. The Board is not aware
of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions
that may affect the business of the Company or cast doubts
on its ability to continue as a going concern.

The external auditor of the Company, PricewaterhouseCoopers,

acknowledge their reporting responsibilities in the independent
auditors’ report on pages 79 to 88.
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Risk Management and Internal Control

Responsibility of the Board

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to establish,
maintain, and review the effectiveness of the Group's
risk management and internal control systems, where
management is responsible for the design and
implementation of the risk management and internal control
systems to manage risk.

A sound and effective system of risk management and
internal control is designed to achieve the Group's strategic
objectives and safeguard shareholder investments and
the Group’s assets. Such systems are designed to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve strategic
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

Risk Management and Internal Control Framework

The Board has the overall responsibilities of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group.
With the support from the Audit Committee, the Board
monitors the Group's risk exposures, oversees the actions
of management and monitors the overall effectiveness of
the risk management and internal control systems on an
ongoing basis. Management is responsible for setting the
appropriate tone from the top, performing risk assessments,
and owning the design, implementation and maintenance of
internal control. Policies and procedures form the basis and
set forth the control standards required for functioning of
the Group's business entities. These policies and procedures
covered various aspects, including operations, finance &
accounting, human resources, regulatory & compliance,
delegation of authority, etc.

Risk Management and Enterprise-wide Risk Assessment

2, R BREELS 4. BFRERE

H é R
Risk Assessment . HERBIHEREL TEL
= Bk,
RES IR T EEEY o HEEBEER - THM %gﬁﬁ\%fﬁﬁiﬁgl‘%%g .
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following categories: * Design risk assessment :sg alss?sq [Iolrzcesesyonvjners
business & strategic, questionnaire to or business units to
operational, and - understand and assess
regulatory compliance. the risk level of each key
risk and whether the
Group's existing
procedures and controls
are adequate.

\ J
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5 EmE(E - KEE Risk Report
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Report to the Board and
senior management on
the implementation of the
remedial measures.

implement relevant
remedial measures.

BOERUTTMAELEE -

Follow-up on the
implementation status of
these remedial measures.
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Risk Response
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Risk Identification
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An annual enterprise-wide risk assessment has been
performed to evaluate the nature and extent of the risks to
which the Group is willing to take in achieving its strategic
objectives. During the risk assessment process, the Group
has identified a number of key risks that may impact the
Group's strategic objectives in responding to the changes
in the business and external environment. These risks are
prioritized according to the likelihood of their occurrence
and the significance of their impact on the business of
the Group. Moreover, remedial measures and mitigating
controls are developed to manage these risks to an
acceptable level.

Internal Audit

The Internal Audit Department is led by the Internal Audit
Manager, who reports directly to the Audit Committee.
The Internal Audit Department is primarily responsible for
conducting internal audit reviews on operational, financial
and compliance controls of the operating entities to ensure
their compliance with the Group’s risk management and
internal control policies and procedures.

Internal Audit Department is independent from operation
management and has full access to data required in
performing internal audit reviews. Audits are conducted
according to the three-year internal audit plan approved
by the Audit Committee to review our major operational,
financial, compliance and risk management controls. In
2018, Internal Audit Department performed audits on the
key operating entities located in China and Hong Kong.

During the process of the internal audits, the Internal
Audit Department identified internal control deficiencies
and weaknesses and proposed recommendations for
improvements. Internal audit findings and control
deficiencies are communicated to internal audit team and
the management, who is responsible for ensuring the
deficiencies are rectified within a reasonable period. A
follow-up review is also performed to ensure the remedial
actions are implemented.

Review of Risk Management and Internal Control
Systems

The Board is responsible for maintaining an adequate risk
management and internal control systems to safeguard
shareholder investments and Group assets and with the
support of the Audit Committee, reviewing the effectiveness
of such systems on an annual basis.
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Key or major business units are required to perform an
annual control self-assessment to assess the effectiveness
of their internal control system within its key business
processes. The control self-assessment performed is in
the form of a questionnaire that sets out the key risks and
corresponding controls for each of key business process. The
Internal Audit Department reviews the completed control
self-assessment questionnaires and provide comments and
recommendations for management of the business units’
consideration.

During the year, the Board has conducted a review of the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group and considered the risk management
and internal control systems effective and adequate. In
addition, the Board has reviewed and is satisfied with the
adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of
staff of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting functions, and their training programmes and
budget.

Procedures and Controls Over Handling and Dissemination
of Inside Information

The Company is aware of its obligation under relevant
sections of the Securities and Futures Ordinance and
Listing Rules. An Inside Information Disclosure Policy
has been established to lay down practical guidelines on
definition and the scope of inside information; disclosure
and management framework; exemptions for disclosure;
receiving, reporting and disclosing of inside information;
confidentiality and records of such information. Pursuant
to the Inside Information Disclosure Policy, staff who have
access to inside information are required to follow the Inside
Information Disclosure Policy to keep the unpublished inside
information strictly confidential until such inside information
has been officially announced to the public in accordance
with the requirements of the Listing Rules. The Board will
review and approve the inside information to be disclosed
and the Company Secretary has the responsibility to monitor
and communicate with professional parties such as our
external lawyer and auditor during the process of inside
information discussion and announcement preparation.
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EXTERNAL AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the fee payable to the
external auditor of the Company, PricewaterhouseCoopers, in
respect of audit and non-audit services is set out below:

20184
2018

FET
HKD'000

Audit Services: 3,663
Non-Audit Services 1,652

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the code of
conduct regarding securities transactions by the Directors.
The Company has made specific enquiry of all Directors and
that all the Directors confirmed their compliance with the
required standard set out in the Model Code.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Ip Pui Sum (“Mr. Ip"”), the Company Secretary, is an
external service provider to the Company and a Certified
Public Accountant practicing in Hong Kong. Mr. Ip’s primary
contact person at the Company is Mr. Lam Ka Po, the
Executive Director of the Company. During the year, Mr.
lp has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training to update his skills and knowledge. The Company
Secretary reports to the Board on corporate governance
matters and is responsible for ensuring that Board
procedures and all applicable law, rules and regulations are
followed. All Board members have access to the advice and
services of Company Secretary.
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company actively promotes effective communications
with shareholders and investors through the publication
of notices, announcements, circulars, interim and annual
reports on a timely manner via the websites of the Company
and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

The Board encourages shareholders to attend general
meetings to communicate any concerns they might have
with the Board or management directly. The Company has
also maintained a shareholders’ communication policy,
details of which are available on the Company’s website
under Corporate Governance section.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company endeavours to maintain a balance between
meeting shareholders’ expectations and prudent capital
management with a sustainable dividend policy. The
Company adopts a dividend policy, which is based on
the profit attributable to owners of the Company, and the
distribution amount is up to 100% of the profit attributable
to owners of the Company.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT

Convene an Extraordinary General Meeting by
Shareholders

Pursuant to Article 12.3 of the Company’s articles of
association, general meetings shall be convened on the
written requisition of any two or more members of the
Company deposited at the principal place of business
of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event that
the Company ceases to have such a principal place of
business, the registered office specifying the objects of the
meeting and signed by the requisitionists, provided that
such requisitionists held as at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of
the Company which carries the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company.
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If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit
of the requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting,
the requisitionists themselves or any of them representing
more than one-half of the total voting rights of all of them,
may convene the extraordinary general meeting in the same
manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings
may be convened by the Board provided that any meeting
so convened shall not be held after the expiration of three
months from the date of deposit of the requisition, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionists as a
result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to them
by the Company.

Put Forward Proposals at General Meetings

There are no provisions in the Company’s articles of
association or the Cayman Islands Companies Law for
shareholders to move new resolutions at general meetings.
Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may request the
Company to convene a general meeting in accordance with
the procedures set out in the preceding paragraph.

As regards proposing a person for election as a director of
the Company, please refer to the procedures posted on the
Company'’s website.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board
Shareholders may at any time put forward any enquiries to
the Board of the Company, details are as follow:

Address: 16/F, Kornhill Plaza — Office Tower, 1 Kornhill Road,
Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

Email: ir@asiaray.com

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
During the year, the Company has not made any changes to
its articles of association.
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The board of directors of the Company (“Board”) have
pleasure in presenting their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
principal activities of the Company’s principal subsidiaries
are set out in the financial statements on page 96.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2018 are set out in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income on page 91.

The Board has recommended a final dividend of HKD0.025
(2017: HKDO.10) per share for the year ended 31 December
2018 payable on or around Tuesday, 30 July 2019 to the
shareholders of the Company (“Shareholders”) whose names
appear on the register of members of the Company on Friday,
12 July 2019.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2018 is set out in the “Chairman’s Statement”,
and “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 17 to
21 and pages 22 to 36 respectively of this annual report.

The Group has complied with the relevant laws and
regulations that have significant impact on the Group, which
are provided in the “Corporate Governance Report” on
pages 42 to 55 of this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE
For the year ended 31 December 2018, no environmental
exceedances were recorded and there was no non-
compliance in relation to environmental and social aspects.
Given the business nature, the Group recognizes its daily
operation has an impact to the environment. The Group is
highly committed to make continuous efforts on efficient
use of natural resources, promotion of energy conservation
in its operations and offices, as well as minimization of its
overall emissions on the environment. Engagement with
stakeholders has resulted in raised concerns on key material
issues, which include: Employment, Occupational Health and
Safety, Development and Training, Consumer Data Protection
and Customer Service. The Group will continue to identify
areas of improvement for the concerned aspects and keep
close communication with its stakeholders for advancing
environmental, social and governance management.
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The Company will separately publish the Environmental,
Social and Governance Report for the year ended 31
December 2018 in compliance with Appendix 27 of the
Listing Rules in due course.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements of the share capital of the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2018 are set out in
Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 246
of this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
As at 31 December 2018, the Company’s reserves available
for distribution amounted to approximately HKD482.9
million (2017: HKD582.2 million).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group’s top
five largest customers accounted for 7.0% (2017: 9.3%) of
our revenues and the single largest customer accounted
for 2.0% (2017: 2.5%) of our revenues. The Group's top five
suppliers, who were the media resources owners, accounted
for 48.7% (2017: 52.3%) of our cost of revenue and the single
largest supplier accounted for 14.4% (2017: 14.7%) of our
cost of revenue.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, their close
associates or any shareholder (which to the knowledge of
the Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s share
capital) has any interest in the Group's five largest customers
and suppliers.

DIRECTORS
The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the
date of this annual report are:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Lam Tak Hing, Vincent (Chairman & Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Lam Ka Po (Chief Operations Officer)

Non-Executive Director:
Mr. Wong Chi Kin
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Independent Non-Executive Directors:
Mr. Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung

Mr. Ma Ho Fai GBS JP

Ms. Mak Ka Ling

Pursuant to Article 16 of the Company’s articles of
association, one-third of the Directors are subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election at least once every
three years at the annual general meeting ("AGM") of the
Company.

Mr. Wong Chi Kin and Ms. Mak Ka Ling shall retire by
rotation at the forthcoming AGM and, Mr. Wong Chi Kin
and Ms. Mak Ka Ling, who are being eligible and offer
themselves for re-election at AGM.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

As at 31 December 2018, none of the Directors proposed for
re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a
service contract with the Company which is not determinable
by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the Group is set on the basis
of the employees’ merit, qualifications and competence.
The emoluments of the Directors and senior management
are reviewed by the remuneration committee, with
consideration to the Group's operation results and individual
performance. The Company has adopted a share option
scheme to the eligible persons as an incentives or rewards
for their contribution to the Group, details of which are set
out in the paragraph headed “Share Option Scheme” of this
annual report.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Company's articles of association, every
Director shall be entitled to be indemnified out of assets
of the Company against all losses or liabilities incurred
or sustained by him about the execution of the duties of
his office or otherwise in relation thereto. The Company
has arranged appropriate Directors’ and Officers’ liability
insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of the
Group.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Share Option Scheme

The fair values of share options issued are measured on the
grant date based on the fair value of the underlying shares.
The valuation of the fair values of share options issued
mainly involves management judgments and estimates
about significant inputs subject to volatility, dividend yield,
annual risk-free interest rate etc. Changes in these estimates
and assumptions could have a material effect on the
determination of the fair value of the share options, which
may in turn impact the determination of the share options
expenses. Details of the share option scheme have been set
out on pages 64 to 68 of this annual report.

Perpetual Subordinated Convertible Securities ("PSCS")
On 7 September 2017, the Company and Space
Management Limited (“Space Management”), a company
incorporated under the laws of the British Virgin Islands,
being a controlling shareholder of the Company holding
15.04% of the existing issued share capital of the Company
at that time entered into the subscription agreement in
relation to the subscription of PSCS in the principal amount
of HKD50,000,000 convertible into conversion shares at the
initial conversion Price of HKD3.54 per conversion share
(subject to adjustments) in two tranches at the face value
of HKD30,000,000 and HKD20,000,000 respectively (the
“Subscription Agreement”).

On 10 November 2017, the Company and Space
Management entered into the supplemental agreement,
pursuant to which the Company and Space Management
agreed to amend certain terms of the subscription
agreement which include, among others, amendments, to
the material effects that the call for Space Management
to subscribe for the second tranche of the PSCS shall be
subject to the independent shareholders’ approval (the
“Supplemental Agreement”). The subscription of the first
tranche of PSCS was completed on 28 December 2017. As
at 31 December 2018, no subscription right attached to
the first tranche of PSCS was exercised and the PSCS in the
principal amount of HKD30,000,000 was outstanding.
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Mr. Lam is the sole shareholder of Space Management Limited (“Space
Management”). Space Management holds interest in 74,674,576
Shares with 66,200,000 shares in actual Shares and conversion rights
of 8,474,576 Shares pursuant to the completion of the first tranche of
subscription of PSCS under the Subscription Agreement supplemented
by the Supplemental Agreement. The conversion rights of further
5,649,717 Shares from the subscription of the second tranche of PSCS
shall be subject to the independent shareholders approval. In addition,
Mr. Lam is the founder of the Shalom Trust (a discretionary trust
established by Mr. Lam as settlor of which UBS Trustee (BVI) Limited
acts as the trustee and beneficiaries of which are Mr. Lam, certain of
his family members and other persons who may be added from time
to time) which indirectly holds the entire issued share capital of Media
Cornerstone Limited (“Media Cornerstone”) which holds 254,921,500
Shares. By virtue of the SFO, he is deemed to be interested in the
Shares in which Space Management and Media Cornerstone are

interested.

Details of the above PSCS issue are set out in Note 20 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Non-listed Warrants

On 10 October 2016, the Company entered into a strategic
alliance agreement (the “Strategic Alliance Agreement”)
with Great World HK Media Pte. Ltd. ("Great World HK") to
enhance the business collaboration between the Company
and L Catterton Management Limited, a private equity
firm formed by LVMH Moét Hennessy Louis Vuitton S.A.,
Catterton Holdings, L.L.C. and Groupe Arnault SAS. On the
same day, the Company and Great World HK entered into
a subscription agreement (as amended and supplemented
by a supplemental agreement dated 13 October 2016)
in relation to the allotment of 10,000,000 warrants at an
issue price of HKDO0.3 per warrant to Great World HK for
an initial warrant exercise price of HKD4.10 per warrant
share for a subscription period of 3 years commencing
from 29 December 2016. The aggregate warrant issue
price in the amount of HKD3,000,000 was regarded as the
consideration in the amount of HKD3,000,000 payable by
the Company to Great World HK under the Strategic Alliance
Agreement. The subscription agreement and the creation
and issue of 10,000,000 warrants were approved by the
Shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting of the
Company held on 22 December 2016. As at 31 December
2018, the outstanding non-listed warrants were 10,000,000
warrants and in which the subscription rights had not been
exercised. On 24 January 2018, Great World HK transfer the
10,000,000 warrants to Space Management.

The then Directors were of the view that the said issuance
of non-listed warrants represented a good opportunity to
raise additional funding for the Company while broadening
the capital of the Company. In addition to the business
opportunities contemplated under the Strategic Alliance
Agreement, equity capital will be raised upon the exercise of
the subscription rights attaching to the non-listed warrants
by the holder(s) thereof during the subscription period of the
non-listed warrants.
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I ARBZBERESNT

Assuming there are no other changes, the shareholding
structure of the Company upon the Warrants rights being
exercised in full are as follows:

EHEFRERMEZ
REBEEEHITER
Immediately upon
exercise in full of the
subscription rights
attached to the Warrants

72018128311

Shareholders As at 31 December 2018

BOBS T BHABES T

RGEE (%) RHEE (%)

Approximate Approximate

Number of percentage Number of percentage

shares (%) shares (%)

MEE Mr. Lam 321,121,500 72.98 331,121,500 73.58
DRBEER Public Shareholders 118,878,500 27.02 118,878,500 26.42
et Total 440,000,000 100 450,000,000 100

BERBBABZRITEIF LT RBER -
THLTREEEASRBRFEROR
40,700,000/ 7T * HAIEARRR —REEE
é:%‘o

B L RRBEEZRTOHBHRAHYS
HERMEEI3 -

PRI A A¥E 7B 66,200,0004% M {7 510,000,000
17 3R B% # 7% #) Space Managementf) M —fi&
B oo AN - WP A Shalom Trust(A—TEH
MEEUTERTATORIH2EET
Z % AABUBS Trustee (BVI) Limited * Za5 A
AlBMEERA - HETREKE AT
RN A B E M A L) B BIHEA - Shalom Trust
& 4% ¥ 8 Media Cornerstone 2 3 & % 17 %
7K - M Media Cornerstonef® %5 254,921,500
&Rz o RIBFHFRBEGRD - BERAR
Space Management}Media Cornerstone##
BREEMRNPIHEEEZ -
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Assuming the non-listed warrants are exercised in full by the
subscriber, the net proceeds of the issuance of non-listed
warrants will be approximately HKD40,700,000, which will
be used as general working capital of the Company.

Details of above warrant issue are set out in Note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Mr. Lam is the sole shareholder of Space Management
which holds 66,200,000 Shares and 10,000,000 warrants.
In addition, Mr. Lam is the founder of the Shalom Trust
(a discretionary trust established by Mr. Lam as settlor of
which UBS Trustee (BVI) Limited acts as the trustee and
beneficiaries of which are Mr. Lam, certain of his family
members and other persons who may be added from time
to time) which indirectly holds the entire issued share capital
of Media Cornerstone which holds 254,921,500 Shares.
By virtue of the SFO, he is deemed to be interested in the
Shares in which Space Management and Media Cornerstone
are interested.
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gt/ M

Capacity/
Name of Directors Nature of interest
e SHREHMANAR
REEHEB R
Mr. Lam Founder of a discretionary

trust and interest in
a controlled corporation

EmlEBEA
Beneficial owner
MRE EmEBEA
Lam Ka Po Beneficial owner
R EmEBA
Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung  Beneficial owner
5518 GBS JP EnEBA

Ma Ho Fai GBS JP Beneficial owner

1. M54 R Space Management#JME — % &R © Space
Management$§ & 66,200,000 i i 17 - 18 & 52 &
RIS — O AR ATRRR E H 0 RS R 2
8,474,576 % % 13 % 10,000,000 3 3£ |- 1 32 iR 4
F o BN - BRI AShalom Trust(A—BRMELLE
DM ERTASMHEIIHZEEE  XFEARUBS
Trustee (BVI) Limited * & ABIBMEERA
HETREXE KA TR MANEMALT)BE
#A » Shalom Trustf##i45Media Cornerstone
2 E B B T A - il Media Cornerstone £ &
254,921,500% fx t  BIEE M EE GO - BRI
R/ Space ManagementfMedia Cornerstone
HEREROROPHEAER

2. 72018512431 H » B #1777 5440,000,000/%
Bfn o

LEE
[LIRiFA

329,596,076(L)

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES OF THE
COMPANY, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2018, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and chief executive of the Company and their
associate in the shares of the Company (“Shares”), underlying
Shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFQ")), as recorded in the
register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO, or
as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as set out in
Appendix 10 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”), were as follows:

M2018F

12A31H

_ VNS 2]
BRAFTETR R 13 K 45 EA R 2 2 B4
(B ) % 13 48 8 B L@
Approximate

percentage of

issued share

Total capital of
number of the Company
Equity Shares and as at
Number of Number of derivative underlying 31 December
Shares Warrants (Share options) Shares 2018%@
10,000,000 | 339,596,076(L)" 77.18%
Nil
Eid 3 4,400,000(L) 4,400,000(L) 1.00%
Nil Nil
i3 i3 1,278,000(L) 1,278,000(L) 0.29%
Nil Nil
i3 i3 100,000(L) 100,000(L) 0.02%
Nil Nil
i3 & 100,000(L) 100,000(L) 0.02%
Nil Nil
Notes:
1. Mr. Lam is the sole shareholder of Space Management which holds

66,200,000 Shares and conversion rights of 8,474,576 shares pursuant
to the completion of the first tranche of subscription of PSCS, and
10,000,000 non-listed warrants. In addition, Mr. Lam is the founder of
the Shalom Trust (a discretionary trust established by Mr. Lam as settlor
of which UBS Trustee (BVI) Limited acts as the trustee and beneficiaries
of which are Mr. Lam, certain of his family members and other persons
who may be added from time to time) which indirectly holds the entire
issued share capital of Media Cornerstone which holds 254,921,500
Shares. By virtue of the SFO, he is deemed to be interested in the
Shares in which Space Management and Media Cornerstone are
interested.

2. As at 31 December 2018, the issued share capital was 440,000,000
Shares.

Abbreviation:
“L" stands for long position
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, none
of the Directors and the chief executive of the Company
had any interest or short position in the Shares, underlying
Shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), as
recorded in the register required to be kept under section
352 of the SFO or which are required to be notified to the
Company and Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s share option scheme was adopted pursuant
to a Shareholders’ resolution in writing passed on 6
December 2014 (the “Scheme”) for the primary purpose
of providing incentives or rewards to eligible persons as
defined in the Scheme for their contribution or potential
contribution to the Group. The Scheme took effect on 15
January 2015 and will expire on 14 January 2025.

Under the Scheme, the Board may, at its discretion, offer
to any employee of the Group, options to subscribe for
shares of the Company subject to the terms and conditions
stipulated in the Scheme.

(a) Purpose of the Scheme
The purpose of the Scheme is to enable the Board to
provide incentives or rewards to the eligible persons
for their contribution or potential contribution to the
Group.

(b) Participants of the Scheme

Pursuant to the Scheme, the board of the Company
may at its absolute discretion grant options to any
eligible employee, a supplier of goods or services to
any member of the Group or any director or employee
of such supplier, customer, any advisory, consultancy
or professional services to any member of the Group
or any director or employee of such entity (including
any director, whether executive or non-executive
and whether independent or not, of the Company
or its subsidiaries) who is in full-time or part-time
employment with the Company or its subsidiaries at
the time when an option is granted to such employee,
or any person who, in the sole discretion of the Board,
have contributed or may contribute to the Group.
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(c)

(d)

(e)

Total number of shares available for issue under the
scheme

As at 31 December 2018, a total of 15,934,875 share
options were granted by the Company, of which
12,583,875 share options have not been exercised
and 3,351,000 share options were lapsed. An ordinary
resolution was passed at the annual general meeting
on 1 June 2016 relating to the refreshment of scheme
mandate limit of the share option to 44,000,000 shares,
representing 10% of the total issued share capital of
the Company as at the date of this annual report.

The maximum number of shares of the Company which
may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options
granted and yet to be exercised under the Scheme and
any other schemes of the Company shall not exceed
30% of the total number of shares of the Company in
issue from time to time.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of the options granted to each
participant (including those exercised, outstanding
and cancelled options) in any 12-month period
must not exceed 1% of the total number of shares
of the Company in issue, unless approved by the
shareholders of the Company in the manner as
stipulated in the Scheme.

Time of exercise of options

An option may be exercised in accordance with the
terms of the Scheme at any time during a period to
be determined and notified by the Directors to each
grantee, which period may commence on the date on
which the offer for the grant of options is made but
shall end in any event not later than 10 years from the
date of grant of the option subject to the provisions
for early termination thereof. No minimum period
for which the option must be held before it can be
exercised as specified in the Scheme.
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(f)

(9)

(h)

The subscription price per share

The subscription price per share in respect of an option
granted under the Scheme is such price as determined
by the Board of the Company at the time of the grant
of the options, but in any case the subscription price
shall not be lower than the higher of:

o the closing price of the shares of the Company as
stated in the daily quotation sheets issued by the
Stock Exchange on the date of grant;

° the price being the average closing price of the
shares of the Company as stated in the daily
quotation sheets issued by the Stock Exchange
for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of grant; and

o the nominal value of a share of the Company.

Payment on acceptance of option

A non-refundable sum of HKD10 or other amount as
determined by the board of the Company by way of
consideration for the grant of an option is required to
be paid by each of the grantee upon acceptance of the
option.

Remaining life of the scheme

The Scheme will expire on 14 January 2025 and no
further options may be granted but the provisions
of the Scheme shall in all other respects remain in
force and effect and options which are granted during
the life of the Scheme may continue to exercise in
accordance with their respective terms of grant.
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TRIFEHRNERE 2 2F) The following table discloses movements in the share
options during the period:

THABFAARD 2 RRE

option to subscribe for shares of the Company

120185 #2018%
1A1H i 128318 SROER
REARNZNS RHAH && LS Vs Bnf g f A7
Balance Lapsed/ Balance Exercise
as at Granted cancelled Exercised as at price
Category or Name 1 January during during during 31 December per share
of Grantees Date of grant 2018  theperiod  the period the period 2018 Exercise period HKD
THARRRETE
Executive share option plan
5 2015558218 4,400,000 - - - 4400000 2016%1A1AZ 6.95
Mr. Lam 21 May 2015 202056A981
1 Jan 2016-
9 Jun 2020
VEVEL L RE
employee and Contributor
share option plan
P S| 2015554218 1,278,000 - - - 1218000  201651A18% 6.95
Lam Ka Po 21 May 2015 2020567981
1 Jan 2016-
9 Jun 2020
it 2015554218 100,000 - - - 100,000 201651 A1EE 6.95
Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung 21 May 2015 2020567981
1 Jan 2016-
9 Jun 20201
55 Eossp 15557218 100,000 - - - 100,000 201651410Z 6.95
Ma Ho Fai 68 Jp 21 May 2015 2020567981
1 Jan 2016-
9 Jun 2020
EERERE 015258218 6,858,875 - (153,000 - 4705875 2016£1518Z 6.95
Employees and contributors 21 May 2015 2020567981
1 Jan 2016-
9 Jun 20201
12,736,875 - (153,000 - 12,583,875
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Notes:

1. All the above share options granted are exercisable during the

following periods:

(a) 30% of the share options shall be exercisable from 1 January
2016 to 9 June 2020 (both days inclusive); and

(b) the remaining 70% of the share options shall be exercisable
from 1 January 2017 to 9 June 2020 (both days inclusive).

The closing price per share immediately before the date of grant was
HKD6.93. Details of the value of options granted as above is set out in

Note 32(a) to the consolidated financial statement.

2. The share options were held by certain grantees who ceased to be the

employees of the Group during the year.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Company adopted a share award scheme (the “Share
Award Scheme”) on 17 May 2018. The purposes of providing
the Share Award Scheme are to recognise and reward the
contribution of certain eligible person(s), for the growth and
development of the Group and to provide them with
incentives in order to retain them for the continual operation
and development of the Group and attract suitable
personnel for further development of the Group.

As at 31 December 2018, no Share has been granted under
the Share Award Scheme.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2018, the following persons had an
interest or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares
of the Company recorded in the register required to be kept

REGRAEBERG 2HE

BRERME B

Name of Shareholders

ML

Mr. Lam

Media Cornerstone Limited
Media Cornerstone Limited

Shalom Family Holding Limited
Shalom Family Holding Limited

UBS Trustee (BVI) Limited
UBS Trustee (BVI) Limited

Space Management Limited
Space Management Limited

Great World HK Pte. Ltd.
Great World HK Pte. Ltd.

L Capital Asia 2 Pte. Ltd.
L Capital Asia 2 Pte. Ltd.

L Capital Asia 2 LP
L Capital Asia 2 LP

L Capital Asia 2 GP
L Capital Asia 2 GP

under Section 336 of the SFO:
Long positions in the shares and Underlying shares

RAELQF
BBITREZ
BMOBED®

Approximate

519, HEEME g 4=

percentage of
issued share

Number of capital in
Capacity/Nature of interest shares the Company®
FREEFERAIDEA K 339,596,076 (L) 77.18%

S HI A E R i i
Founder of a discretionary trust and
interest in a controlled corporation

EnlEEA 4,400,000 (L) 1.00%
Beneficial owner
EnlEaA 254,921,500 (L)@ 57.94%
Beneficial owner
REIEHDEE &S 254,921,500 (L)@ 57.94%
Interest in a controlled corporation
Shalom Trust ¥3EA 254,921,500 (L)@ 57.94%
Trustee of Shalom Trust
BEnlEaA 84,674,576 (L)@ 19.24%
Beneficial owner
BEmlEaA 23,609,000 (L)@ 5.37%
Beneficial owner
R HEE 8 23,609,000 (L)@ 5.37%
Interest in a controlled corporation
R HIEE & 23,609,000 (L)@ 5.37%
Interest in a controlled corporation
R HEE 8 23,609,000 (L)@ 5.37%

Interest in a controlled corporation
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RS -

% 4 B Space Management M — & 5 © Space
ManagementiA84,674,576 Ak i H =R - &
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Notes:

1. Mr. Lam was granted 4,400,000 share options on 21 May 2015. For
further details, please refer to the section headed “Share Option

Scheme” of this annual report.

2. The 254,921,500 Shares are held by Media Cornerstone. Media
Cornerstone is wholly owned by Shalom Family Holding Limited
(“Shalom Family”), which is in turn wholly owned by the Shalom
Trust, discretionary trust. The Shalom Trust established by Mr. Lam
as settlor and UBS Trustees (BVI) Limited as trustee. The discretionary
beneficiaries of the Family Trust are Mr. Lam, certain of his family
members and other persons who may be added from time to time. By
virtue of the SFO, the Trustee is deemed to be interested in the Shares

in which Media Cornerstone is interested in.

3. Mr. Lam is the sole shareholder of Space Management, which holds
interest in 84,674,576 Shares with 66,200,000 Shares in actual
Shares, 10,000,000 Shares in non-listed derivatives, and conversion
rights of 8,474,576 Shares pursuant to the completion of the first
tranche of subscription of the perpetual subordinated convertible
securities (“PSCS”) in the principal amount of HKD30,000,000 under
the subscription agreement dated 7 September 2017 as amended
and supplemented by the supplemental agreement dated 10
November 2017. The first tranche of subscription was completed on
28 December 2017. The subscription for the second tranche of the
PSCS in the principal amount of HKD20,000,000 with conversion rights
of 5,649,717 Shares shall be subject to approval of the independent
Shareholders.

4. Great World HK Media Pte Ltd. (“Great World”) is wholly owned by L
Capital Asia 2 Pte. Ltd. (“"LC Pte"”). LC Pte is wholly owned by L Capital
2 LP ("L Cap”). L Cap is wholly owned by L Capital Asia 2 GP ("L Cap
Asia”). By virtue of the SFO, Great World, LC Pte, L Cap, and L Cap
Asia are deemed to be interested in the shares. Great World held long
position in 23,609,000 shares in capacity as beneficial owner of these

shares.

5. As at 31 December 2018, the issued share capital was 440,000,000

Shares.

Abbreviations:

“L" stands for long position

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, there
were no other persons who had an interest or short position
in the Shares, or underlying Shares which recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 336 of SFO.



EEE34  REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EERRS  ZHIEHNzER

BRI ZIN - RAR BF R AR BFE
EREHEDFEZBAEEXB AR A
NARISEMBE AR /EFRINT - BART
SRS HBEEENETERAHEREE
REBRZEARS  ZHRAEH

() ARFEE2ENBAR ELERLHEE
EERAB(EAMFE) BECESE
HEERAR(EREX)FTUZEE
W AE A ARE114,000/ B AR
EBZHAE H2017F7/1HREE
2020F 6 A30R I (BIEEEMA) A
=F RAQEBEHEZEEZEWBRARILR
HtHESHERAR(EARE)BIEE
BEREERARI(ERAEX)FI Y ZHEE
W UEF A ARK347,300/ BALRA
IbRZPWAE » B2017F781BRE
2020F6 A30R - (BEEEMA) &5
—F  HBRARFBHAE2017F6A
30AZAEARAEE &

iy A~ 7ABE2EHN B A Genesis
Printing and Production Limited({E&
MP)EREFBRAG(EAEE)EIL
BHIA20174F981H k201843 A1H
ZHEWZ - LAE A30,000 BT (2017
FOR1THEE2018F2 A28 IH(BIE
BERMA)) &S A28,000/ 7T (20184
3A1A#EE2020F6 A30B IH(BHEE
EMB))MAUREB s ERRESR
i RARRIBEZENB AR E AR
tHESBRAREAMEF, ) ERIES
RARI(EAEZ I HERE - 1
201652 A1HLAE A14,000%87T(2016
F3IF1TAEE2018F2 A28 IH(BE
BREMB)BH=F)R%FTH16,0005 T
(201843 A1HZE2020F6 A308 (23
BEEMAB))BAUREBZEREBA -
HBERAARBEA2017F9A18 R
2018F3ANMAZAENEE &

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save for the following transactions, no transactions,
arrangements and contracts of significance in relation to the
Group's business to which the Company or its subsidiaries
was a party and in which a Director of the Company or his
or her connected entities had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted during or at the end of the
financial year:

(i)  the tenancy agreements between Shanghai Asiaray
Advertising Company Limited, an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, as tenant, and
Asiaray China Media Limited, as landlord, to lease the
office in Shanghai for RMB114,000 per month for a
term of three years from 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2020
(both days inclusive); and Beijing Asiaray Advertising
Company Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, as tenant, and Billion China
International Limited, as landlord, to lease the office
in Beijing for RMB347,300 per month for a term of
three years from 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2020 (both
days inclusive) as disclosed in the announcement of the
Company dated 30 June 2017; and

(i) the tenancy agreements dated 1 September 2017
and 1 March 2018 between Genesis Printing and
Production Limited, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, as tenant, and Peaky
Limited, as landlord, to lease the warehouse and car
parking space in Hong Kong for HKD30,000 per month
for 1 September 2017 to 28 February 2018 (both days
inclusive) and HKD28,000 per month for 1 March 2018
to 30 June 2020 (both days inclusive); and Hong Kong
Asiaray Advertising Limited, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, as tenant, and Peaky
Limited, as landlord, to lease the warehouse in Hong
Kong on 1 February 2016 for HKD14,000 per month for
a term of two years from 1 March 2016 to 28 February
2018 (both days inclusive), and HKD 16,000 per month
for the term from 1 March 2018 to 30 June 2020 (both
days inclusive) as disclosed in the announcement of the
Company dated 1 September 2017 and 1 March 2018;
and
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(iii) the tenancy agreement between Zhuhai Asiaray
Newspaper Media Company Limited, 60% of its equity
interest held by the Group, as tenant, and Mr. Lam, as
landlord, to lease an office in PRC on 1 March 2018
for RMB39,000 per month for a term of two years and
four months from 1 March 2018 to 30 June 2020 (both
days inclusive) as disclosed in the Announcement of
the Company dated 1 March 2018, all of which Mr. Lam
was interested in, as at the 31 December 2018.

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

Mr. Lam, Media Cornerstone, Space Management and
Shalom Family (collectively, the “Controlling Shareholders”)
entered into a deed of non-competition dated 22 December
2014 with the Company (the “Deed of Non-competition”).
Pursuant to the Deed of Non-competition, each of the
Controlling Shareholders has undertaken that, among other
things, he/it shall not and shall procure his/its associates
not to, either alone or jointly with any other person or
entity, or for any other person, firm or company, or as
principal, partner, director, employee, consultant or agent
through any body corporate, partnership, joint venture or
other contractual arrangement, be engaged, invested, or
otherwise involved, whether as a shareholder, director,
employee, partner, agent or otherwise, directly or indirectly,
in the carrying on of any business in any form or manner
in Hong Kong or the PRC in competition or likely to be
in competition, directly or indirectly, with the business
operated by the Group in Hong Kong or the PRC. Mr. Lam
has further undertaken that he shall procure Main Element
Profits Limited to exercise all its voting power in Taiwan
Asiaray Advertising Holdings Company Limited* (& /&%t
HEERMDABRAT) ("Taiwan Asiaray”) to ensure that the
business of Taiwan Asiaray will not expand outside Taiwan.
Details of the Deed of Non competition are set out in the
section headed “Relationship with Controlling Shareholders
— Non-Competition Undertakings” of the prospectus of the
Company dated 31 December 2014.

The Company has received confirmations from the
Controlling Shareholders of their compliance with the Deed
of Non competition for the year ended 31 December 2018
(the "Confirmations”). The independent non-executive
directors of the Company have been provided with all
necessary information and have reviewed the Confirmations
and are satisfied that the Deed of Non-competition was
complied with and was effectively enforced during the year
ended 31 December 2018.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS
During the year, none of the Directors is interested in any
business, apart from the Group’s business, which competes
or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
Group's business.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

None of the Company or any of its subsidiaries purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company'’s listed securities
during the year.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS
During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group did
not have any significant investments.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSALS

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group has
acquired 51% stake in Radius Displays International Limited
("Radius”).

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Group entered into certain transactions with parties
regarded as “Related Parties” under applicable accounting
principles. These mainly relate to contracts entered into by
the Group in the ordinary course of business, which contracts
were negotiated on normal commercial terms and on an
arm'’s length basis. Further details are set out in Note 34 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Some of these transactions also constituted “Connected

Transaction” and “Continuing Connected Transactions”
under the Listing Rules, as identified below.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed herein, during the year ended
31 December 2018, the Group entered into a number
of transactions with entities which will be regarded as
connected parties of the Company under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

As disclosed in the announcements dated 15 June 2015,
27 March 2017, 31 March 2017, 30 June 2017, 1 September
2017, 30 November 2017, 14 December 2017, 1 March 2018
and 20 November 2018, the annual cap of the concession
fees, rental expenses and service fee payable for the year
ended 31 December 2018 include:

the agreement dated 12 June 2015 with Henan
Airport Group Company Limited (“Henan Airport
Group”) and its associates is RMB155.5 million.
Henan Airport Group is a substantial shareholder of
an indirect subsidiary of our Company, and each of
the Henan Airport Group and its associates is thus a
connected person of the Company. The concession
fee payable for the year ended 31 December 2018 was
approximately RMB113.7 million;

the cooperation agreement dated 6 January 2017 with
Tianjin Metro Resources Investment Company Limited
(“Tianjin Metro Resources”) and its associates is RMB34
million, Tianjin Metro Resources is a connected person
of the Company at subsidiary level. The concession
fee payable for the year ended 31 December 2018 was
approximately RMB28.8 million;

the tenancy agreements dated 30 June 2017 with
Asiaray China Media Limited (“Asiaray China”) and
Billion China International Limited (“Billion China"”) is
RMB5,535,600. Asiaray China and Billion China are
both wholly-owned by Mr. Lam, an executive Director
and controlling shareholder of the Company, and thus
Asiaray China and Billion China are both connected
person of the Company. The rental expense payable
under the tenancy agreements for the year ended 31
December 2018 was RMB5,535,600;

the tenancy agreements dated 1 February 2016,
1 September 2017 and 1 March 2018 with Peaky
Limited is HKD528,000. Peaky Limited is wholly owned
by Mr. Lam, an executive Director and controlling
shareholder of the Company, thus Peaky Limited is a
connected person of the Company. The rental expense
payable under the tenancy agreements for the year
ended 31 December 2018 was HKD528,000;
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v. the framework agreement dated 26 November 2016
with Shenzhen Airport Asiaray Media Company Limited
(the “Shenzhen Airport Asiaray”). The annual cap
for service fee payable to Shenzhen Airport Asiaray
for the advertising services provided by Shenzhen
Airport Asiaray to the Group was revised to RMB152.9
million for the year ended 31 December 2018, and
the annual cap for service fee payable to the Group
for the advertising services provided by the Group to
Shenzhen Airport Asiaray is RMB7.5 million. Shenzhen
Airport Asiaray is a connected person of the Company
at the subsidiary level. The service fee payable by the
Group to Shenzhen Airport Asiaray for the year ended
31 December 2018 was approximately RMB133.7
million and the service fee payable to the Group
by Shenzhen Airport Asiaray for the year ended 31
December 2018 was approximately RMB387,650; and

vi. the framework agreement dated 21 October 2014
with Yunnan Airport Group Limited Liability Company
(“Yunnan Airport Company”) is RMB175 million.
Yunnan Airport Company is a substantial shareholder
of an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, and each of Yunnan Airport Company
and its associates is thus a connected person of
the Company. The concession fee payable for the
year ended 31 December 2018 was approximately
RMB114.9 million; and

vii. the tenancy agreement dated 1 March 2018, between
Zhuhai Asiaray Newspaper Media Company Limited
and Mr. Lam. The rental payable for the year ended 31
December 2018 was RMB279,000.

The Group has established internal controls and procedures
to ensure the compliance of the continuing connected
transactions with the requirement of the Listing Rules.
Finance department has prepared monthly transaction
reports to ensure the annual caps not to be exceeded. The
Board, including the independent non-executive Directors,
has reviewed and confirmed that the continuing connected
transactions have been entered into and the fees paid were:

i.  inthe ordinary course of business of the Group;

ii. either on normal commercial terms or on terms no less
favourable to the Group than terms available to or from
independent third party; and

iii. in accordance with the terms of the Contract that

are fair and reasonable and in the interest of the
shareholders of the Company as a whole.
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Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Board
engaged the auditor of the Company to perform certain
agreed upon procedures in respect of the continuing
connected transactions and the auditor has reported
the factual findings on these procedures to the Board
committee.

The auditor of the Company has confirmed to the Board
in writing that the continuing connected transactions have
been entered into and the fees:

(a) was approved by the Board;
(b) was in accordance with the pricing policy of the Group;

() was entered into in accordance with the terms of the
agreements, governing the transactions; and

(d) did not exceed the relevant cap amount for the
year ended 31 December 2018 as set out on the
announcements dated 15 June 2015, 27 March 2017,
31 March 2017, 30 June 2017, 1 September 2017, 30
November 2017, 14 December 2017, 1 March 2018
and 20 November 2018.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Reference is made on the Company’s announcement on 11
February 2019 and 22 March 2019.

(i)  On 22 March 2019, Shanghai Asiaray Advertising
Company Limited* (“Shanghai Asiaray”) (/8L #
EEABR AT entered into the exclusive concession
rights agreement with Wenzhou Mass Transit Railway
Investment Group Co., Limited* (“Wenzhou MTR")
CRM T EE RPEBRESRBEER AT, pursuant
to which Shanghai Asiaray was granted the exclusive
rights to use and operate the advertising and media
resources in Wenzhou Metro Line S1 operated by
Wenzhou MTR with concession fees payable to
Wenzhou MTR. Pursuant to the exclusive concession
rights agreement, Shanghai Asiaray and Wenzhou MTR
agreed that the exclusive rights to use and operate the
advertising and media resources in Wenzhou Metro
Line S1 shall be assigned to a joint venture company
to be established by Shanghai Asiaray, Wenzhou
MTR and Wenzhou TV. For details, please refer to the
announcement on the same date.

*  For identification purpose only
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(i)  On 11 February 2019, Shanghai Asiaray entered
into the exclusive concession rights agreement with
Beijing MTR Corporation Limited* (b R R BMEE
R 2 8]), pursuant to which Beijing MTR Corporation
Limited agreed to grant exclusive concession rights to
Shanghai Asiaray to operate, manage, maintain and
sales of advertising and media resources located at
Beijing Metro Line 14. For details, please refer to the
announcement on the same date.

CHANGE IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTOR
Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the change in
information of Director is as follow:

Mr. Lam Tak Hing, Vincent was re-appointed as a panel
member of the Administrative Appeals Board for a term of
three years with effect from 15 July 2018.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company'’s articles of association or the laws of Cayman
Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new
shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that was publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of its Directors, as at
the date of this annual report, there was sufficient public
float of not less than 25% of the Company’s issued shares as
required under the Listing Rules.

HUMAN RESOURCES

The Group offers competitive remuneration packages,
including trainings, medical, insurance coverage and
retirement benefits, to all employees in Hong Kong and in
Mainland China. As at 31 December 2018, the Group has
1,001 employees (2017: 902 employees). The total salaries
and related costs for the years ended 31 December 2018
and 2017 amounted to approximately HKD213.6 million and
HKD178.4 million, respectively.

DONATIONS

Charitable donations made by the Group during
the year amounted to approximately HKD145,000
(2017: approximately HKD86,000).

*  For identification purpose only
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

(a)

(b)

Annual General Meeting

The register of members of the Company will be closed
from Thursday, 20 June 2019 to Tuesday, 25 June
2019, both days inclusive, during which period no
transfer of shares will be effected.

In order to determine who are eligible to attend and
vote at the annual general meeting of the Company to
be held on Tuesday, 25 June 2019, the shareholders
of the Company should ensure that all transfers
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must
be lodged for registration with the Company’s share
registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17/F., Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong, not later
than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 19 June 2019.

Payment of the proposed final dividend

The register of member of the Company will be closed
from Wednesday, 10 July 2019 to Friday, 12 July 2019,
both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of
shares will be effected.

In order to be qualified for the proposed final dividend,
all transfers, accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged for registration with the
Company's share registrar, Computershare Hong Kong
Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17/F.,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai,
Hong Kong, not later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 9 July
2019.

AUDITOR
The consolidated financial statements for the year

ended 31 December 2018 have been audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers who will retire and being eligible,
offer themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming AGM.

A resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming AGM for the

re-appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers as auditor of the
Company.

On behalf of the Board
Lam Tak Hing, Vincent
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 March 2019
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To the Shareholders of Asiaray Media Group Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Asiaray Media
Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) set out on pages 89 to 245, which comprise:

° the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2018;

. the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
for the year then ended,;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the
year then ended,;

. the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended; and

. the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which
include a summary of significant accounting policies.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2018, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
("the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and
in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as
follows:

o Impairment assessment of trade receivables

J The recognition of deferred income tax assets
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HRERER
Key Audit Matter

—  BWERFRER S

— Impairment assessment of trade receivables

B2HEA I IEFRERMEES. 1(0) ~ 4(a) HIFET5 ©
Refer to note 3.1(b), 4(a) and note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.

2018128310 @ B RN # /522,054,000
BT HBEEEMN32.6% ° &R ZUR E &=
28,615,000/ 7T °

As at 31 December 2018, the balance of trade
receivables was HKD522,054,000, representing
32.6% of total assets. The provision for impairment of
trade receivables amounted to HKD28,615,000.

EREERABICOEIEREBMBERELEAEIN - st
EHMARKESNEHEMEEREE - 5 ERUKER
RO EEBIER - EREERAE - FHERZORR
RIEHBEERNEBRR Y2 EHENBENTIR LA
EREEEBEXAREARBLERRZNIRE RATE
EEFR - gtoh - BERENBBEERIZMEE - BHEFH
BAEMEVBERARERARZEZMENEBANEERR -
AFHERBRER R AR A EERENEERRE
B R AEBE M o

Management applied HKFRS 9 by using the simplified
approach to measure the lifetime expected loss
allowance for all its trade receivables. In developing
the loss allowances of trade receivables, management
used judgement in making the assumptions about the
risk of default and expected loss rate with reference
to the historical payment profiles of sales and the
corresponding historical credit losses rate and current
and forward-looking information on macroeconomic
factors. In addition, management also reviewed the
credit risk of individual debtors by considering the
nature of transactions, relationship with customers
and their financial position, etc, to assess whether
any increase in credit risk which may trigger further
specific provision at the end of the reporting period.

BN ERNEERARERER
How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

STHRAsR = EIH - WFVETU TR ¢
In response to the key audit matter, we performed the
following procedures:

AP T R R R YR SORE R B2 7 2 MEREHIRR
it BRESES - BlRRERON - BEREBZE
ERAES o IR @R A ES RIS E
BRI R AN ELRE -

We understood and evaluated the design of internal
controls over the provision for impairment of trade
receivables process including credit control, data
collection and analysis, determination and approval for
impairment provision, etc. We validated key internal
controls on a sample basis and obtained audit evidence
over the operating effectiveness of these key controls.

BT wmiL A RUR SRR R TR AR
KA EANEERREBE BN ERER -

We discussed with management and assessed the
reasonableness of the provision policy of trade
receivables and assessed any indicators for change
in credit risk characteristics from historical patterns.

BT RBRRE R ISR SBE B EBE - LAY
HEEEtENRIEBERRRIEAE -

We analysed the aging profile and historical loss
allowance on trade receivables to assess the
reasonableness of expected loss rates calculated by
management.

BMEREEEXNTHAREREXMANBRR LK
7 BBERAXREPRERERBRE -

We challenged management for the assumptions
and data used in assessing the expected loss
rate, corroborated explanations with underlying
documentation and correspondence with the customers.
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Key Audit Matter

JRE W BR BORL (B TH AR 15 FE W BR 3% 2 AT R M R 1R - JB
WIRFURER B RERENHE  MERGREBT
RETEME - ATRE SRR E&AMEET

Impairment of trade receivables was made based
on an assessment of the recoverability of trade
receivables. Provision for impairment of trade
receivables involved management’s judgement and
uncertainties of the actual outcome which may be
different from original estimates.

BMEITRZEBETERESE M B RR RETREK
BRI B B0 R AT RAE B ERX -

We focused on this area because of its significance
to the consolidated financial statements and
the estimation and judgement involved in the
determination of the recoverable amounts of trade
receivables.
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BN ERNEERARERER
How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

HAIREETSES - HEMERHBNETEASEH © bk
SRERSARMAIREWSOAESR 2 BE - AFHERE R
AR RIMS E B R EERR LT -

We also interviewed supervisors in finance
department, sales department and legal
department to corroborate their explanations on
the doubtful receivable balances on a sample basis
to evaluate whether any increase in credit risk which
may trigger further specific provision.

B ER IO 2 RIBRFZ G EHELL R - UFHEER
JE A BRERT (i I S (5t ey AT S 1 R R -

We compared the subsequent collection with the
original estimation to evaluate the reliability and
accuracy of management judgement and estimates
in the impairment assessment.

ERU 2R - BMER - RADREOE BT LR EREN
F3 0 2T 2 A3 o

Based on the procedures above, we found that the

judgment and estimates applied by management was

supported by the evidence that we obtained.
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HRERER
Key Audit Matter

— WBRELEFRBHEE

— Recognition of deferred income tax assets

FLHE MY B RERW T4 b) R MHEE14 -
Refer to note 4(b) and note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements.

M2018F12A31HNELEMEMREENER B
92,937,000 7T * {48 EER5.8% °

The balance of deferred income tax assets as at 31
December 2018 was HKD92,937,000, representing
5.8% of the total assets.

EIRE THRB I A] BRI A] E A R SR T AE AR K
5 2K B R A0 T8 B 18 I AT AR B R 2 RR 2 (AT T R R R ST
FIGHREE - EEMBHEEZCHERSREEENER
ARG LEEMEENERNAN B E RS BEMED
B A2t -

Management recognised deferred income tax assets
based on estimates that it is probable to generate
sufficient taxable profits in the foreseeable future
against which the unutilised tax losses and the
deductible temporary differences would be utilised.
The recognition of deferred income tax assets
involved management’s judgments and estimations
about the timing and the amount of taxable profits
generated from future operation result of business.

BN ERNEERARERER
How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

STERAR =L EIR - BVETU TR
In response to the key audit matter, we performed the
following procedures:

BT 8RB RS R AR SRR IE T
TREE < TR BRI A 2 MEHE S| 2 &RaT » T
R E RE SR A BB 1 o M BUIS % 5 R SR 1R | eV R VB RN
B BRIZBE ©

We understood and evaluated the design of
internal controls over the preparation and approval
of the forecast taxable profits used to support
the recognition of the deferred tax asset. We
validated key internal controls on a sample basis
and obtained audit evidence over the operating
effectiveness of these key controls.

B AFE B IR 48R BB 1 5 2 TR0OR) P A0 FRURI A8
RIMEIBIEL R - AFERAREAE -

We compared the current year actual results with
the forecast taxable figures included in the prior
year forecast to assess the reasonableness of
forecasts.

FAPI S A8 = R I ) R R O B4R B K AT R FRAIE
e - AEAERENGBRER - WRERBRZEA
FIFRE B HNERB AR -

We challenged management’s assumptions
of revenue growth rate and profit margin by
comparing them against external economy and
industry forecasts and corroborated the significant
input of concession fee charges to underlying
agreements.
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B E R AR BT AT ER A R AR E A IREE
ELRHERGANBENARYE - ESREGREAER
RERRBGHFREEEIHFEARR - EEE T AR
FEREEE  PHIMERITER BEEEXBHANE
NERRTERIH BB T HEE M - SWETTHURE DT LAY
i EXENRNEINTHEEMEIZE

Management has prepared a profit forecast to assess
the probability of generating sufficient taxable profits
in the foreseeable future to utilise the tax losses. It
involved significant assumptions such as revenue
growth rate and future concession fee charges, etc.
Management also assessed the inherent uncertainties
of the forecast arisen from change in macroeconomic
environment, out-of-home media industry and the
profitability of the Group’s business and performed
a sensitivity analysis to evaluate the level of
uncertainties about the profitability of the Group;

B TR JE I I T A B E AR R K Z (ERE AR S B AR B
MEBRAREEMENRAEEERONTAMELS
PR ERE RN ERER -

Management also exercised judgement to determine
the temporary difference between accounting and
tax bases due to the complex and various deferred
income tax categories and the tax law enacted in the
jurisdictions where the group companies operate.

BAB IR ZERE AN E YA SRR M ERIRL
FSTEEY LG RABHBERX -

We focused on this area because of its significance
to the consolidated financial statements and the
estimation and judgement involved in recognition of
deferred income tax assets.
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BN ERNEERARERER
How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

e BMBRAENAEEBRENEREMSHEERRME
FEMERAX R AL - ORI E R ZRE R DA -

o We tested the accuracy of temporary differences
by recalculating management’s deferred income
tax assets schedules and reviewed the underlying
documents and contracts on a sample basis.

e BMZRLRERHEEEYHBERRR (IR AER
) mTRAERAANEETNERE SN - AT
it EXRENBAENNTEELREE -

o We considered and reviewed the management’s
sensitivity analysis of the forecast taxable profits to
key assumptions such as the revenue growth rate
to evaluate the level of uncertainties about the
profitability of the Group.

Ep Expmt - HAER - BPBSHEBRAI X HERREM
PR e )l B2 A 5T -

Based on the above, we found that the judgment and
estimates applied by management was supported by the
evidence that we obtained.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the
information included in the annual report other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis
of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

] Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group's internal control.

] Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.
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o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.

We also provide Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.
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From the matters communicated with Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Ms. Cecilia, Lai Ting Yau.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 27 March 2019
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ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Land use rights
Investment properties
Intangible assets
Investments in associates
Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive
income
Available-for-sale financial assets
Deferred income tax assets
Non-current portion of other
receivables

Current assets
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Short-term bank deposits
Restricted cash
Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity attributable to owners
of the Company
Share capital
Reserves

Non-controlling interests

Total equity

10
10
14

15

15
16
17
17

18
19

Asiaray Media Group Limited

M12831H
As at 31 December

2018£F
2018

FH 7
HKD’000

20174
2017
T
HKD'000
(#&=7))
(Restated)

106,235 89,006
23,724 25,547
8,785 8,520
21,400 1,614
38,136 27,391
5,943 5,953
7,619 -

- 8,418
92,937 83,860
15,826 15,569
320,605 265,878
2,444 2,799
840,865 636,183
6,122 31,628
49,489 71,768
379,931 299,188
1,278,851 1,041,566
1,599,456 1,307,444
44,000 44,000
418,619 493,477
462,619 537,477
112,558 41,701
575,177 579,178
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M12H31H
As at 31 December
20184 20174
2018 2017
FExT TFET
HKD'000 HKD'000
(&==E7)
(Restated)
aE Liabilities
ERBERE Non-current liabilities
EN Borrowings 21 77,726 14,146
BEFTBEHAE Deferred income tax liabilities 14 2,854 -
80,580 14,146
REBEE Current liabilities
JE A< BR R M EL b B A 5ROB Trade and other payables 22 573,053 418,486
SHBEE Contract liabilities 145,051 149,697
BN ES AEZREEN Financial liabilities at fair value
- =E through profit or loss 37 6,611 =
(RN Borrowings 21 191,280 130,204
BVERFTISEi B (& Current income tax liabilities 27,704 15,733
943,699 714,120
e E Total liabilities 1,024,279 728,266
BEZKRES Total equity and liabilities 1,599,456 1,307,444

FI6E245 H M TR UL F A G T HK K

—#5 -

The notes on pages 96 to 245 are integral parts of these
consolidated financial statements.

FEIE24SEMAHU B HRREELARANAIES
SR2019FE3 A27 B ETIZ  YHIUATE
ERREE -

The consolidated financial statements on pages 89 to 245
were approved for issue by the Board of directors of the
Company on 27 March 2019 and were signed on its behalf.

MEE MRE
Lam Tak Hing, Vincent Lam Ka Po
e HITEF
Chairman Executive Director
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HZ12A318LLEE

Year ended 31 December

20184 20174

2018 2017

FExT TFET

HKD'000 HKD'000

I ON Revenue 5 1,928,866 1,759,244

W A AR AR Cost of revenue 23 (1,444,746) (1,396,511)

ER Gross profit 484,120 362,733

HERMIGHRERY Selling and marketing expenses 23 (163,982) (135,372)

THHAX Administrative expenses 23 (188,404) (153,278)

HAWA Other income 25 11,751 12,509

Hipuezs (Ei8) - E58 Other gains/(losses), net 26 1,333 (1,063)

R R5E Operating profit 144,818 85,529

BB WA Finance income 27 3,437 3,620

BE R A Finance costs 27 (7,449) (7,143)

RERA - FER Finance costs, net 27 (4,012) (3,523)
DIRREEE N RIIEE HEAE Share of results of investments

in associates 12 12,462 8,584

B Fr 18 %4 A A 5 Profit before income tax 153,268 90,590

TS Hi 2 Income tax expense 28 (26,553) (19,388)

FEFME Profit for the year 126,715 71,202
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HZE12A31MHLLEE
Year ended 31 December
20184 20174

2018 2017
FERT TAT
HKD’000 HKD'000

Hihim &z Other comprehensive income

AREEHI EEERMNIER Items that may be reclassified to
profit or loss

—RANFEIAE MRS — Net (losses)/gains from changes in
WanEmEEZ financial assets at fair value through
(B1B) W5 other comprehensive income
(20174 : E@AAHEE (2017: relating to available-for-sale
SREE)(BHB) financial assets), net of tax (695) 47
— B E R — Currency translation differences (24,596) 31,236
(25,291) 31,283
FEMEWNEAE Total comprehensive income
for the year 101,424 102,485
BT & B BT Profit attributable to:
VIN/NEIE ZEDN Owners of the Company 62,953 44,690
JEVE R RE Non-controlling interests 63,762 26,512
FERH Profit for the year 126,715 71,202
LT&FELEEWEHEE . Total comprehensive income
attributable to:
KARER A Owners of the Company 41,851 78,458
FEIE AR = Non-controlling interests 59,573 24,027
FEMEWRAE Total comprehensive income for
the year 101,424 102,485
EATEEAEMN Earnings per share attributable to
rXEEGRER owners of the Company
(UEgRBMSIT) for the year
(expressed in HK cents per share)
—ExK - Basic 29(a) 13.97 10.16
—#E - Diluted 29(b) N/A 10.15
SE96F 245 MM A L 5 & St BT B KR 1Y The notes on pages 96 to 245 are integral parts of these

—®H5 e consolidated financial statements.

B @EEEEERAF 2018 FiR 92



SOERZEXR

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

A YNSIE 2PN
Attributable to owners of the Company
B e IR @t
Non-
Share controlling
capital Reserves Total interests Total
B AR FEr TR TER
HKD'000 HKD’000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000
R2017E1 810 &8 Balance 1 January 2017 44,000 511,925 555,925 31,739 587,664
FekE Comprehensive income
EEFIE Profit for the year - 44,690 44,690 26,512 71,202
ﬁﬁﬂ% I§: Other comprehensive income
EHESHEEATEEENE — Gains from changes in fair value
(BH#H) of available-for-sale financial
assets, net of tax = 47 47 = 47
—ERREES — Currency translation differences = 33,721 33,721 (2,485) 31,236
GelmeE Total comprehensive income = 78,458 78,458 24,027 102,485
FHERERTE Capital injection by non-controlling
interests - - - 4,785 4,785
BIFARELR S Transaction with non-controlling
interests - (12,506) (12,5006) 9,990 (2,516)
RE(H230) Dividends (Note 30) - (114,400) (114,400) (28,840) (143,240)
%ﬂﬂd RATARES (H7#20)  lssue of perpetual subordinated
convertible securities (Note 20) = 30,000 30,000 = 30,000
EBERERRIEEFAD Total transactions with owners,
RRAH recognised directly in equity = (96,906) (96,906) (14,065) (110,971)
R2017F12 3318 &84 Balance at 31 December 2017 44,000 493,477 537,477 41,701 579,178
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S OtREZR B3k  CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

EAREEAEE
Attributable to owners of the Company

& 1 ay FERERS 5

Non-

Share controlling
capital Reserves Total interests Total
AR ThR Tén AR Thn
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000

R2017512A318 148 (F5)  Balance 31 December 2017, as

previously presented 44,000 493,477 537,477 41,701 579,178
SHRRED(HH22) Change in accounting policies
(Note 2.2) - (3,470) (3,470) - (3,470)
1201841 A1 A A& (B E5) Balance 1 January 2018, as restated 44,000 490,007 534,007 41,701 575,708
el Comprehensive income
FEFIH Profit for the year = 62,953 62,953 63,762 126,715
HipRaWE Other comprehensive income
—IRATEGI AR iR 6 ek — Losses from changes in fair value
PREAENATE of financial assets at fair value
2YHB(ENH) through other comprehensive
income, net of tax - (695) (695) - (695)
—RHAEEE — Currency translation differences - (20,407) (20,407) (4,189) (24,596)
GEkEAE Total comprehensive income - 41,851 41,851 59,573 101,424
FERERTE Capital injection by non-controlling
interests - - - 3,787 3,787
KENELRAEENEERER Non-controlling interests arising from
(Biz#37) acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 37) = = = 7,960 7,960
KARBATERES 2R Perpetual subordinated convertible
securities distribution - (1,743) (1,743) - (1,743)
BRHREEEARR Purchase of shares for share award
(Hia£32b) scheme (Note 32b) - (17,336) (17,336) - (17,336)
RE(Hz30) Dividends (Note 30) - (94,160) (94,160) (463) (94,623)

BENERBEIREEANREAE Total transactions with owners,

recognised directly in equity - (113,239) (113,239) 11,284 (101,955)
R2018 12831 A&t Balance at 31 December 2018 44,000 418,619 462,619 112,558 575,177
SE96F 245 H M A UL F & S AT KR &Y The notes on pages 96 to 245 are integral parts of these
—&D o consolidated financial statements.
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SHEERER
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

BZ12A31ALFE
Year ended 31 December
20185 20174
2018 2017
THET FAEL
HKD'000 HKD'000
EETDRENRERE Cash flows from operating activities
2EMSRE Cash generated from operations 31 171,696 122,770
RENEES) Interest paid (6,919) (7,143)
EEFTEH Income tax paid (26,803) (14,568)
EERHMERERE Net cash generated from operating
activities 137,974 101,059
RETHHENRERE Cash flows from investing activities
YR EA R (MREKERS) Acquisition of subsidiaries,
net of cash acquired 37 279 -
n — & R AT E Capital injection to an associate (9,199) _
BEDE  BENRE Purchases of property, plant and equipment (60,179) (25,252)
BE T FRE Purchases of land use rights - (1,607)
BATFES A BRER Payments for financial assets at fair value
SREERNT through profit or loss (326) (847)
BEEVEE Purchases of intangible assets (342) (320)
HENE  BER Proceeds from disposal of property,
REREREERBRE plant and equipment and
intangible assets 31 1,079 352
BUF B Interest received 3,372 3,421
Blis pﬂﬁ@% B Dividends on financial assets received 485 486
S EASING Y Dividends received from an associate 8,846 10,715
RESRITERRD Decrease in short-term bank deposits 25,506 15,109
RETEH(FA),/ FERLRE Net cash (used in)/generated from
investing activities (30,479) 2,057
RMETHRSHRERE Cash flows from financing activities
BRAETIE Proceeds from borrowings 395,308 156,860
1%“{1%%;\ Repayment of borrowings (268,283) (82,266)
KRR AR 5 55 PG 308 Proceeds from perpetual subordinated
convertible securities - 30,000
KA IR AT AR RE 5 7 R Distribution of perpetual subordinated
convertible securities (881) =
B BEED T 2158 B R 5B Payment for purchase of shares
for share award scheme (17,336) _
FRRERTE Capital injection by non-controlling interests 3,787 4,785
AR R EEA A THRE Dividends paid to owners of the Company (94,160) (114,400)
BEZE G Ey RN S Dividends paid to non-controlling interests (30,236) (28,840)
METEFMARSTE Net cash used in financing activities (11,801) (33,861)
REeRBEEEMENTE Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 95,694 69,255
FUNReRREEEY Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the
year 299,188 217,336
BeRBReEEMMER Exchange (losses)/gains on cash and cash
(B1#8), equivalents (14,951) 12,597
FRNBALSRBEEZEEY Cash and cash equivalents at
end of the year 17 379,931 299,188
SE96F 245 A MG AN I 5 & ST B KR &0 The notes on pages 96 to 245 are integral parts of the
—H5H o consalidated financial statements.

Asiaray Media Group Limited 2018 Annual Report 95



SOt IR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.1

—RER
HHEEHEERBER AR ARE DR
2014F5 20 ER SR EREFSE
SRANE(2013F BRI A) kKL & —
MEREERAGT o RRRZMMHERL
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Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman
Islands » KRR AR 2015F1 158
EBEBHEXZMBRARER L -

ARBR—HEREZEBRAR - AR
HKTE A 7(%%%@F$%EJ)IKECEP§E
ARKEMBE([FE]) RFEREFINE
THRBHRNEE  BREKS  HEE
& EEREKERAIBES -

BREEIEREN - EEHTBREHIA
BL(ATL)EY  MAERFEEYD
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20193 A27HAARAIESS([ESE
& |)BEETIZE o

EXETHEHE

TXHIRRILFA G HRERAER
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mAERE
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MEHER]
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2.1

GENERAL INFORMATION

Asiaray Media Group Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 20 May 2014 as
an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law (2013 Revision) of the Cayman Islands.
The address of the Company's registered office is P.O.
Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104,
Cayman Islands. The Company’s shares have been
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited on 15 January 2015.

The Company is an investment holding company.
The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the
“Group”) are principally engaged in the development
and operations of out-of-home advertising media,
including advertising in airports, metro lines, billboards
and building solutions, mainly in the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC") and Hong Kong.

These consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars (“HKD") and all figures are
rounded to the nearest thousand (HKD’000) unless
otherwise stated, and have been approved for issue by
the Company’s board of directors (the “Board”) on 27
March 2019.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements
are set out below. These policies have been
consistently applied to all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated.

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company
have been prepared in accordance with all applicable
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS")
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
(Cap. 622). The consolidated financial statements have
been prepared under the historical cost convention,
as modified by the revaluation of financial assets at
fair value through other comprehensive income (2017:
available-for-sale financial assets), financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss, financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss and investment
properties, which are carried at fair values.



SO FEERER ML NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

2.1

(a)

EXEHBEMEE)

mREE(E)
mAETABBMBREENNE G
BERAERETERE G MERE
EBREBASEN S HRE INAELH
i o P ROREHEREBR - HEBR
REFTHEHVBRREEAFZENS
B - POMTEEABEE

KEFEIRMIFTER - CERIEET R 22
#

AEEE 201841 A1 8162 BB F
EERERTAFAER « I8 FEASET
Tag

FEUERR 20145 220165 HA
2 FE
EEIEHREEN URDAER X
25k (BFTA) RGZDERGE
EEVBREER EAESVBHREE

F4 (BFTAX) AFERERT A
B —HERAEY

BE ERIF 4R

REBRAHL
EEMBHREEN SRIA
L
EEMBHREEN ERPEOME
281585%
BESTERIEA0N ERILEWE
(BFIA)
55 (BBRUBRE INERHRFEMNRE
2EZEg) -
BEE225

ERABEEVBERELUNEIEREL
MBREERFEISHERE  AEEFE
FRESHABRAFLETEPRHE
RMBEVBRELANEIR (R T
A IRBEVHREEMFISH [EP
BRI INFED RIRH 2.2 KM=
22(L)WE o EXFTIIEARER] AN LB
THEEIANSBYEEATE AR
AT EHEMKRKBRAEXNEKRNY
@,

2.1

(a)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of preparation (Continued)

The preparation of the consolidated financial
statements in conformity with HKFRS requires the
use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also
requires management to exercise its judgment in the
process of applying the Group’s accounting policies.
The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or
complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates
are significant to the consolidated financial statements
are disclosed in Note 4.

New standards, amendment to standards and
interpretation adopted by the Group

The Group has applied the following new standards,
amendments to existing standards and interpretation
for the first time for their financial year beginning on
1 January 2018:

Annual Improvements
Project
HKFRS 2 (Amendments)

Annual Improvements 2014-
2016 Cycle

Classification and
Measurement of Share-
based Payment Transactions

Applying HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments with HKFRS 4
Insurance Contracts

HKFRS 4 (Amendments)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers

HKAS 40 (Amendments) Transfers of Investment
Property

HK(IFRIC)-Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions

and Advance Consideration

The Group had to change its accounting policies and
make certain retrospective adjustments following the
adoption of HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 15. The impact of
the adoption of HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” and
HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”
are disclosed in Note 2.2(a) and Note 2.2(b)
respectively. The other amendments listed above did
not have any impact on the amounts recognised in
prior periods and are not expected to significantly
affect the current or future periods.
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2 EXRESTEERBESE)

21 HmBEEXE(E)
(b) B A E AR AR e N [ SRR IR
ANEIFTER R 3R A ERIMEET

FEBCERE (BFTA)
Annual Improvements Project
(Amendments)

2.1
(b)

2015 E2017 B M F Rk
Annual Improvements 2015-2017 Cycle

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of preparation (Continued)

New standards and amendments to existing standards
that have been issued but are not effective and have
not been early adopted by the Group

RUT ARz %
RN FERBENR

Effective for
annual periods
beginning on or after

20191 H1H
1 January 2019

BERGERE19% (BFTA)
HKAS 19 (Amendments)

B e ERIE28% (BFTA)
HKAS 28 (Amendments)

BB BMEELEIR (BITX)
HKFRS 9 (Amendments)
BEMBREEANF165%

HKFRS 16
BREMBREEUNE17H
HKFRS 17

&% (BB BREREZES)
—RRBE2N (R
HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 (New interpretation)
2018 F M HEHRIER
Conceptual Framework for
Financial Reporting 2018
BRI B IMEERE 105 Rk
BB GRIERIFE285E (BFTA)
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28
(Amendments)

ATEIERT - MRRAR 20191 A1H
Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement 1 January 2019
REERF R ELRNR RS 201951 A1R
Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures 1 January 2019
A AmENRSESEE 201951 A1R
Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation 1 January 2019
HE 2019%1A1R
Leases 1 January 2019
RERBH 20191 A1R
Insurance Contracts 1 January 2019
FRT1S BE 12 M) TN RREE 14 2019F1H1R

Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

RIERT RS SIER

Revised Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting

1 January 2019
2020118
1 January 2020

RELERHEBENRREE 00X ANEEHEIEA fF3E
Sale or Contribution of Assets between an To be
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture determined

The above new standards, amendments to existing
standards and interpretations have been published that
are not mandatory for the annual reporting periods
commencing 1 January 2018 and have not been early
adopted by the Group. The Group intends to adopt
the above new standards, amendments to existing
standards and interpretation when they become
effective. The Group's assessment of the impact of
these new standards and interpretations is set out
below.

LR - MAELEABITRZREEL
EH R AR2018F1B1BEBHFE
REHEBHIER  BAEETERER
B o AEEEN EEER - RA%E
AHERT R 2B AW RNEREER - &
FINERE AEBHZENENREE
FEMFTHEHEN T -
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SO FEERER ML NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.1
(b)

EXEHBEMEE)

mREE(E)
BB 18 15 R LR A5 (B 0 8 12 P AR
REIFTER R BB ERIEET ()

() BEMBREEUE16EE
EEHE
FEMBHRELENFE165REHRE
FHESRIENRE - ZRE
WEBFAMABREZHED IR
RABEHEAREHERKZM
BIETREEREARK - BEMH
HELAF16ETBERABEA
REHEERBERINGETHEA
Bk - B2 - TEREIEENA
NEE(MBERAE) LHEERRE
(MBHARET)HAER > ME
YRR AR ARG E T E AR 2B
RREIE  EETTEERKES
BEVBRELAE16HRETZ
HERFIINR LRI - HEHR
ToEAIATHERAERKE
EEENHERARARET -

ZAR RS AL BN A HEE
BERANEREAEEERMEER
BIRIN - REHEEWEERA - M
SRASBATE RF SR ER
HEpRERERANRASREND

EMETREYE -

2.1
(b)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of preparation (Continued)

New standards and amendments to existing standards

that have been issued but are not effective and have

not been early adopted by the Group (Continued)

(i) HKFRS 16 Leases
Nature of change
HKFRS 16 provides new provisions for the
accounting treatment of leases which does not
require lessees to classify their leases as either
finance leases or operating leases and account for
those two types of leases differently. HKFRS 16
will no longer allow lessees to account for certain
leases outside the consolidated balance sheet.
Instead, all long-term leases must be recognised
in the form of assets (for the right-of-use) and
lease liabilities (for the payment obligations),
both of which may be carried initially at the
discounted present value of the future operating
lease commitments subject to certain exceptions
and arrangements that do not qualify as leases
under HKFRS 16. Short-term leases with a lease
term of twelve months or less and leases of low-
value assets are exempt from such reporting
obligations.

The new standard will therefore result in
recognition of a right-of-use asset and an
increase in lease liabilities in the consolidated
balance sheet. In the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, rental expenses
will be replaced with depreciation and interest
expenses and the classification of cash flows in
the consolidated statement of cash flow may also

be affected.
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2.1
(b)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of preparation (Continued)

New standards and amendments to existing standards

that have been issued but are not effective and have

not been early adopted by the Group (Continued)

(i) HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)
Impact
The Group is a lessee of certain advertising
space in airports, metro lines and billboards
which are currently classified as operating leases.
The Group's current accounting for such leases
is to record the rental expenses in the Group's
consolidated statement of comprehensive income
in the year they are incurred with the related
operating lease commitments being separately
disclosed in Note 35.

The adoption of HKFRS 16 will therefore result in
an increase in right-of-use assets and an increase
in lease liabilities in the Group’s consolidated
balance sheet. In the Group’s consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the annual
rental and amortisation expenses of prepaid
operating lease under otherwise identical
circumstances will decrease, while amortisation
of right-of-use of assets and interest expenses
arising from the financial liabilities will increase.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group has non-
cancellable operating lease commitments of
HKD3,008,434,000. Of these commitments,
approximately HKD93.9 million relate to short-
term lease is recognised on a straight-line basis.

For the remaining lease commitments, the Group
expects to recognise on 1 January 2019 right-of-
use assets of approximately HKD2,142 million,
deferred tax assets of approximately HKD28
million and lease liabilities of approximately
HKD2,267 million and have certain adjustments
for prepayments and accrued lease payment
recognised as at 31 December 2018. Overall net
assets will be approximately HKD92 million lower,
and net current assets will be approximately
HKD665 million lower due to the presentation of
a portion of the liabilities as current liabilities.
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2.1
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2.1
(b)

2.2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
Basis of preparation (Continued)
New standards and amendments to existing standards
that have been issued but are not effective and have
not been early adopted by the Group (Continued)
(i) HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)
Impact (Continued)
The Group expects that the net profit after tax
will decrease by approximately HKD14 million for
2019 as a result of adoption of the new rules.

Operating cash flows will increase and financing
cash flows decrease by approximately HKD665
million as repayment of the principal portion of
the lease liabilities will be classified as cash flow
from financing activities.

The Group's activities as a lessor are not material
and hence the Group does not expect any
significant impact on the financial statements.

Date of adoption by the Group

The Group will apply the standard from its
mandatory adoption date of 1 January 2019. The
Group intends to apply the simplified transition
approach and will not restate comparative
amounts for the year prior to first adoption. Right-
of-use assets for property leases will be measured
on transition as if the new rules had always been
applied.

There are no other standards that are not yet effective
and that would be expected to have a material impact
on the entity in the current or future reporting periods
and on foreseeable future transactions.

Changes in accounting policies

This note explains the impact of the adoption of HKFRS
9 "Financial Instruments” and HKFRS 15 “Revenue
from Contracts with Customers” on the Group's
consolidated financial statements.

As a result of the changes in the Group’s accounting
policies, prior year financial statements had to be
restated. HKFRS 9 was generally adopted without
restating comparative information with the exception
of certain aspects of hedge accounting. The
reclassifications and the adjustments arising from
the new impairment rules are therefore not restating
the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December
2017, but are recognised in the opening consolidated
balance sheet on 1 January 2018.
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Consolidated balance sheet
(extract)

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Financial assets at fair
value through other
comprehensive income
Available-for-sale financial assets
Deferred income tax assets

Current assets
Trade and other receivables

Total assets

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Reserves

Total equity

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Contract liabilities

Total liabilities

Total equity and liabilities

102

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

Date of adoption by the Group

The following table shows the adjustments recognised
for each individual line item. Line items that were not
affected by the changes have not been included. The
adjustments are explained in more details by standard
below.

017 RIAEHENH PIIVES 20185
12A318 12R318 1R1A
MREREZS] (m=51) 3 g (1 =5)
31 December
2017 Effectof 31 December
As originally adoption of 2017
presented HKFRS 15 (Restated) HKFRS 9 (Restated)
THL TAL TAL ThL TATL
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000

Effect of

1 January
adoption of 2018

- - - 8,418 8,418

8,418 - 8,418 (8,418) -
83,860 - 83,860 685 84,545
636,183 - 636,183 (4,155) 632,028
1,307,444 - 1,307,444 (3,470) 1,303,974
493 477 - 493 477 (3,470) 490,007
519,178 - 5719178 (3,470) 575,708
568,183 (149,697) 418,486 - 418,486
- 149,697 149,697 - 149,697

728,266 - 728,266 - 728,266
1,307,444 - 1,307,444 (3,470) 1,303,974
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2.2
(a)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” — impact of adoption

HKFRS 9 replaces the provisions of HKAS 39 that relate
to the recognition, classification and measurement of
financial assets and financial liabilities, impairment of
financial assets and hedge accounting.

(i)

Classification and measurements of financial
assets and financial liabilities

HKFRS 9 categories financial assets into three
principal classification categories: measured
at amortised cost, at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI"”) and at fair
value through profit or loss (“FVPL"). The
classification of financial assets under HKFRS 9
is based on the business model under which the
financial assets is managed and its contractual
cash flow characteristics.

On 1 January 2018 (the date of initial application
of HKFRS 9), the Group’'s management has
assessed which business models apply to the
financial instruments held by the Group into the
appropriate HKFRS 9 categories and the impact
on the change on the opening consolidated
balance sheet on 1 January 2019 are summarised
as follows:

o Available-for-sale financial assets of
HKD8,418,000 as at 31 December 2017 was
reclassified to financial assets at FVOCI on
1 January 2018;

o Available-for-sale financial assets
revaluation reserve of HKD712,000 as at 31
December 2017 was reclassified to financial
assets at FVOCI reserve on 1 January 2018.
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2.2
(a)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” — impact of adoption

(Continued)

(i) Classification and measurements of financial
assets and financial liabilities (Continued)
The Group reclassified its investment in unquoted
bond funds as financial assets at FVOCI as it is
held for collection of contractual cash flows and
for selling the financial assets, where the assets’
cash flows represent solely payments of principal
and interest. Movements in the carrying amount
are taken through FVOCI reserve, except for the
recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest
revenue and foreign exchange gains and losses
which are recognised in profit or loss. When the
financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative
gain or loss previously recognised in FVOCI
reserve is reclassified from equity to profit or loss
and recognised in other gains/(losses). Interest
income from these financial assets is included in
finance income using the effective interest rate
method. Foreign exchange gains and losses are
presented in other gains/(losses) and impairment
expenses are presented as separate line item in
profit or loss.

(i) Impairment of financial assets

The adoption of HKFRS 9 has changed the
Group's impairment model by replacing the HKAS
39 "incurred loss model” to the “expected credit
losses ("ECLs"”) model”. Under HKFRS 9, the
losses allowances are measured on either using
the 12-month ECLs model: the ECLs that result
from possible default events within the twelve
months after the reporting date; or the lifetime
ECLs model: ECLs that would result from all
possible default events over the expected life of a
financial instrument.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(a) HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” — impact of adoption
(Continued)
(i) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

The Group has five types of financial assets as at 1
January 2018 subject to HKFRS 9's new expected
credit loss model:

J Trade and other receivables
o Short-term bank deposits

o Restricted cash

e  Cash and cash equivalents

. Debt investments carried at fair value
through other comprehensive income

The Group was required to revise its impairment
methodology under HKFRS 9 for each of these
classes of financial assets. The impact of the
change in impairment methodology on the
Group'’s retained earnings as at 1 January 2018
and the estimates and assumptions made in
concerning the future are discussed below:

TAT
HKD'000

M2017512831 B WHIRRE AR Closing retained earnings as at

P& e B R 3 A 3
BRABERBHIELEHRIAEEZN

EER N BB IS REERFE RN
20181 B 1 HARREZEF

R2018FE1A1BENBARERR

31 December 2017

Increase in provision for trade receivables
Increase in deferred tax assets relating to
impairment provisions

Adjustment to retained earnings from
adoption of HKFRS 9 on 1 January 2018

Opening retained earnings as at
1 January 2018

Asiaray Media Group Limited

121,729

(4,155)

685

(3,470)

118,259
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2.2
(a)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” — impact of adoption
(Continued)
(i) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

The loss allowances for financial assets are
based on assumptions about risk of default and
expected loss rates. The Group uses judgement
in making these assumptions and selecting the
inputs to the impairment calculation, based on
the Group’s past settlement pattern, existing
market conditions as well as forward looking
estimates at the end of each reporting period.

While cash and cash equivalents, short-term bank
deposits and restricted cash are also subject to
the impairment requirements of HKFRS 9, the
identified impairment loss by the directors of the
Company was determined to be immaterial.

The Group has applied the general approach
and recorded 12-month expected credit losses
on its other receivables and deposits and debt
investments carried at fair value through other
comprehensive income based on the estimated
loss of possible default events within the next
twelve months. The directors of the Company
has considered that the allowance on impairment
loss is immaterial upon the initial adoption of the
standard.

Trade receivables

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified
approach to measuring expected credit losses
which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance
for all trade receivables. To measure the
expected credit losses, trade receivables have
been grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics and the days past due.

By using the lifetime ECLs model, an additional
provision for trade receivables of HKD4,155,000
was recognised as at 1 January 2018. See Note
3.1(b) for further details about the calculation of
the loss allowance.



SO FEERER ML NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 EXRESTEERBESE)

2.2 EBIFBERZEH(E)
(a) BEHBHREEREIN [2HMTA] —
RN 72 (48 )
(i) ZHEEREE)
FEUER SR (5B)
72017912 A 31 B &Y & U BR ZUR
BEREEENR2018F1 A 1BHYE
BREEMNHEROT

A20175128318 —REB&EE

B ERIEIRFHE
RnE B P HE ERF IR
BERINTH RS 8

A2018F181H —
REEBMBREERFIRTE

(b) BEBHEESEAE 155 [BPEHK
) IR
EBH RS EAS 1 SRRAEEGH
ERAIE185R M6 - 3 BA B A B
2 ANRALRANEEREENS
57 5 RO R -

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.2 Changes in accounting policies (Continued)
(a) HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” — impact of adoption
(Continued)
(i) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Trade receivables (Continued)
The loss allowance for trade receivables as at 31
December 2017 reconciled to the opening loss
allowance on 1 January 2018 is as follows:

R AR

Loss allowance

TAT
HKD'000

At 31 December 2017 — calculated
under HKAS 39 23,189

Amounts additionally provided on
adoption of HKFRS 9 4,155

At 1 January 2018 — calculated
under HKFRS 9 27,344

(b) HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”
— Impact of adoption
HKFRS 15 replaces the provisions of HKAS 18, which
resulted in changes in accounting policies that relate to
revenue recognition, contract costs and presentation of
contract assets and liabilities.
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2.2
(b)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”
— Impact of adoption

The Group has adopted HKFRS 15 “Revenue from
Contracts with Customers” from 1 January 2018
which resulted in changes in accounting policies
and adjustments to the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements. In accordance with
the transition provisions in HKFRS 15, the Group has
adopted the new rules retrospectively and has restated
comparatives for the 2017 financial year as follows:

BREEAGE REEAWBRE
R 185RA ERIE155 R
20171248318 20179 12A31H
ZRHEE ZEREE
Carrying Carrying
amount as at amount as
31 December at 31 December
2017 2017
under HKAS 18  Reclassification under HKFRS 15
FHAT FHT THET
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000
=K Liabilities
JES R R EAM I FIE  Trade and other payables 568,183 (149,697) 418,486
BRRE Contract liabilities - 149,697 149,697
st Total 568,183 - 568,183

REXRWNEBH B REERFE 15
e AEBBEMSBEAIEMAE
REEMENKIE]NEFEEWRKIE
149,697,000 B TEFMHEE[EGHE
&) B b  RAMBFBHBR
HEAFISHE AN EEN2017F12H
NEMEHUBEHRRILBEBEATE -
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The Group reclassified the receipt in advance from
customers HKD 149,697,000 previously classified as
“Trade and other payables” to “Contract Liabilities”
upon the initial adoption of HKFRS 15. Except for the
above impact, there is no significant impact to the
Group'’s consolidated financial statements as at 31
December 2017 on the adoption of HKFRS15.
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2.3
2.3.1

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Subsidiaries

Consolidation

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity)
over which the Group has control. The Group controls
an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights
to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity
and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which control is transferred to the
Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that
control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to
account to business combinations by the Group as (a)
below.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between Group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment
of the transferred asset. When necessary, amounts
reported by subsidiaries have been adjusted to
conform with the Group's accounting policies.

(a) Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method
to account for business combinations. The
consideration transferred for the acquisition
of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets
transferred, the liabilities incurred to the
former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group. The consideration
transferred includes the fair value of any asset or
liability resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a
business combination are measured initially at
their fair values at the acquisition date.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Subsidiaries (Continued)

2.3.1 Consolidation (Continued)

(a)

Business combinations (Continued)

The Group recognises any non-controlling
interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-
acquisition basis. Non-controlling interests in the
acquiree that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of the entity’s net assets in the event of
liquidation are measured at either fair value or
the present ownership interests’ proportionate
share in the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other components
of non-controlling interests are measured at
their acquisition date fair value, unless another
measurement basis is required by HKFRS.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in
stages, the acquisition date carrying value of
the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in
the acquiree is re-measured to fair value at the
acquisition date; any gains or losses arising from
such re-measurement are recognised in profit or
loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred
by the Group is recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the
fair value of the contingent consideration that is
deemed to be an asset or liability is recognised
in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured, and its
subsequent settlement is accounted for within

equity.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Subsidiaries (Continued)

2.3.1 Consolidation (Continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Business combinations (Continued)

The excess of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any
previous equity interest in the acquiree over the
fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired is
recorded as goodwill. If the total of consideration
transferred, non-controlling interest recognised
and previously held interest measured is less than
the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary
acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the
difference is recognised directly in profit or loss.

Changes in ownership interests in
subsidiaries without change of control
Transactions with non-controlling interests that
do not result in loss of control are accounted for
as equity transactions — that is, as transactions
with the owners in their capacity as owners. The
difference between fair value of any consideration
paid and the relevant share acquired of the
carrying amount of net assets of the subsidiary is
recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals
to non-controlling interests without change of
control are also recorded in equity.

Disposals of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control, any
retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its
fair value at the date when control is lost, with the
change in carrying amount recognised in profit or
loss. The fair value is the initial carrying amount
for the purposes of subsequent accounting for
the retained interest as an associate or financial
asset. In addition, any amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in
respect of that entity are accounted for as if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets
or liabilities. It means that amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to profit or loss.
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2

2.3

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
Subsidiaries (Continued)

2.3.2 Separate financial statements

2.4

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost
less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs
of investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted
for by the company on the basis of dividend received
and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving a dividend from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of
the investment in the separate financial statements
exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’s net assets
including goodwill.

Associates

An associate is an entity over which the group
has significant influence but not control, generally
accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and
50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates are
accounted for using the equity method of accounting.
Under the equity method, the investment is initially
recognised at cost, and the carrying amount is
increased or decreased to recognise the investor’s
share of the profit or loss of the investee after the date
of acquisition. The Group's investments in associates
include goodwill identified on acquisition. Upon the
acquisition of the ownership interest in an associate,
any difference between the cost of the associate and
the Group's share of the net fair value of the associate’s
identifiable assets and liabilities is accounted for
as goodwill. Dividends received or receivable from
associates are recognised as a reduction in the carrying
amount of the investment in associates.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Associates (Continued)

The Group's share of post-acquisition profit or loss
is recognised in profit or loss, and its share of post-
acquisition movements in other comprehensive income
is recognised in other comprehensive income with
a corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount
of the investment. When the Group's share of losses
in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the
associate, including any other unsecured receivables,
the group does not recognise further losses, unless it
has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the associate.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether
there is any objective evidence that investments in
associates are impaired. If this is the case, the Group
calculates the amount of impairment as the difference
between the recoverable amount of the associate and
its carrying value and recognises the amount adjacent
to “Share of results of investments in associates” in
profit or loss.

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and
downstream transactions between the Group and
its associate are recognised in the Group's financial
statements only to the extent of unrelated investor’s
interests in the associates. Unrealised losses are
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence
of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting
policies of associates have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies

adopted by the Group.

Gains or losses on dilution of equity interest in
associates are recognised in profit or loss.
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2.5

2.6
(a)

(b)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to the
chief operating decision-maker. The chief operating
decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating
resources and assessing performance of the operating
segments, has been identified as the executive
directors of the Company (“Executive Directors”).

Foreign currency translation

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of
the Group's entities are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in HKD, which is
the Company’s functional currency and the Group’s
presentation currency. The Company’s Hong Kong and
PRC subsidiaries regard HKD and Renminbi (“RMB”) as
their respective functional currencies.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of
such transactions and from the translation at year-
end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in
profit or loss.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to
borrowings and cash and cash equivalents are
presented in profit or loss within ‘finance cost, net’. All
other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented
in profit or loss within ‘other gains/(losses), net'.

Translation differences on non-monetary financial
assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss
as part of the fair value gain or loss. Translation
differences on non-monetary financial assets, such
as equities classified as fair value through other
comprehensive income, are included in other
comprehensive income.
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(c)

(d)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

Group companies

The results and financial position of all group entities
(none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different
from the presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

(i) Assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at the
closing rate at the date of that balance sheet;

(i) Income and expenses for each income statement
are translated at average exchange rates (unless
this average is not a reasonable approximation
of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing
on the transaction dates, in which case income
and expenses are translated at the dates of the
transactions); and

(iii)  All resulting exchange differences are recognised
as a separate component of other comprehensive
income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising
from the translation of the net investment in foreign
operations are taken to other comprehensive income.

Disposal of foreign operation and partial disposal

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a
disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign
operation), all of the currency translation differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the owners of the company are
reclassified to profit or loss.

In the case of a partial disposal that does not result
in the Group losing control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, the proportionate share
of accumulated currency translation differences are
re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are not
recognised in profit or loss.
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2.7

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

All property, plant and equipment are stated at
historical costs less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment charge. Historical cost
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are
charged to profit or loss during the financial period in
which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line
method to allocate their cost to their residual values
over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Shorter of remaining
lease term or useful lives

Leasehold improvements

Motor vehicles five years

Furniture and office three to five years
equipment

Advertising fixtures three to ten years

Buildings twenty years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount
is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note
2.12).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing proceeds with carrying amount and are
recognised within ‘other gains/(losses), net’ in profit or
loss.
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2.9

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Land use rights

Land use rights represents payment of land use rights
to the PRC’s land bureau. Land use rights is carried
at cost less accumulated amortisation and impaired
losses. Amortisation is provided to write off the cost of
land use rights on a straight-line basis over the periods
of right which is forty years.

Investment properties
Investment properties are held for long-term rental
yields for capital appreciation or both, and are not
occupied by the Group.

Land held under operating leases are accounted for as
investment properties when the rest of the definition of
an investment property is met. The operating lease is
accounted for as if it were a finance lease.

Investment properties are measured initially at its
cost, including related transaction costs and where
applicable borrowing costs. After initial recognition at
cost, investment properties are carried at fair value,
representing open market value determined at each
reporting date by external valuers. Fair value is based
on active market prices, adjusted, if necessary, for
any difference in the nature, location or condition of
the specific asset. If the information is not available,
the Group uses alternative valuation methods such as
recent prices on less active markets or discounted cash
flow projections. Changes in fair values are presented
in profit or loss as part of other income.

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised to the asset’s
carrying amount only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance costs are
expensed in profit or loss during the financial period in
which they are incurred.

Investment properties are derecognised either when
they have been disposed of or when the investment
properties are permanently withdrawn from use and no
future economic benefit is expected from its disposals.
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2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.10 Intangible assets

2.1

Software

Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on
the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to
use the specific software, and are amortised over their
estimated useful lives of five years.

Brand name

Brand name acquired in a business combination
are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
They have a finite useful life of ten years and are
subsequently carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses.

Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries
and represents the excess of the consideration
transferred over Group's interest in fair values of the
net identifiable assets and liabilities and contingent
liabilities of the acquiree and the fair value of the non-
controlling interest in the acquiree.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is allocated to each
of the cash-generating units (“CGUs"), or groups of
CGUs, that is expected to benefit from the synergies of
the combination. Each unit or group of units to which
the goodwill is allocated represents the lowest level
within the entity at which the goodwill is monitored for
internal management purposes. Goodwill is monitored
at the operating segment level.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken
annually or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate a potential impairment.
The carrying value of goodwill is compared to the
recoverable amount, which is the higher of value in use
and the fair value less costs to sell. Any impairment
is recognised immediately as an expense and is not
subsequently reversed.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.12 Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life or are not
yet available for use are not subject to amortisation
and are tested annually for impairment. Assets are
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may
not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised
for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs
to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels
for which there are separately identifiable cash flows
(cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than
goodwill that suffered impairment are reviewed for
possible reversal of the impairment at the end of each
reporting date.

2.13 Financial assets

(i)

Classification

From 1 January 2018, the Group classifies its financial
assets as financial assets at fair value (either through
other comprehensive income (“OCI”) or through profit
or loss), and at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business
model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses
will either be recorded in profit or loss or OCI. For
investments in equity instruments that are not held
for trading, this will depend on whether the Group
has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial
recognition to account for the equity investment at
FVOCI.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only

when its business model for managing those assets
changes.
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(ii)

(iii)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.13 Financial assets (Continued)

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets
are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows
from the financial assets have expired or have been
transferred and the Group has transferred substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at FVPL, transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset.
Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVPL are
expensed in profit or loss.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model for managing
the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset.
There are three measurement categories into which the
Group classifies its debt instruments:

° Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash
flows represent solely payments of principal and
interest are measured at amortised cost. Interest
income from these financial assets is included in
finance income using the effective interest rate
method. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition
is recognised directly in profit or loss and
presented in other gains/(losses) together with
foreign exchange gains and losses.
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Debt instruments (Continued)

o FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling the financial
assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest, are
measured at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying
amount are taken through OCI, except for
the recognition of impairment gains or losses,
interest income and foreign exchange gains and
losses which are recognised in profit or loss.
When the financial asset is derecognised, the
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in
OCl is reclassified from equity to profit or loss
and recognised in other gains/(losses). Interest
income from these financial assets is included in
finance income using the effective interest rate
method. Foreign exchange gains and losses are
presented in other gains/(losses) and impairment
expenses are presented in profit or loss.

o FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for
amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVPL.
A gain or loss on a debt investment that is
subsequently measured at FVPL is recognised
in profit or loss and presented net within other
gains/(losses) in the period in which it arises.

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group's
management has elected to present fair value gains
and losses on equity investments in OCI, there is no
subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and
losses to profit or loss following the derecognition
of the investment. Dividends from such investments
continue to be recognised in profit or loss as other
income when the Group's right to receive payments is
established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL
are recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses (and
reversal of impairment losses) on equity investments
measured at FVOCI are not reported separately from
other changes in fair value.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.13 Financial assets (Continued)

(iv)

(v)

Impairment

From 1 January 2018, the Group assesses on a forward
looking basis the expected credit losses associated
with its debt instruments carried at amortised cost and
FVOCI. The impairment methodology applied depends
on whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk. For trade receivables, the Group applies
the simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which
requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised
from initial recognition of the receivables.

Accounting policies applied until 31 December 2017
The Group has applied HKFRS 9 retrospectively, but
has elected not to restate comparative information.
As a result, the comparative information provided
continues to be accounted for in accordance with the
Group's previous accounting policy.

Until 31 December 2017, the Group classifies its
financial assets in the following categories:

e financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
° Available-for-sale financial assets; and
° loans and receivables

The classification determined on the purpose for
which the investments were acquired. Management
determined the classification of its investments at initial
recognition.

(i) Subsequent measurement
The measurement at initial recognition did not
change an adoption of HKFRS 9, see description
above.

Subsequent to the initial, recognition loans
and receivables were subsequently carried
at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.13 Financial assets (Continued)

Accounting policies applied until 31 December 2017
(Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)
Available-for-sale financial assets and financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss were
subsequently carried at fair values. Gains or
losses arising from changes in the fair value are
recognised as follows:

J for “financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss” — in profit or loss within other
gains/(losses)

. for available-for-sale financial assets that
are monetary securities denominated in a
foreign currency — translation differences
related to changes in the amortised cost of
the security were recognised in profit or loss
and other changes in the carrying amount
were recognised in other comprehensive
income

o for other monetary and non-monetary
securities classified as available-for-sale —
in other comprehensive income.

Impairment

The Group assessed at the end of each reporting
period whether there was objective evidence that
a financial asset or group of financial assets was
impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial
assets was impaired and impairment losses were
incurred only if there was objective evidence of
impairment as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the asset
(a 'loss event’) and that loss event (or events) had
an impact on the estimated future cash flows of
the financial asset or group of financial assets
that could be reliably estimated. In the case of
equity investments classified as available-for-sale,
a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value
of the security below its cost was considered an
indicator that the assets are impaired.

Asiaray Media Group Limited 2018 Annual Report 123



S OFE MR R MIEE  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 EXRESTEERBESE)

213 SREEE)
(v) [EFZE2017F12831 8987 KE

(%)

(ii)

BAE ()
REREXERER 2K —AE
BABHEAMBRE BOX
R B A S LA R AR E R E K
RIVHEMMBEENTR - RETR
At ARB S RE L BRI T ER D
(P an 3 R RIA R 2 K98 B AR
PIRLE B ) B R BL R BN o

HRERREKRIE - BESER
ZEENFAEMAZEREE
B R ERR A R R M AR IR
MENRE(NEE R RELR R
REEBR) ZENEZEAE - %
BEREES TR BESHA
AIEBERER - WEIBNXE
X ARG ERER BRI REIR R
RERMEATEENENERA
K ERAITTHREDE  AKE
ARERAAIBEERMHESHNTA
NHERTERIE °

EERBRE - HREBEN SRR
Do R D B RERR R (B 1R P
M= (MEBAERIRLT)E
EHME - AEEAERRNRE
BRI N B MRER o

RAHREESREENS @ WEE
MEZEBER  RtBRGZEE
RABRBEAFENERE  BZE
B & B 2 AR 18 25 R W AR A (R ADAR
EEBE)aRRSR &R
mARTER o

B @EEEEERAF 2018 FiR 124

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.13 Financial assets (Continued)

Accounting policies applied until 31 December 2017
(Continued)

(ii)

Impairment (Continued)

Evidence of impairment may include indications
that the debtors or a group of debtors is
experiencing significant financial difficulty,
default or delinquency in interest or principal
payments, the probability that they will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation, and
where observable data indicate that there is a
measurable decrease in the estimated future cash
flows, such as changes in arrears or economic
conditions that correlate with defaults.

For loans and receivables, the amount of the
loss was measured as the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows (excluding
future credit losses that had not been incurred)
discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate. The carrying amount of
the asset was reduced and the amount of the
loss was recognised in profit or loss. If a loan
had a variable interest rate, the discount rate for
measuring any impairment loss was the current
effective interest rate determined under the
contract. As a practical expedient, the Group
could measure impairment on the basis of an
instrument'’s fair value using an observable market
price.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the
impairment loss decreased and the decrease
could be related objectively to an event occurring
after the impairment was recognised (such as an
improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the
reversal of the previously recognised impairment
loss was recognised in profit or loss.

For available-for-sale financial assets, if there was
objective evidence of impairment, the cumulative
loss — measured as the difference between the
acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any
impairment loss on that financial asset previously
recognised in profit or loss — was removed from
equity and recognised in profit or loss.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.13 Financial assets (Continued)
(v)  Accounting policies applied until 31 December 2017
(Continued)
(ii) Impairment (Continued)
Impairment losses on equity instruments that
were recognised in profit or loss were not
reversed through profit or loss in a subsequent
period.

If the fair value of a debt instrument classified
as available-for-sale increased in a subsequent
period and the increase could be objectively
related to an event occurring after the impairment
loss was recognised in profit or loss, the
impairment loss was reversed through profit or
loss.

2.14 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the consolidated balance sheet
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
the recognised amounts and there is an intention to
settle on a net basis or realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously. The legally enforceable right
must not be contingent on future events and must be
enforceable in the normal course of business and in
the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the
company or the counterparty.

2.15 Inventories
Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost comprises all costs of purchase.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of
those inventories is recognised as an expense in the
period in which the related revenue is recognised.
The amount of any write-down of inventories to net
realisable value and all losses of inventories are
recognised as an expense in the period the write-down
or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-
down of inventories is recognised as a reduction in the
amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the
period in which the reversal occurs.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.16 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers or
agents for merchandise sold or services performed in
the ordinary course of business. If collection of trade
and other receivables is expected in one year or less,
they are classified as current assets. Otherwise, they
are presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially
at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method, less provision
for impairment.

2.17 Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held
at call with banks and other short-term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or
less. Bank deposits with original maturities over three
months but less than one year are classified as short-
term bank deposits.

2.18 Share capital and shares held for employee share

scheme

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental
costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or
share options are shown in equity as a deduction, net
of tax, from the proceeds.

Where any group company purchases the Company’s
equity instruments, the consideration paid, including
any directly attributable incremental costs (net of
income taxes) is deducted from equity attributable to
the owners of the Company as treasury shares until the
shares are cancelled or reissued. Where such ordinary
shares are subsequently reissued, any consideration
received, net of any directly attributable incremental
transaction costs and the related income tax effects,
is included in equity attributable to the owners of the
Company. Shares held by the share award scheme trust
are disclosed as treasury shares and deducted from
contributed equity.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.19 Perpetual subordinated convertible securities

Perpetual subordinated convertible securities issued by
the Company gives the right to the holder to convert
those securities into a fixed number of the Company’s
shares at any time at a fixed exercise price per share.
The perpetual subordinated convertible securities have
no maturity date and are redeemable at the option of
the Company. These securities are equity instruments.

2.20 Trade and other payables

2.21

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or
services that have been acquired in the ordinary course
of business from suppliers. Trade and other payables
are classified as current liabilities if payment is due
within one year or less. If not, they are presented as
non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.

Borrowings and borrowing costs

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value,
net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently carried at amortised cost. Any difference
between proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the
redemption value is recognised in profit or loss over
their period using the effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the
extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility
will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred
until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no
evidence that it is probable that some or all of the
facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a
pre-payment for liquidity services and amortised over
the period of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least twelve months after the end of
the reporting period.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Asiaray Media Group Limited 2018 Annual Report 127



SO FEERER ML NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

EXEHBEMESE)

2.22 BPHARIEFEFR B

(a)

(b)

FRARBEAX BB MELERE - &
AR B ARIER - WA ES RN EA
s R EEN EaERRIEE A
BRON - FEUEIBR T - BRI D B E Al
fre Yias sk as P R

BIEBFr 13 5%

BIEAFR 15 5 7 S AR IR AN 2 R RO Y BB 2 =)
RERELRRTBMANB RN &®E M
RERMBABEBERMGHBEFTE - B
EBeEHnEFaEnaEmnmssRT
BB - LEEE BN NRAHREA
AR 795 M A AR ) R SR T HR A o

B35

REEEZR
EXEFSREEERABNHERERE
EHVBRRNERECHNEREZRE
NBEEHER - A - HELEFRSHK
BEXS(TEEEHEH) PHEEN
N ERLHEEXA BNV S ER
MERXZHIFESHBRENERTA
BRI TIIRR - BEFEHEBER
SHRAICRHXNELDRM - LRHE
BRAREHEGHEEZRIELHAER
BEEERERNBRE(FEPERE -

B @EEEEERAF 2018 FiR 128

2

(a)

(b)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.22 Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the year comprises current and
deferred tax. Tax is recognised in profit or loss, except
to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this
case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or in equity, respectively.

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the
basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted
at the end of the reporting period in the countries
where the Company’s subsidiaries operate and
generate taxable income. Management periodically
evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject
to interpretation. It establishes provisions where
appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be
paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax

Inside basis differences

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the consolidated financial statements.
However, the deferred income tax is not accounted for
if it arises from initial recognition of goodwill or the
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction
other than a business combination that at the time of
the transaction neither accounting nor taxable profit
or loss is affected. Deferred income tax is determined
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period and are expected to apply when the related
deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred
income tax liability is settled.
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(b)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.22 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred income tax (Continued)

Inside basis differences (Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities
or deferred tax assets for investment properties
that are measured using fair value model, the
carrying amounts of such properties are presumed
to be recovered entirely through sale, unless the
presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted
when the investment property is depreciable and is
held within a business model whose objective is to
consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment property over time rather
than through sale.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will
be available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised.

Outside basis differences

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided on taxable
temporary differences arising from investments in
subsidiaries and associates, except for deferred income
tax liability where the timing of the reversal of the
temporary difference is controlled by the Group and
it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future. Generally the Group
is unable to control the reversal of the temporary
difference for associates. Only when there is an
agreement in place that gives the group the ability
to control the reversal of the temporary difference in
the foreseeable future, deferred tax liability in relation
to taxable temporary differences arising from the
associate’s undistributed profits is not recognised.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised on
deductible temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries and associates only to the
extent that it is probable the temporary difference
will reverse in the future and there is sufficient taxable
profit available against which the temporary difference
can be utilised.
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2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.22 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(c)

Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and
when the deferred income tax assets and liabilities
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either the taxable entity or different
taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the
balances on a net basis.

2.23 Employee benefits

(a)

(b)

Pension obligations

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under
which the Group pays fixed contributions into a
separate entity. The Group has no legal or constructive
obligations to pay further contributions if the fund
does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the
benefits relating to employee service in the current and
prior periods.

The Group’s PRC subsidiaries and Hong Kong
subsidiaries contribute on a monthly basis to various
defined contribution plans and the mandatory
provident fund plan in Hong Kong, respectively. The
Group has no further payment obligations once the
contributions have been paid. The contributions are
recognised as employee benefit expense when they
are due. Assets of the plans of the PRC subsidiaries are
held and managed by the relevant PRC government
authorities; while assets of the plans of the Hong Kong
subsidiaries are held in separate trustee-administrated
funds in Hong Kong. The assets of the plans are
separated from those of the Group.

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of
services rendered by employees up to the end of the
reporting period. Employee entitlements to sick and
maternity leave are not recognised until the time of
leave.
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(a)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.24 Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

The Group operates a number of equity-settled, share-
based compensation plans, under which the entity
receives services from employees as consideration for
equity instruments of the Group.

Employee options

The fair value of the employee services received in
exchange for the grant of the options is recognised
as an expense. The total amount to be expensed is
determined by reference to the fair value of the options
granted:

o including any market performance conditions (for
example, an entity’s share price);

o excluding the impact of any service and non-
market performance vesting conditions (for
example, profitability, sales growth targets and
remaining an employee of the entity over a
specified time period); and

o including the impact of any non-vesting
conditions (for example, the requirement for
employees to save or holding shares for a
specified period of time).

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
revises its estimates of the number of options that
are expected to vest based on the non-marketing
performance and service conditions. It recognises the
impact of the revision to original estimates, if any,
in profit or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to

equity.

In addition, in some circumstances employees may
provide services in advance of the grant date and
therefore the grant date fair value is estimated for the
purposes of recognising the expense during the period
between service commencement period and grant
date.

When the options are exercised, the Company issues
new shares. The proceeds received net of any directly
attributable transaction costs are credited to share
capital and share premium.
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(a)

(b)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.24 Share-based payments (Continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
(Continued)

If an equity award is cancelled by forfeiture, when the
vesting conditions (other than market conditions) have
not been met, any expense not yet recognised for that
award, as at the date of forfeiture, is treated as if it had
never been recognised. At the same time, any expense
previously recognised on such cancelled equity awards
are reversed from the accounts effective as at the date
of forfeiture.

Employee share award scheme

Under the employee share award scheme, shares
issued by the Employee Share Trust to employees for
no cash consideration vest immediately on grant date.
On this date, the market value of the shares issued is
recognised as an employee benefits expense with a
corresponding increase in equity.

Share-based payment transactions among Group entities
The grant by the Company of options over its
equity instruments to the employees of subsidiary
undertakings in the Group is treated as a capital
contribution. The fair value of employee services
received, measured by reference to the grant date
fair value, is recognised over the vesting period as an
increase to investment in subsidiary undertakings, with
a corresponding credit to equity in the parent entity
accounts.

2.25 Warrant reserve

Warrants issued by the Company that will be settled
by a fixed amount of cash for a fixed number of
the Company’s own equity instruments are equity
instruments. The consideration from the issue of
warrants are recognised in equity (warrant reserve).
The warrant reserve will be transferred to share capital
and share premium accounts upon the exercise of the
warrants. When the warrants are still not exercised at
the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in
the warrant reserve will be transferred to accumulated
profits.
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Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result of
past events; it is probable that an outflow of resources
will be required to settle the obligation; and the
amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not
recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow of resources will be required
in settlement is determined by considering the class
of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised
even if the likelihood of an outflow of resources with
respect to any one item included in the same class of
obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in
the provision due to passage of time is recognised as
interest expense.

2.27 Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured when or as the control of
the goods or services is transferred to a customer.
Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws
that apply to the contract, control of the goods and
services may be transferred over time or at a point in
time. Control of the goods and services is transferred
over time if the Group's performance:

o provides all of the benefits received and
consumed simultaneously by the customer; or

. creates and enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

. does not create an asset with an alternative use to

the Group and the Group has an enforceable right
to payment for performance completed to date.
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2.27 Revenue recognition (Continued)
If control of the goods and services transfers over time,
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revenue is recognised over the period of the contract
by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation. The Group
use the output methods to measuring the progress
towards, that recognise revenue based on direct
measurements of the value transferred to the customer.
Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the goods and
services.

Contracts with customers may include multiple
performance obligations. For such arrangements,
the Group allocates revenue to each performance
obligation based on its relative standalone selling
price. The Group generally determines standalone
selling prices based on the prices charged to
customers. If the standalone selling price is not
directly observable, it is estimated using expected
cost plus a margin or adjusted market assessment
approach, depending on the availability of observable
information. Assumptions and estimations have been
made in estimating the relative selling price of each
distinct performance obligation, and changes in
judgements on these assumptions and estimates may
impact the revenue recognition.

When either party to a contract has performed, the
Group presents the contract in the consolidated
balance sheet as a contract assets or a contract liability,
depending on the relationship between the entity’s
performance and the customer’s payment.

A contract asset is the Group's right to consideration
in exchange for goods and services that the Group has
transferred to a customer. A receivable is recorded
when the Group has an unconditional right to
consideration. A right to consideration is unconditional
if only the passage of time is required before payment
of the consideration is due.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.27 Revenue recognition (Continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

If a customer pays consideration or the Group
has a right to an amount of consideration that is
unconditional, before the Group transfers a good
or service to the customer, the Group presents the
contract liability when the payment is made or a
receivable is recorded (whichever is earlier). A contract
liability is the Group's obligation to transfer goods
or services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration)
is due from the customer.

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable, and represents
amounts receivable for services rendered, stated net of
discounts and value-added taxes.

Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue
can be reliably measured, it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and specific
criteria have been met for each of the Group’s activities
as described below. The Group bases its estimates
on historical results, taking into consideration the
type of customer, the type of transaction and the
specifics of each arrangement. The Group records
account receivables when the revenue recognised
since the Group has unconditional rights to payments
of advertising services which are due according to the
contract terms.

Advertising display services

Revenue from advertising display services is
recognised on a straight-line basis over the
performance period for which the advertisements are

displayed.

Advertising production, installation and dismantling
services

Revenue from advertising production, installation and
dismantling services is recognised at a point in time
when the related advertisements is produced, installed
or dismantled.

Advertising consulting service

Revenue from rendering of consulting services is
recognised over the period in which the services are
rendered.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.27 Revenue recognition (Continued)

(d) Rental income
Rental income from operating lease of properties is
recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over
the term of the lease.

(e)  Principal versus agent consideration
Determining whether revenue of the Group should
be reported gross or net is based on a continuing
assessment of various factors. When determining
whether the Group is acting as the principal or agent in
offering goods or services to the customer, the Group
needs to first identify who controls the specified goods
or services before they are transferred to the customer.
The Group is a principal and obtains control any of the
following: (i) a good or another asset from the other
party that the Group then transfers to the customer;
(ii) a right to a service to be performed by the other
party, which gives the Group the ability to direct that
party to provide the service to the customer on the
Group's behalf; (iii) a good or service from the other
party that the Group then combines with other goods
or services in providing the specified good or service
to the customer. If control is unclear, when the Group
is primarily obligated in a transaction, is subject to
inventory risk, has latitude in establishing prices and
selecting suppliers, or has several but not all of these
indicators, the Group records revenues on a gross
basis. Otherwise, the Group records the net amount
earned as commissions from products sold or services

provided.

The Group has evaluated the roles and responsibilities
of the Group and the agents in rendering the relevant
services and concluded that the Group has the
primarily obligation in rendering the services and has
the sole latitude in establishing prices. Accordingly, the
Group records the revenue driven through agents on a
gross basis, and the commissions paid to those agents
are records as sale commission as included in selling
and marketing expenses.

The transaction price allocated to the performance
obligations that are unsatisfied, or partially unsatisfied,
has not been disclosed, as substantially all of the
Group’s contracts have a duration of one year or less.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.28 Interest income

Interest income is presented as finance income where
it is earned from financial assets that are held for cash
management purposes. Any other interest income is
included in other income.

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset except for financial assets that subsequently
become credit-impaired. For credit-impaired financial
assets, the effective interest rate is applied to the net
carrying amount of the financial asset (after deduction
of the loss allowance).

2.29 Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the right to
receive payment is established.

2.30 Government grants

2.31

Grants from government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the
grants will be received and the Group will comply with
all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred
and recognised in the profit or loss over the period
necessary to match them with the costs that they are
intended to compensate.

Concession fee charges for advertising spaces

The Group enters into concession right agreements
with media resources owners such as metro lines and
airports, under which the Group obtains the right
to use the media resources owners’ spaces for the
display of the advertisements. The concession rights
agreements under which significant portion of the
risks and rewards of ownership are retained by media
resources owners are treated as operating lease
arrangements.
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2

2.31

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Concession fee charges for advertising spaces
(Continued)

The concession fees payable to media resources
owners were typically comprised of a minimum
guaranteed amount with yearly escalation and/
or a percentage share of the revenue earned from
the operations (the commission fees). The minimum
guaranteed concession fees with yearly escalation are
charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over
the agreement periods and the commission fees were
recognised in the period in which they are actually
incurred.

2.32 Leases

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and
rewards of ownership are retained by lessors are
classified as operating leases. Payments made under
operating leases (net of any incentives received from
the lessor) are charged to profit or loss on a straight-
line basis over the period of the lease.

Lease income from operating leases where the group is
a lessor is recognised in income on a straight-line basis
over the lease term. The respective leased assets are
included in the consolidated balance sheet based on
their nature.

2.33 Dividends distribution

Dividends distribution to the shareholders is
recognised as a liability in the consolidated financial
statement in the period in which the dividend is
approved by the shareholders or the Board, where
appropriate.
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(a)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial
risk factors: market risk (including foreign exchange
risk, cash flow and fair value interest rate risk and
price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's
overall risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's
financial performance. Risk management is carried out
by the senior management of the Group and approved
by the Board.

Market risk

(i) Foreign exchange risk
The Group’s PRC subsidiaries carried out their
operations activities in the PRC with majority of
the transactions denominated in RMB. As the
conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is
subject to the rules and regulations of foreign
exchange control promulgated by the PRC
government, the directors of the Company
consider no significant exposure on the foreign
exchange risk. The exchange differences arising
upon translation of net assets of subsidiaries
with functional currencies in RMB to HKD are
recognised as currency translation differences
and recorded as part of other comprehensive
income.

As less than 10% of the Group's foreign currency
transactions are denominated in other foreign
currencies, the directors of the Company are of
the view that exchange difference recognised in
profit or loss arise from transactions denominated
in other foreign currencies is not material.
Therefore, no sensitivity analysis for these
currencies is presented.
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3.1
(a)

Borrowings at fixed rate
Borrowings at floating rate

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(ii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
The Group's interest rate risk arises from interest-
bearing short-term bank deposits and bank
borrowings. Short-term bank deposits and bank
borrowings issued at variable rates expose
the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. Bank
borrowings at fixed rates expose the Group to fair
value interest rate risk.

Other than interest-bearing short-term bank
deposits, the Group has no other significant
interest-bearing assets. The directors of the
Company do not anticipate there is any significant
impact to interest-bearing assets resulted from
the changes in interest rates, because the
interest rates of short-term bank deposits are not
expected to change significantly.

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Group's
interest-bearing borrowings at variable rates and
fixed rates were as follows:

M12H31H

As at 31 December
20184 20174
2018 2017
F&ET TET
HKD’000 HKD’'000
58,122 55,226
210,884 89,124
269,006 144,350
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3 B EREE &) 3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 BBERRERER(E) 3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a) WMEEE(E) (a) Market risk (Continued)

(i) BERERAFEMNEEBE) (ii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
(Continued)

HZE2018F N2017F12A318 1k For the years ended 31 December 2018 and
FE o WERNESFERLEFH, T 2017, if the floating interest rate on borrowings
P& 100 & £ 26 (2017 F = 50{.% had been higher/lower by 100 basis points (2017:
) MAEHMEEREFTE 50 basis points) with all other variables held
RReNESeEE IKEEIE’\\@ constant, the post-tax profit would have changed
EjﬁlJT%%’(E’Jﬂ,%ﬁ:ﬂiJ:ﬂ-/—FB% mainly as a result of higher/lower interest
FREL - BMLFFIFT : expenses on floating rate borrowings. Details of

changes are as follows:

M®12A31H
As at 31 December
20184 20174
2018 2017
THERT FHT
HKD'000 HKD’000
W), (Decrease)/increase
—_EF100(20174 : 50){EEZ — 100 (2017: 50) basis points higher (750) (58)
—TBF&100(20174F : 50){EEE — 100 (2017: 50) basis points lower 750 58
HZE2018F K2017F12A31H 1k For the years ended 31 December 2018 and
FE - WEROEEME AT 2017, if the fixed interest rate on borrowings
P& 1001 & 25 (2017 € : 501& & had been higher/lower by 100 basis points
) MABEMEEEZTIE - (2017: 50 basis points) with all other variables
{%?ﬁ(ﬁ’] ANFEBSEE  TBHRN held constant, the fair value of the borrowings
BEFHMSRASZ £ TRAT would have changed mainly as a result of higher/
ﬁl o BYLEFIFAT lower interest expenses on fixed rate borrowings.

Details of changes are as follows:

R12A31H
As at 31 December
20184 20174
2018 2017
THxT FHTT
HKD’'000 HKD'000
CRA),/#m (Decrease)/increase
— EF100(20174F : 50){EEE — 100 (2017: 50) basis points higher 211 253
— T F£100(20174F : 50){EE 2L — 100 (2017: 50) basis points lower (211) (253)
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3.1
(a)

(b)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(iii) Price risk
The Group is exposed to price risk because
of investments held by the Group, which are
classified as financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss and financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income (2017:
available-for-sale financial assets). The Group is
not exposed to commodity price risk.

The sensitivity analysis is determined based on
the exposure to price risk of the financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss and financial
assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income (2017: available-for-sale financial assets)
at the end of each reporting period. If the
fair values of the financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss held by the Group had
been 5% higher/lower, post-tax profit would be
HKD248,000 and HKD249,000 higher/lower, for
the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017,
respectively. If the fair values of the financial
assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income (2017: available-for-sale financial assets)
held by the Group had been 5% higher/lower,
the other comprehensive income would be
HKD381,000 and HKD351,000 higher/lower, for
the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017,
respectively.

Credit risk

Credit risk mainly arises from short-term bank deposits,
restricted cash, bank balances, trade and other
receivables excluding prepayments, financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss and financial assets
at fair value through other comprehensive income
(2017: available-for-sale financial assets). The maximum
exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying
amount of each financial asset in the consolidated
balance sheets.

Credit risk is managed on a group basis. Management
has policies in place and exposures to these credit risks
are monitored on an ongoing basis.
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3.1
(b)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
Financial risk factors (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

To mitigate the risk arising from bank deposits,
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
and financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income, the Group places their bank
deposits and investments classified as financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss and financial assets
at fair value through other comprehensive income
to certain reputable banks with a minimum rating of
“investment grade” ranked by an independent party
or financial institutions with high credit quality. The
directors of the Company does not expect any loss
arising from non-performance by these counterparties.

Trade receivables, other receivables and deposits are
continuously monitored by assessing the credit quality
of respective counterparties, taking into account its
financial position, past experience and other factors.
When necessary, the Group will make specific provision
for those balances which cannot be recovered apart
from the general provision arise from the expected
credit loss model. The Group does not obtain collateral
from customers.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented

by the carrying amounts of each financial assets in the
consolidated balance sheet.
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3.1
(b)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
Financial risk factors (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group has the following types of financial assets
that are subject to the expected credit loss model:

o Trade and other receivables
o Short-term bank deposits

o Restricted cash

e  Cash and cash equivalents

o Debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide
expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which
permits the use of the lifetime expected loss model
for all trade receivables from third parties and contract
assets.

To measure the expected credit losses, trade
receivables have been grouped based on shared credit
risk characteristics and the days past due.

The loss allowances of trade receivables are based on
assumptions about the risk of default and expected
loss rate. The Group uses judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculation, mainly base on the historical payment
profiles of sales and the corresponding historical credit
losses rate, current and forward-looking information on
macro-economic factors at the end of each reporting
period.
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3 BMEEEEEZ) 3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 MERABEER(E) 3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) 1=EEE(E) (b)  Credit risk (Continued)
SRMEEREE) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
7201812 A31H %2018 1 A1 A (3% The loss for impairment of trade receivables as at 31
MBEE B REERFEIFRAH) EUER December 2018 and 1 January 2018 (on adoption of
RZBEBBEEENT : HKFRS 9) was determined as follows:

6fBAZ
R56EA 1288  1§Z2F 2E3% IFRL it
Upto 6 months 1 year 2 years Over

2018124318 31 December 2018 6months to12months  to2years  to3years 3 years Total
Tin TiEn TR TiEn TiEn TiEn
HKD'000  HKD'000  HKD'000  HKD'000  HKD'000  HKD'000

g Expected loss rate 0.46% 0.58% 10.18% 45.82% 97.84%
RERE Gross carrying amount 397,028 69,027 22,716 16,321 16,962 522,054
BRRE Loss allowance 1,826 401 2,313 7479 16,596 28,615

6ERZE
5%6fER 1288 16526 26E3F 3ENL At
Up to 6 months lyearto  2yearsto Over

201851R1H 1 January 2018 6 months to 12 months 2 years 3 years 3 years Total
Thx TEn Tén Tén Thn T
HKD'000  HKD'000  HKD'000  HKD'000  HKD'000  HKD'000

il Expected loss rate 0.64% 0.51% 14.84% 72.22% 94.39%
HELE Gross carrying amount 331,480 58,786 26,030 8,481 15803 440,580
FERRE Loss allowance 2,138 302 3,863 6,125 14,916 27,344
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b)  Credit risk (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
The closing loss allowance for trade receivables as at
31 December 2018 reconciling to the opening loss
allowances as follows:

TAT
HKD'000

MN2017F12A31MB—REBBS
HREI9E
FREVIRBEFES K
]

R2018F1B1H—REEBHBRE
ERFEIRFTE
R ER TR A BB 12 N

TR EFE O H B W AR K 7=
LS
X ER

R2018512A31H

ETFEAKENGEELRE - A&H
SMHEWRR - THEERKRENAE
EHERER(EPER) EHFAREE
REBERERE - UREERE L
THERIERB AN -
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31 December 2017 — calculated under

HKAS 39 23,189
Amount restated through opening
retained earnings 4,155

As at 1 January 2018 — calculated under

HKFRS 9 27,344
Increase in loss allowance recognised

in profit or loss 4,728
Receivables written off during the year

as uncollectible (2,199)
Exchange differences (1,258)
At 31 December 2018 28,615

Trade receivables are written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that
there is no reasonable expectation of recovery include,
amongst others, the failure of a debtor to engage in a
repayment plan with the Group, and a failure to make
contractual payments upon termination of projects.
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3.1
(b)

(c)

R EEE)
MiEREEEE)

=EEfE (4E)

SRMEEREE)
2018412 A31H X2018%F1 81 A (3%
MBEBMBHMEERFEIFRAH) - A&
EEERE A% WERKKI12ES
WA RE A B NS 2 BT EER M
FEWGRIE ~ TR RIEAFESAE AL
AENESRERS T —@/AESEE
BHEE AR ESERE  REBER
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BEH SRS EEBMNEETES
BIISsREERIFEIFMBERT - R
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BEETATERK -
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AEEFEREBRARRERASEFE
Y- ARNEBEEFONBREE - AKE
M BERERERRERATEHE
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HIE R ERRmmETER  AERE
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BEgHmE -

TERDAREcRABREHREERSE
B HEIE B &R R HIRE 2 AR B Y B B
MPETON - RN BEEER/AHN
RURMBAERE -

3.1
(b)

(c)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
Financial risk factors (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

As at 31 December 2018 and 1 January 2018 (on
adoption of HKFRS 9), the Group has applied the
general approach and recorded 12-month expected
credit losses on its other receivables and deposits
and debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income based on the estimated loss of
possible default events within the next twelve months.
The directors of the Company has considered that the
allowance on impairment loss is immaterial.

While cash and cash equivalents are also subject to the
impairment requirements of HKFRS 9, the identified
impairment loss by the directors of the Company was
determined to be immaterial at 31 December 2018 and
upon initial adoption on 1 January 2018.

Liquidity risk

The Group aims to maintain sufficient cash and
cash equivalents. Due to the dynamic nature of the
underlying businesses, the Group's finance department
maintains flexibility in funding by maintaining adequate
cash and cash equivalents. The Group regularly
monitor compliance with lending covenants, to
ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and
readily realisable marketable securities and adequate
committed lines of funding from major financial
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the
short and longer term.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on
the remaining period at the balance sheet date to the
contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the
table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.
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3 BMEEEEEZ) 3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.1 MERABEER(E) 3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(c) mEMEEE) (c) Liquidity risk (Continued)

PME 1225 2855 5L L At

Between Between
Less than 1and 2 2and 5 Over 5

1 year years years years Total
TAT TRT TAT TRT TRT
HKD’000 HKD'000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD'000

M2018%12831H At 31 December 2018
ER(AEMAME) Borrowings
(principal plus interest) 198,130 37,932 31,919 - 267,981

ARG REMEMNZIE  Trade and other payables
(TEEEMENFE) (excluding other taxes

payable) 567,173 - - - 567,173
st Total 765,303 37,932 31,919 - 835,154
M2017F12A831A8 At 31 December 2017
ER(RSMME) Borrowings
(principal plus interest) 134,836 11,341 3,741 = 149,918
FER RS R H MR Trade and other payables
FE(TaEE K (excluding advances
EFREAFTER received from customers
HEEATHIE) and other taxes payable) 411,571 - - - 411,571
Mt Total 546,407 11,341 3,741 - 561,489
3.2 EXEHE 3.2 Capital management
AEEEBERNBREREREEE The Group's objectives when managing capital are to
FERE - ARRR AR08, K& A H A safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going
MR E SR - WA RIZEN concern in order to provide returns to the shareholders
BAREEABRRERKAK - and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.
BB AR ERERE  KEBAREFE In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
BYXNTRENKRESHE « MKRERE Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to the
BEAR - BOHBROSREEEENRDE shareholders, return capital to the shareholders, issue
% e new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.
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3.3

MBRBERE)

EXEE(E)

HAMRAREME -2 AEENENR
BELREREAR - W XRZR(A
)/ EBFERNEERAE - (R
&)/ ERFEARBRER(BRANEE
BEXRMIIN [RE) R IEREE )R
RekReEEBYHE - BEXDAR
A AEGER RIEEREEMNCGR
&)/ ERFE -

R2017F 2018128318 » A&EH
HEFRESMAN  WEBEEEABLER
W@ e

ATEEH
TREGEETESFTRATEIRNS
BIE - TAEMHERDT :

s RBBEEXRBREEMSTHR
BOREAE) (B1R) -

s EBEHAMBAERZ(BER)NKHE
Z(AEERGH) BN AR
B(E1RMBRENRERIN (F2
&) o

o WIIERABEMBREMNEEL
BER AR (AT A& = E AR
18) (B3 -

3.3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
Capital management (Continued)

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group
monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio.
This ratio is calculated as net (cash)/debt divided
by total capital. Net (cash)/debt is calculated as
total borrowings (including ‘current and non-current
borrowings’ as shown in the consolidated balance
sheet) less cash and cash equivalents. Total capital
represents the equity attributable to owners of the
Company and non-controlling interests plus net (cash)/
debt.

As at 31 December 2017 and 2018, the Group is at a
net cash position, hence the disclosure of gearing ratio
is not applicable.

Fair value estimation

The table below analyses financial instruments carried
at fair values, by valuation method. The different levels
have been defined as follows:

. Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

o Inputs other than quoted prices included within
level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or
indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2).

U Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based

on observable market data (that is, unobservable
inputs) (level 3).
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3 HXEREEE) 3
3.3 AVEMGEE) 3.3

201812 H31H » AEBFE A &
S2HBRATEFENEEREE :

Financial assets at fair value

BN FHESIA RS RA

TREE through profit or loss
— BRABASREN — Non-quoted investment
FHRERE in key-man life
insurance policies
BAFEIAEMLS  Financial assets at fair value
B s BEE through other comprehensive
income
—BTEFESH — Non-quoted investments in
FRERE certain bond funds
REME Investment properties

Financial liabilities at fair value

BAVEFIABRRR

cHARE through profit or loss
— ERSARE — Contingent consideration

payable

MN2017F 128318 - KAEFAEAE X
IR AT EAENEERERE

Financial assets at fair value

BAFEFIARRIRR

TREE through profit or loss
—BRABASREN — Non-quoted investment in
FHERE key-man life
insurance policies
AHEESREE Available-for-sale financial assets
—HTREFESH — Non-quoted investments
FHREIRE in certain bond funds
REMZE Investment properties
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
Fair value estimation (Continued)

The following table presents the Group’s assets
and liabilities that are measured at fair values at 31
December 2018:

£-&

Level 1

-t |
Level 2
FET
HKD’000

e
Level 3
FTET
HKD’000

#at
Total
TAET
HKD’000

TR
HKD’000

- - 5,943 5,943
- - 7,619 7,619
- - 8,785 8,785
- - 22,347 22,347
- - 6,611 6,611

The following table presents the Group’s assets
and liabilities that are measured at fair value at 31
December 2017:

FE=G
Level 3
FHETT
HKD'000

4BET
Total
FHETT
HKD'000

Rt 4
Level 2
FAT
HKD’000

F—
Level 1

TAT
HKD'000

- - 5,953 5,953
_ - 8,418 8,418
- - 8,520 8,520
- - 22,891 22,891
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3 B EREE &) 3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.3 AFEGEE) 3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)
i —IA3 Z IR E RN A BRI IEE R A If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on
BRmISEE - BIZTEABAEIR - observable market data, the instrument is included in
level 3.
FRN - FIEREIRAFEERDE L There were no significant transfers of assets between
MIrEEREHEEEE(20174F - 18 level 1 and level 3 fair value hierarchy classifications
@) - during the year (2017: Same).
T&RZ5|HZE20184F Kk 2017F12 A 31 The following table presents the changes in level 3
HIEFEMEIRTEME L : instruments for the year ended 31 December 2018 and
2017:

HZ12A31BLLEE

Year ended 31 December

2018%F 20174
2018 2017
TET FHET
HKD'000 HKD'000

BARABEASRENRE : Investment in key-man life insurance

policies:

M1A1H At 1 January 5,953 4,537
NE Additions 326 847
RNTE(ER), W Fair value (losses)/gains (336) 569
M12H31H At 31 December 5,943 5,953

RIEREFRTE [ H At (EE) Total (losses)/gains included in profit or
WS FEIE TR EE loss for assets held at the end of the
SFABEERM WS (E18) reporting year, under other
FEkC] gains/(losses), net (336) 569

BZE12A31BLEFE

Year ended 31 December

20184 20174F
2018 2017
FTERT FHTT
HKD'000 HKD’000
ETEFESHRE : Investment in certain bond funds:
®1B1H At 1 January 8,418 8,346
RNTE(ER), W Fair value (losses)/gains (799) 72
M12H31H At 31 December 7.619 8,418
MNREFRAAFEEST A Total (losses)/gains included in the other
Hh iR e e comprehensive income for assets held
(B518) ham s at the end of the reporting year (799) 72
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3 HXEREEE) 3
3.3 AVEMGEE) 3.3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
Fair value estimation (Continued)

BZE12A31MHILEE
Year ended 31 December
20184

20174
2017
T
HKD'000

2018
TERT
HKD’000

BEWE Investment properties

M1 AB18 At 1 January 8,520 7,408
N ERE Fair value gains 680 573
E X =58 Exchange differences (415) 539
M12H31H At 31 December 8,785 8,520

HZE20184F
128318
IEEE

Year ended

31 December
2018

FHExT
HKD’000

RAFEIABRZEREN Financial liabilities at fair value through

sRIBE—ANRE profit or loss — contingent consideration
R1A1H At 1 January =
U BE bt B A = (H1a£37) Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 37) 6,611
M12H318 At 31 December 6,611
JFE Uk 7038 K% FE S RO R B 2y BV BR E (B The carrying values less impairment provision of the

RRERFEEENTEAERES - AR
BRENMBRENRFENZFARSE
TRAUAARRARREERH TSN REEE
ARAEMNBASREMATH - BRIER
BOREBITEKN - AUEERED
X BAVEIABRENEREE
BAFEIAEMEASRENSHE
E(2017%F - AL ESHMEE) RIZ
NFEINABERNEREBEZAFE
MEETEREANBRRFB AR
M-JLuIB MTAI1O&M-JL|JJI_37 °
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current portion of receivables and payables are a
reasonable approximation of their fair values. The fair
value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is
estimated by discounting the future contractual cash
flows at the current market interest rate that is available
to the Company for similar financial instruments,
unless the effect of discounting is immaterial. Details
of the valuation technique and significant assumptions
utilised in determining the fair values of investment
properties, financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss, financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income (2017: available-for-sale
financial assets), financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss are set out in Note 8, Note 10 and Note
37, respectively.
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4

(a)

RS s aT R A K

AEBEN GG RAE  XIRBE
REMHEBLAR(BREERREANE
TR Em bRt A

FE W BR R e HL At PE W R TR A 1R R A

JFE SRR R % LA R MR IR 2 IS IR B D
REEVRRELBAREBERXRZBRE
T ARERFEZSEBRRIERRE
AEBABER  REAKREZBEES
BRENESL - BITTRERREREN
RZ BIME ML FHEH HIE -

BEAN - BRI T BT E B H T R fh
it e MERGERAEMBERE IR RE
ffar > ARAZESFEGAEDHRE
WBR R I B At R R IR RO BR | B ~ FTAT
BENRUREABEU RN L EA
M FRBER BN -

AR 15 7 £ 1B 4 B LS BR 30 B L At B Wk 5k R
EREEENTE - 712018128318
B st iR &5 18 B 1528,615,000/8 75 (2018
F1R1B (FEAB BB REELFEIR
BHA) : 27,344,000 7C) - EB/HRK
FrA®@ ABUERMFFIBE R A I B W=
M3 1(b) R RIEH B -

(a)

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated
and are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

Loss allowance of trade and other receivables

The loss allowances for trade and other receivables is
made based on assumptions about the risk of default
and expected loss rates. The Group uses judgement
in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs
to the impairment calculation, based on the Group's
past settlement and default history, existing market
conditions as well as forward looking estimates at the
end of each reporting period.

In addition, the identification of bad debts requires
management’s judgment and estimates. Where the
actual outcome or further expectation is different from
the original estimate, such differences will impact the
carrying amount of the trade and other receivables,
the default rate calculated and also the amount of loss
allowance for trade and other receivable recognised in
the period in which such estimate has been changes.

Based on the Group’s assessment of loss allowance
of trade and other receivables, loss allowance of
HKD28,615,000 (1 January 2018 (on adoption of
HKFRS 9): HKD27,344,000) was provided as at 31
December 2018. Details of the key assumptions and
inputs used are disclosed in the table in Note 3.1(b) to
the consolidated financial statements.
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(b)

RS aT RAE (&)

BN R IR EE FT 1§ B
AEBMABREETRVEZERBNAEH
ERRXBBRETEARZ I REHT
EEREEENE EEESEREER
PISHEER  AREREFLERH
H o M FRHFRRERBERER
ARNSBEAR - At EZBREZERF
A B E 2 B A AT 15 3% SR FE T 7R
B o

ARBRB AN TELRRE LR R
B SR BB RO i 31 (3R U R B A BB S
AR AR E I £ B ) R
EREFEHAE - RRELHAHAE
EESREREYBBREBANAT
0 5 SR BL T OB ) TR A ) R £
it o

R2018F 12 A31H @ A& B & A
AT 48 & 179,810,0005% 7T (2017 4F
174,569,000/ 7T ) + E/43,740,0007%
JT(20174F : 40,726,0005% 7T ) IE AL T 18
BEECIERE -

R2018F 12 A31H » KEEF R E
NEIRE ZF)192,965,0007 7T (2017
4 : 135,359,000 7T ) 14 7K IE T A B 3%
ShEEMAS 2R AR - B R IERIE
EFRIBEERE - At - BHZEET
HaPEMBARRBIERREZH
MEREEELHEGINES ERNMGEE
ZEAEFRA RERIATGEFERSP
BB SN S 2 R A E] o
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(b)

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (Continued)

Current and deferred income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in several
jurisdictions. There are many transactions and events
for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain
during the ordinary course of business. Significant
judgment is required from the Group in determining
the provision for income taxes in each of these
jurisdictions. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the income tax
and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such
determination is made.

The Group recognises deferred income tax assets
based on estimates that it is probable to generate
sufficient taxable profits in the foreseeable future
against which the unutilised tax losses and the
deductible temporary differences would be utilised.
The recognition of deferred income tax assets mainly
involved management’s judgments and estimations
about the timing and the amount of taxable profits of
the companies which had tax losses.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had
HKD179,810,000 (2017: HKD174,569,000)
deductible losses, for which HKD43,740,000 (2017:
HKD40,726,000) deferred tax assets had been
provided.

As at 31 December 2018, the retained earnings of
the Group’s PRC subsidiaries not yet remitted to the
holding companies incorporated outside PRC, for
which no deferred tax liability had been provided,
were HKD192,965,000 (2017: HKD135,359,000). Such
earnings are expected to be retained by the PRC
subsidiaries for reinvestment purposes and would not
be remitted to their holding companies incorporated
outside PRC in the foreseeable future based on
management’s estimation of overseas funding
requirements.
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(c)

RS aT RAM (&)

EBREH

K2018% 10300 » AR E TR B
Radius Displays International Limited
([Radius |) B #1717 251% ° Radius
REWB AT (45 [RadiusR B ) £ Z
FBEREHEBESHATR  BEHENM
MHRKR R - TREREFERE - BE
ﬁfiﬁ$$l%W%T%%§E@ﬁ
MR BESEAEE - BEES
M ENIAREBAESINEREEE
H B Kb E - E—FFBREREHYH
WA MIFEST
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TELERRERNITESR - ITESF
FHAEENATREATERR KD
RER - HTEFCREZFHREERE

AA $/_\_LB

HTEERERNARZEERY - 18
EAKEHER TEENED

— BERE-KERSES RS

— WEHRESEES-KLSmERE
TREREEERAERZES -

(c)

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (Continued)

Business Combination

On 30 October 2018, the Group completed the
acquisition of 51% issued share capital of Radius
Displays International Limited (“Radius”). Radius and
its subsidiary (collectively as the “Radius Group”) is
principally engaged in the provision of advertisement
solutions, signage and urban furniture design
engineering and consulting services. The residual
portion of the purchase consideration in excess of
the fair values of identifiable net assets acquired by
the Group was allocated as goodwill. The purchase
price allocation and the measurement of contingent
consideration payables have involved significant
management judgement and estimation. Further
details are given in Note 37 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The chief operating decision-maker has been identified
as the Executive Directors. The Executive Directors
review the Group’s internal reporting in order to
assess performance and allocate resources. Executive
Directors has determined the operating segments
based on these reports.

The Executive Directors considered the business from
product perspective, and determined that the Group
has the following operating segments:

— Airports business — operation of advertising
services in airports;

— Metro and billboards business — operation of

advertising services in metro lines and billboards
and building solutions.
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DEBE R ()

HITESTERESEEIBNEAR
ENFHEEEDMHRR - RFEAR - K
SEAMY FH NP BAEREBL
2o HEMMBHERERSXMITHAXR
REBEDAMERELNHBKA -
HEARPAEBEERREDEE RN
D BRBEMAND BRBTER
Ao BN - Efblias, (B1R) - %
B mEKRAK  FER - EHAX RS
EREBERRNREXENR T DE T E

BIBEHE -

Ko

BZ2018F12A31BLLEE Year ended 31 December 2018
WA Revenue

WR A Cost of revenue

R Gross profit
HERMISEERX Selling and marketing expenses
THREX Administrative expenses
HiplA Other income

Hiplhs o 58 Other gains, net

geNR Operating profit

BEUA Finance income

BENA Finance costs

BEMA - FE
AERBERRANRERE

BERRTESRAIBEAEIREER

Finance costs, net

Share of results of investments

in associates

BAE R AR Profit before income tax
AR Income tax expense
FENE Profit for the year

RAHEEREEERAR 2018 Fif
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

The Executive Directors assess the performance of
the operating segments mainly based on revenue and
gross profit of each operating segment. Majority of the
businesses of the Group are carried out in Mainland China
and Hong Kong during the year. Selling and marketing
expenses and administrative expenses are common
costs incurred for the operating segments as a whole
and therefore they are not included in the measure of
the segments’ performance which is used by the chief
operating decision-maker as a basis for the purpose
of resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance. Other income, other gains/(losses), net,
finance costs, net, income tax expense and share of
results of investments in associates are also not allocated
to individual operating segment.

There are no segment assets and liabilities information
provided to Executive Directors.

The segment information for the operating segments is
as follows:

WER
BZEE  EEERER Hitr H
Metro and
Airports Billboards
business business Others Total
T T TEx T
HKD’000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000
727,684 974,917 226,265 1,928,866
(458,404) (790,618) (195,724)  (1,444,746)
269,280 184,299 30,541 484,120
(163,982)
(188,404)
11,751
1,333
144,818
3,437
(7,449)
(4,012)
12,462 - - 12,462
153,268
(26,553)
126,715
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THRRER ()

BZ2017512A31ALEE
WA
WARAR

]
HERTARRERX
BRI

A
2ER B8

BEnR

BERA

BERA - F8
DERBEREANRERE

WA BRI
B

FENE

WABIEATEIE :

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

W R
EERER
Metro and

Billboards
business

THT

HKD'000

BEXH Efty

Airports
business

T
HKD'000

Others
TEL
HKD'000 H

Year ended 31 December 2017

18 éJr
ﬁ‘»! A

Total

KD'000

Revenue 843,515 713,542 202,187 1,759,244
Cost of revenue (616,570) (602,602) (177,339) (1,396,511)
Gross profit 226,945 110,940 24,848 362,733
Selling and marketing expenses (135,372)
Administrative expenses (153,278)
Other income 12,509
Other losses, net (1,063)
Operating profit 85,529
Finance income 3,620
Finance costs (7,143)
Finance costs, net (3,523)
Share of results of investments in associates 8,584 = = 8,584
Profit before income tax 90,590
Income tax expense (19,388)
Profit for the year 71,202

Revenue consisted of the following:

HZE12A31MHLLEE
Year ended 31 December

20184 20174

2018 2017

FET THTT

HKD’'000 HKD’000

EE BRI Advertising display revenue 1,711,649 1,589,651
BEEEE - ZRRFHEA Advertising production, installation and

dismantling revenue 217,217 169,593

1,928,866 1,759,244

Asiaray Media Group Limited 2018 Annual Report

157



SO FEERER ML NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5

DEBE R ()
REBEWANWAREREFELAT

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
The timing of revenue recognition of the Group's
revenue was as follows:

BZ12A31BLLEE
Year ended 31 December

20184 20174

2018 2017

F&T FATT

HKD'000 HKD'000

P& B RERR A M A Revenue over time 1,711,649 1,589,651
R — R B RER AU A Revenue at a point in time 217,217 169,593
1,928,866 1,759,244

REERANMESMHIAT

The geographical distribution of the Group’s revenue
was as follows:

BE12A31BLLEE

Year ended 31 December

SlEiyN 173 Mainland China
BB Hong Kong

AREBHEERETF  HMEEAEF,E
B SEE B AR 10%3IA L -

AEBERDEE (SR TAREE
FSEMREERIN) LR BERENRE
7 AT

2018 20174
2018 2017
FET FET
HKD'000 HKD’000
1,506,010 1,450,654
422,856 308,590
1,928,866 1,759,244

The Group has a large number of customers, none of which
contributed 10% or more of the Group's total revenue.

The Group’s non-current assets other than financial
instruments and deferred income tax assets were
located in Mainland China and Hong Kong as follows:

HZ12A31BLEE

Year ended 31 December

rh B K B Mainland China
EB Hong Kong

MR2018F12A831H ' AW BEBTIESR
EREBEAEEXBESRESORTF
WERH IR & o
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2018%F 20174
2018 2017
FHxT T
HKD’000 HKD’000
173,852 157,862
40,254 9,785
214,106 167,647

As at 31 December 2018, contract liabilities mainly
includes deposits received from customers under the
contracts for advertising services the Group's business.
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6 ME BMEKKRE

H20175128318
s
g

REFE

BE2017512831AL5E
BEAFE

hE

ik

HE

EHBEER

BRERHE

H2017512318
e
g

REFE

BE2018512831ALEE
HEEEE

E
YEHBARHZ7)
wE

HE

ERREES

BREEHE
#2018512A318
e

2iffE

REFE

At 1 January 2017
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net book amount

Year ended 31 December 2017
Opening net book amount
Additions

Depreciation

Disposals

Currency translation differences

Closing net book amount

At 31 December 2017
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net book amount

Year ended 31 December 2018
Opening net book amount
Additions

Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 37)
Depreciation

Disposals

Currency translation differences

Closing net book amount

At 31 December 2018
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net book amount

6 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

BEN

Buildings
T
HKD'000

Advertising

RERE RENRRE

Leasehold
fixtures improvements

THL THL
HKD'000 HKD'000

Motor
vehicles
Thr
HKD'000

BiR
BARE
Furniture
and office
equipment
Thr
HKD'000

ait

Total
b1
HKD'000

21818 196,712 7,606 10,428 25,660 268,224
(2,017) (133,527) (5,702) (8,131) (18,729) (168,106)
25,801 63,185 1,904 2,97 6,931 100,118
25,801 63,185 1,904 2,29 6,931 100,118
1,939 15,179 5233 1,219 1,682 25,252
(1,424) (29,603) (2,309) (780) (4,024) (38,140)
(185) (3,199) (132) (13) (618) (4,147)
1,820 3,539 14 130 320 5923
21,951 49,101 4810 2,853 429 89,006
31,583 217,969 11,533 11,899 26,057 299,041
(3,632) (168,868) (6,723) (9,046) (21,766) (210,035)
21,951 49,101 4,810 2,853 4,291 89,006
27,951 49,101 4,810 2,853 4,291 89,006
- 51,284 3,138 117 4,586 60,179
- - 47 - 68 115
(1,457) (29,466) (3,107) (942) (2,590) (37,562)
- (315) (872) (37) (215) (1,439)
(1,235) (2,404) (107) (115) (203) (4,064)
25,259 68,200 3,909 2,930 5,937 106,235
30,131 258,264 13,215 11,593 27,244 340,447
(4,872) (190,064) (9,306) (8,663) (21,307) (234,212)
25,259 68,200 3,909 2,930 5,937 106,235
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6. ME BMEKRKREE)

FEXHREHEERERTE IR
AIFIVERX

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

Depreciation charges were expensed in the following
categories in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income:

BZE12A31BLEE
Year ended 31 December
20184 20174
2018 2017
THExT T
HKD'000 HKD'000
L ONPFN Cost of revenue 26,342 27,607
TR X Administrative expenses 9,806 10,317
$HE N T I5 HE R X Selling and marketing expenses 1,414 216
37,562 38,140

72018 12H31H » EHEHEEFEAS
10,364,000 7T (20174 : 11,519,000
77T ) MU 54 A 4,280,0007% 7T (2017
F : 5,682,000 7T ) BB 1T {5 TR AV IK 17
(Ff5E21) ©

7 LiFERRE

As at 31 December 2018, buildings of net book
value of HKD10,364,000 (2017: HKD11,519,000)
was pledged as security for bank borrowings of
HKD4,280,000 (2017: HKD5,682,000) (Note 21).

LAND USE RIGHTS

HE12A31BLLEE

Year ended 31 December

20184 20174

2018 2017

F&T AT

HKD’000 HKD’'000

HYIBREHFE Opening net book amount 25,547 22,931
NE Additions - 1,607
5 Amortisation (672) (632)
EinE =R Currency translation differences (1,151) 1,641
HRBR M HE Closing net book amount 23,724 25,547
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7 T ERAREE) 7 LAND USE RIGHTS (Continued)
M128318

As at 31 December
20184 20174
2018 2017
FET TFET
HKD'000 HKD'000
D& Cost 25,948 27,198
Rt Accumulated amortisation (2,224) (1,651)
IREVFE Net book amount 23,724 25,547

HZE2018F N2017F12A31H IEF
B BHERIRITERAEIRIIER -

Amortisation charges were expensed in administrative
expenses during the years ended 31 December 2018
and 2017.

T FEREMRPE AR WiEB
B - 2018412 A31 8 » & & #
13,741,00078 7 (2017 4F : 14,809,000
75 7T ) &) & b {5 F 7 & 4,280,000 7T
(20174 : 5,682,000 7T ) BV R 1T 1 X
ROHEIR (BT EE21) o

8 REWE 8

Land use rights are located in Mainland China and for
self-use. As at 31 December 2018, land use rights of
HKD13,741,000 (2017: HKD14,809,000) was pledged
as security for bank borrowings of HKD4,280,000
(2017: HKD5,682,000) (Note 21).

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

WNEN

Office units

TAET
HKD'000

A2017F181H8
NEEE
BEmE =

M2017F12H31H
M2018F1H1A8
NEEED(HE26)
BEmE =

R2018F12A31H

At 1 January 2017
Changes in fair value
Currency translation differences

At 31 December 2017

At 1 January 2018
Changes in fair value (Note 26)
Currency translation differences

At 31 December 2018

7,408
573
539

8,520

8,520
680
(415)

8,785
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8 REYUXRE) 8 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
(a) REZFRINREVESEHE (a) Amounts recognised in profit or loss for investment
properties
BZ12A31ALFE
Year ended 31 December
2018 20174
2018 2017
FHET FHET
HKD’000 HKD'000
BREWMEROESWA Rental income from investment properties
(K1aE25) (Note 25) 230 264
M2018F K& 20175 128310 - A&H As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Group had no
BER B REE REET R AREENS un-provided contractual obligations for future repairs
HWEE - and maintenance.
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8 REWXRE)

(b) MEZH
BREMEMNPEKRE - DRIRE R
AMESFHRREHEOVEETER, - 2
AIRAXM - REMETAIHHL LN
ERTHRERERESIOT

(b)

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Leasing arrangements

The investment properties are located in Mainland
China and leased to tenants under operating leases
of approximately 1 to 5 years with rental payable
monthly. Minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases of investment properties
are receivable as follows:

M12H31H
As at 31 December
20184 20174
2018 2017
THET FHTT
HKD'000 HKD’000
1FR Within one year 192 292
HRB 1B R IBSF Later than one year but not later
than 5 years - 201
192 493

(c) BREWENATHE
MR20184F K% 20174 12A31H » A&
EHNREVMEATFTESRABARE
7,697,000 ( % B 1 8,785,000 7T ) &
AR #7,122,000 (% {85 8,520,000
L) THRARRBEELBRBIAER
BEMEEMIEAFREEETHERE
EARETNEEET - HERBEE
LEBORHETT  WREBRZWEARIERSE
AU EMARNERATREFLE -
URSRBEBMSE LML EER
5  WEWENLFEFEFERAR
FERBRFHEIR -

(c)

Fair values of investment properties

The fair values of the Group’s investment properties
was RMB7,697,000 (equivalent to HKD8,785,000)
and RMB7,122,000 (equivalent to HKD8,520,000)
as at 31 December 2018 and 2017, respectively, as
determined by the directors of the Company with
reference to the valuation performed by Beijing Zhong
Tian Hua Asset Appraisal Company Limited (b= H
REZEMNEBREMERAA), an independent qualified
professional valuer. Valuation was performed using
the direct comparison method on the assumption
that the property can be sold in its existing state
subjected to existing tenancies or otherwise with the
benefit of vacant possession and making references
to comparable sales transactions as available in the
relevant market. The fair value measurement of the
investment properties is categorised within level 3 of
the fair value hierarchy.
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9 HEFEEE 9 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

[ A
Brand

EREMG
Computer
software
THET
HKD'000

Goodwill name

TR
HKD’000

TEx

HKD'000 HKD'000

M2017%F1818 At 1 January 2017
BE Cost - - 3,601 3,601
Rt Accumulated amortisation = = (1,759) (1,759)
REHE Net book amount = = 1,842 1,842
HZ2017%12H318  Year ended 31 December 2017

LHEE
H AR mE B Opening net book amount - - 1,842 1,842
NE Additions - - 320 320
B Amortisation = = (589) (589)
B = Currency translation differences = = 41 41
HAREEFE Closing net book amount = = 1,614 1,614
R2017%12H31H At 31 December 2017
BN Cost - - 4,087 4,087
S5 Accumulated amortisation - - (2,473) (2,473)
REFE Net book amount = = 1,614 1,614
#Z2018%12A31H  Year ended 31 December 2018

LEE
HYIEREFE Opening net book amount - - 1,614 1,614
NE Additions - - 342 342
WEEHTE AR Acquisition of subsidiaries

(H#7237) (Note 37) 2,685 17,298 - 19,983
B4l Amortisation - - (497) (497)
k= Disposals - - (26) (26)
EnEEE Currency translation differences - - (16) (16)
EARBRE R B Closing net book amount 2,685 17,298 1,417 21,400
R2018%12A31H At 31 December 2018
BN Cost 2,685 17,298 4,271 24,254
RET Accumulated amortisation - - (2,854) (2,854)
REFE Net book amount 2,685 17,298 1,417 21,400
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BILEE(E)
HZE2018F N2017F12A31H IEF
€ BT HRITEE I R IIER -

A& ZE2018%F 12 A31 B It F &
B Radius W) X5 & BT E &£ B 12
17,298,000 7 JT K 75 2 2,685,000
T BEAFELRER L GEMER
BEFHERMERARMREENGEE

HEH - BEERNEEN A FEMA
NEZREBEFITEEROL KR X
17.5%

BE R E TG
REZE2018F12A31HILFEEBE
BAHKENEEE S EERSELAE
MERERR - BeEEBUAATKE
CHEN2EFRBENETEET

R EEREBEEFET AR - £2ER
15 S IR 4 % = L F TR B R B 75 At
EFEMRAIRE @ RERAMANGE
JA - AN IR 2 IRETHE RS
AARHAEERRER - HEEABUNEK
HIERE A SHEERSELBUMKE
TENRAFHEREER - CERAEZER
REEHATALIE R16.5% R & imig Kk X
3% °

R5EK BEI2018F10 A30H © AR A
EREEEFAEE ERadiusER
BETDH55,607,000/8 T R MEE - Al
= UBRARERRKRERED A
PEEELRE -

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Amortisation charges were expensed in administrative
expenses during the year ended 31 December 2018
and 2017.

Brand name of HKD17,298,000 and goodwill of
HKD2,685,000 arising from the business combination
of Radius during the year ended 31 December 2018,
the fair value of which were derived, with reference to
the valuation report prepared by Flagship Appraisals
and Consulting Limited, an independent valuer. The
key assumptions used in estimating the fair values of
the intangible assets includes royalty rate of 6% and
discount rate of 17.5%.

Impairment assessments of Goodwill

Goodwill acquired through business combination
during the year ended 31 December 2018 are
allocated to the cash generating unit for impairment
test. The recoverable amount of the cash generating
unit are determined by reference to the value-in-use
calculation.

In assessing the value-in-use calculation, references
were made to the calculations use pre-tax cash
flow projections based on financial plans approved
by management covering a forecast period of 5
years. Cash flows beyond the forecast period are
extrapolated using the estimated long-term growth
rates. The long-term growth rate of the CGU does
not exceed the long-term average growth rate for
the industry in which the CGU operates. The key
assumptions applied includes pre-tax discount rate
16.5% and terminal growth rate of 3%.

At the completion date as at 30 October 2018,
the directors of the Company consider that there
was no impairment of goodwill has been made
after considering the value-in-use calculation
for the business value of Radius of not less than
HKD55,607,000 and the nature, prospects, financial
condition and business risks.
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10 BRAFEIAEZRNESHMEE - 10 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
RAFEIAHMEGESREZNSE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS, FINANCIAL
EERAEHLESMEE ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND AVAILABLE-
FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS
(a) BRAFEIANERENESMEE (a) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

HZ12A31BLEE

Year ended 31 December

2018%F 20174

2018 2017

FET T

HKD'000 HKD'000

REHD At beginning of the year 5,953 4,537

NE Additions 326 847
PERREZHNAFE Fair value (losses)/gains recognised in

(E518) Wzs (K1at26) profit or loss (Note 26) (336) 569

REL - HRERS At end of the year, all non-current
KL and unlisted 5,943 5,953
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10 BRAFEIABSZRNEMEE -

(a)

BAFPEIAHMESRBENEE
BERTHRLESHEE (&)

RAFEIABEZRNESMEE(F)

BERAFEINABRENEREESMND
MRABASRE - ARBARENT
wmA c BRABASRENKRERYIE
ERBAFEIABEENEREE -
BRFEINABERNEREERTE
MEETAGHEERART R [HM
Was(BR) - F5] -

ETHRABRASRENRENAFE
REABRRSRE(HRRRSRE])
B - BRRBAERERAEANEAR
REBARBIT

10 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

(a)

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS, FINANCIAL
ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND AVAILABLE-
FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS (Continued)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(Continued)

The financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
represented two key-man life insurance policies. The
Group is the beneficiary of the insurance policies. The
investments in key-man life insurance policies were
designated as financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss at inception. Changes in fair values of
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
are recorded in ‘other gains/(losses), net’ in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Discounted cash flow (“DCF") model was applied to
determine the fair value of the investments in key-man
life insurance policies. The significant assumptions and
inputs used in the DCF model were as follows:

HZ12A31BLEE

Year ended 31 December

2018%F 20174

2018 2017

FHExT T

HKD'000 HKD'000

TR Mortality adjustment 90% 90%
BRI & Discount rate 4.04% 3.80%
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10 BRAFEIABSZRNEMEE -
BAFPEIAHMESRBENEE
BERTHEESRHEEH)

(b) BAFEIAHMEAKRSZNESRHEE
(20175 : At ESMEE)

10 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS, FINANCIAL
ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND AVAILABLE-
FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS (Continued)

(b) Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income (2017: Available-for-sale
financial assets)

BZE12A31MHILEE
Year ended 31 December
20184 20174

2018 2017
TExT TAT
HKD’000 HKD'000

READ At beginning of the year 8,418 8,346
REMARE WS TR AFE  Fair value (losses)/gains recognised in

(E8R), Wk

other comprehensive income (799) 72

REL  BHAFRHEII LT At end of the year, all non-current

and unlisted

BRAFEINARMESRENEREE
EETIHREERSES - RFRENA
FEDERRITAEENERR - ARF]
EERR ERRITREZHEROMGE
NFEEBRE ARNAEERARAEN
f&fE -

ZERBENR2017F 1283180 E AT
HHESHEE - BEARERE BT

HEBIE 9B RN 2018F 1 A1 H =%
ERERTHTIESREESETHES
EAFEIAEMEERENESRHE
E - B2RAeMnTHBmERME2.2 -
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7,619 8,418

The financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income represented certain unquoted
bond funds. The fair values of these investments are
based on the statements provided by the bank. The
directors of the Company believe that the estimated
fair values based on the statements provided by
the bank are reasonable, and that they are the most
appropriate values at the balance sheet date.

These investments were classified as available-for-sale
financial assets at 31 December 2017. Please see Note
2.2 to the consolidated financial statements for the
reclassification of these investments from available-
for-sale financial assets to financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income on 1 January
2018 upon the adoption of HKFRS 9.
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10

(b)

11

BAFEIAERRNEMEE - 10
BAFEIARMES RENSH

BERTHRLESHEE (&)

BAFEIAEMGERENEREE
(20175 : At HESREE) (&)

(b)

BAFEIABEENEREENEA
FENAEMEGS Wa SR EET A
BILHIE °

RiE R PMEAENRREERRAEZ
RNFEIABRERNE B EERIZAF
BIAEMGEE RSN ERBEENKRE
|-

11

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS, FINANCIAL
ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND AVAILABLE-
FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS (Continued)
Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income (2017: Available-for-sale
financial assets) (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
and financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income are denominated in HKD.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting
date is the carrying value of the financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss and financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive income.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

RAYE

S A E At
REWEN
LtHEE
Financial
assets at

fair value
through other
comprehensive
income

TAT
HKD'000

8§
LZIN-
WEmEE

BOVE
SIABEE
heREE

Financial
assets at fair
value through
profit or loss
TAT
HKD'000

Financial
assets at
amortised
costs
A7
HKD'000

Total
57
HKD'000

R2018%12A318 At 31 December 2018

FEMRER TR R E At M Trade and other receivables
FR(TMERRRBIAEN excluding prepaid taxes and
Hi TR TR other prepayments

BATEF A BRERE Financial assets at fair value through
EREAE profit or loss

BATE AL LA KEH Financial assets at fair value through
TREE other comprehensive income

RRHR Restricted cash

BHRTER Short-term bank deposits

ReRBLEEY Cash and cash equivalents

777,339 - - 777,339

- 5,943 - 5,943

- - 7,619 7,619

49,489 - - 49,489
6,122 - - 6,122
379,931 - - 379,931
1,212,881 5,943 7,619 1,226,443
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11 RERESNEMIAE) 11 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

(Continued)

8 3] BAYE
%N
WEmEE

Financial

SIARH R
WEREE

Financial

AHREE
SREE
Available-
assets at  assets at fair for-sale
amortised value through financial
costs  profit or loss assets Total
7 7L Fi57 7
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000

120175124318 At 31 December 2017
FEMCR S R ALt FE K Trade and other receivables

HE(TREEAHEMN excluding prepaid taxes and

Et AR other prepayments 544,572 - - 544,572
BATEIARRRN Financial assets at fair value through

SREE profit or loss - 5,953 - 5,953
ARtHESHEE Available-for-sale financial assets = = 8,418 8,418
ZRHRS Restricted cash 71,768 = = 71,768
SRS Short-term bank deposits 31,628 = = 31,628
HERBHEZEY Cash and cash equivalents 299,188 = = 299,188

947,156 5,953 8,418 961,527

BRFESIA

BREHN
cHEE
Financial
liabilities

at fair value
through profit
or loss

TEx
HKD'000

BBERA
ABRWEE

Liabilities

at amortised
cost

TERT
HKD'000

Total
FEx
HKD'000

720185124318 At 31 December 2018
N Borrowings - 269,006 269,006
JE I BR K B L At B A FROR Trade and other payables
(T BEHMENTIE) excluding other
taxes payable - 567,173 567,173
R ARE Contingent consideration
payable 6,611 - 6,611
6,611 836,179 842,790
R2017612A318 At 31 December 2017
EEN Borrowings = 144,350 144,350
JE A< BR S0 B EL At FE < 3RO Trade and other payables
(TEEEMbREMHIE) excluding other
taxes payable = 411,571 411,571
- 555,921 555,921
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12 REBERRNRE 12 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES
BZ128318 LFE
R12A31H

Year ended/As at 31 December
20184 20174
2018 2017
F#&x FET
HKD’'000 HKD'000
REH] At beginning of the year 27,391 26,997
JEE (MHEEG)) Capital injections (note (i)) 9,199 -
IR E4E Share of results 12,462 8,584
A% B Dividends (8,846) (10,715)
Bl E = Currency translation differences (2,070) 2,525
RFK At end of the year 38,136 27,391

AT AAREEMN2018E12 A31 B H
B NF - NHBE AR RAEBRTE
BE HiaMAVUERIAETELS

Set out below were the associates of the Group as at
31 December 2018. The associates as listed below
were held directly by the Group, their country of

Ho R o

EEsH

Name of entity

REKAREERAH
(MERXAES])

Fujian Zhaoxiang Advertising
Company Limited
(“Fujian Zhaoxiang Advertising”)

ERRREZFEEERAR
(TEAER])

Guangxi Top Source Media
Company Limited
("Guangxi Top Source”)

RIS R EERAR AT
(TRYI5 R4 ])

Shenzhen Airport Asiaray
Media Company Limited
("Shenzhen Airport Asiaray”)

KEBERELRERAA
(IR B ) (M)

Zhuhai Yueya Media Company Limited
("Zhuhai Yueya") (note (i)

incorporation is also their principal place of business.

mEns/
A B A L E R FrERRER LB
Place of business/  Percentage of
Date of country of ownership
incorporation incorporation interest
200654 A29H ale 30%
(20174F: 30%)
29 April 2006 The PRC 30%

(20174 : 30%)

20126208 e 40%
(20174F: 40%)
20 June 2012 The PRC 40%

(20174: 40%)

2013497290 FE 49%
(20174 49%)
29 September 2013 The PRC 49%

(20174 49%)

2018%: 40%
(20175: )
2018: 40%
(2017: Nil)

201858220 i

22 August 2018 The PRC

Asiaray Media Group Limited

EBME

Nature of
business

I R E PN

EERE

Development and
operations of out-of-home
advertising media

FE LRI

EERE

Development and
operations of out-of-home
advertising media

R E PN

EERE

Development and
operations of out-of-home
advertising media

FE LRI

EERE

Development and
operations of out-of-home
advertising media
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(a)
(i)

12 RBEQXTNREH) 12 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)
ZEMENTEAEANEEBNREESIEE These associates are strategic partners of the Group,
o EHEEPRANRETmHRE RN providing access to new customers and markets in
R o different cities in PRC.

BENRERHARLART WAL HEA] All of the associates are private companies and there
SHE - IEGHEAEENE S a8 are no market values available for the associates. There
HEMEAXNABEREANEE - B8 are no significant contingent liabilities and capital
ERNREBREENRNEAEETEE commitments relating to the Group's interests in the
R - associates and there are no significant restrictions on
the transfer of assets or earnings from the associates to
the Group.
EXIR R AEE N E) WA E R R The English names of the above associates referred to
B EANERIBAARRERERDN above represented the best efforts by management
e X 2 BRI 2K o of the Company in translating their Chinese names, as
they do not have official English names.
ARREERE  FUMEHLERE In the opinion of the directors of the Company,
BIPEEHASEMEBEN ME Shenzhen Airport Asiaray and Fujian Zhaoxiang
HEREKSERGAEBEATFE Advertising are material to the Group, while Guangxi
N e Top Source and Zhuhai Yueya are immaterial to the
Group.
s - MN2018%E8F22H » /K Note (i): On 22 August 2018, Shanghai Asiaray
THEBEEERLA([ LF Advertising Company Limited (“Shanghai
W )EFE=HEKEEN Asiaray”) and Zhuhai Yuehe Enterprise
CEEESRAR([ZFKEE Management Company Limited (“Zhuhai
MDARKZHKGEHR - £ Yuehe”), a third party, jointly set up Zhuhai
B A MRS B Bl = Yueya. The proportion of shares held by
BA40% X 60%H M5 © Shanghai Asiaray and Zhuhai Yuehe is 40%
and 60%, respectively.
EEKABESHHEERBE ! (@) Summarised financial information for Fujian
Zhaoxiang Advertising:
BEREXEZ (i)  Summarised balance sheet
M12A31H
As at 31 December
20185 20174
2018 2017
FET FATT
HKD'000 HKD'000
RE Current
BE Assets 47,388 82,660
afE Liabilities (94,780) (127,381)
REBEEFELT Total net current liabilities (47,392) (44,721)
FERED Non-current
BE Assets 30,925 36,038
AafE Liabilities (5,364) (6,560)
FREEEBEAST Total net non-current assets 25,561 29,478
BEFE Net liabilities (21,831) (15,243)
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12 REENTIMIRE(E) 12 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)
(a) TEEKIBELSWHEEEEE: (&£) (@) Summarised financial information for Fujian
Zhaoxiang Advertising: (Continued)
(i) AEEEXZE (i) Summarised statement of comprehensive loss
W12H31H
As at 31 December
20184 20174
2018 2017
THERT FHAIT
HKD'000 HKD'000
WA Revenue 161,218 152,046
FEEE Loss for the year (7,546) (15,521)
FELLEEIEEEE Total comprehensive loss for the year (6,588) (16,008)
(iii) BIBEEFBEELR (iii)  Reconciliation of summarised financial information

P25 ERME LA REREEK
AESHEERIESRAT

Reconciliation of the summarised financial information
presented to the carrying amount of the Group’s
interest in Fujian Zhaoxiang Advertising is as follows:

BZE12A31ALEE
®12831H
Year ended/As at 31 December
2018%F 20174
2018 2017
THET TET
HKD'000 HKD'000
FY(8aE) EEFHE Net (liabilities)/assets at beginning
of the year (15,243) 765
FEEIE Loss for the year (7,546) (15,521)
ERBBmEEE Currency translation differences 958 (487)
FREEFE Closing net liabilities (21,831) (15,243)

MR2017F12A31H - BRAEEE(G
BEEBHENERIKPES RS -
MR ERERKIEENREREAEDR
WA ET o FE(REE2,264,0005% T
AREE2018F12A31BILFEHER
(20174 : 4,656,000 7T) °

The carrying amount of the investment in Fujian
Zhaoxiang Advertising was reduced to nil as at 31
December 2017 as the Group’s share of loss had
exceeded its interest in Fujian Zhaoxiang Advertising.
Share of loss of HKD2,264,000 was not recognised
for the year ended 31 December 2018 (2017:
HKD4,656,000).
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12 REBERARNRE(E) 12 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)
(b) FEINMEZHELEMNTEERPRE : (b) Summarised financial information for Shenzhen
Airport Asiaray:
(i) BEBEXHZE (i)  Summarised balance sheet
M12H31H
As at 31 December
20184 20174
2018 2017
FExT FET
HKD'000 HKD'000
E Current
BE Assets 127,745 166,098
Al Liabilities (78,705) (119,102)
REBEEFEAS Total net current assets 49,040 46,996
FERE Non-current
BE Assets 38,505 35,075
FRBEEFEEAF Total net non-current assets 38,505 35,075
BEEFE Net assets 87,545 82,071
(i) ARz ZBE (i) Summarised statement of comprehensive income

HE12A31BLLEE

Year ended 31 December

20185 20174

2018 2017

FHET THETT

HKD’000 HKD'000

WA Revenue 632,973 585,464
FE Profit for the year 27,626 37,546
FRRENREETE Total comprehensive income for the year 23,527 42,405
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12
(b)

(iii)

REERBRNRE (&)
RIBSRAENUBERBE : (£)

HBEERE SR
P25 5 & R 2 SR AN SR B 0 R I
SRR RmESRKROT ¢

12 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

(b) Summarised financial information for Shenzhen
Airport Asiaray: (Continued)

(iii)  Reconciliation of summarised financial information
Reconciliation of the summarised financial information
presented to the carrying amount of the Group’s
interest in Shenzhen Airport Asiaray is as follows:

HE12A31ALEE
M®12A831H
Year ended/As at 31 December
2018%F 20174
2018 2017
THET THET
HKD’000 HKD'000
FHEEFE Net assets at beginning of the year 82,071 61,533
FER)E Profit for the year 27,626 37,546
% 2 Dividend (18,053) (21,867)
EmEER Currency translation differences (4,099) 4,859
FREERE Closing net assets 87,545 82,071
PR E R B R (49%) Interest in the associate (49%) 42,897 40,215
E b A EE () Other adjustments (*) (13,666) (12,825)
BRMEE Carrying value 29,231 27,390
(*)  HZE2018FKR2017F12A31HIEFE - & (*)  Other adjustments mainly represented elimination of upstream

il 38 B T 22 B BRI 4805 T AL A ORI
AWM BAR AT ([HEERE] - H55%0
RRBRIBERCEERFTE) N LB

transaction between Shenzhen Airport Asiaray and Shenzhen
Yashi Metro Company Limited (“Yashi Metro”) (RYIFELH
AR AR]), whose 55% equity interest was directly held by
Shenzhen Airport Asiaray for the year ended 31 December 2018
and 2017.
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12 REBEQRANREE)

() ERFERBELT :
PR EXPrRBERE AR 2RI - AR
BN mEER T EANBE R EESR
Rzt HEMEAAR -

12 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

(c) Individually immaterial associates:
In addition to the interests in associates disclosed
above, the Group also has interests in two individually
immaterial associates that are accounted for using the
equity method.

BZ12A31HLEE
RN12831H

Year ended/As at 31 Decembe

20185 20174
2018 2017

FRET TET

BRI N E AR & QR

HKD’000 HKD’'000

Aggregate carrying amount of

HERTEE individually immaterial associates 8,905 =
AEEDIHAEEE Aggregate amounts of the Group's
share of:
RELEBE Loss from continuing operations (11,116) (12,349)
Hibsra s (B8) Other comprehensive income/(loss) 866 (4,410)
A BEATE Total comprehensive loss (10,250) (16,759)

R2016F 127318 » AR AEEE(LE
BEBHEREAER(KARARZZHER
BABERBE AT MER - BN ER
TERMNEEREEERIET - B(hE
184,213,000/8 T AR E =2018F 12
A318 L FERR (20174 : 4,940,000
BIT) °
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The carrying amount of the investment in Guangxi Top
Source, one of the immaterial associate as determined
by the directors of the Company, was reduced to nil as
at 31 December 2016 as the Group's share of loss had
exceeded its interest in Guangxi Top Source. Share
of loss HKD4,213,000 was not recognised for the year
ended 31 December 2018. (2017: HKD4,940,000).
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13 HIBAT 13 SUBSIDIARIES
THARKR2018F12A31B 2 X EH B The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries as at
/NI 31 December 2018.
VNG F2R
A/ 3 BRfTRE/ EREAN  AREEAN RERAN
Rit#RERE TEXBAERMY afesst  EEREAC  EEREAN  EBRRLAC)
Proportion of
Place of incorporation/ Proportion of  Proportion of ordinary
establishment Particulars of issued ~ ordinary shares ordinary  shares held by
and kind of Principal activities and share capital/  directlyheld  shares held by  non-controlling
Company Name legal entity place of operation registered capital by parent (%)  the Group (%) interests (%)
ARTEREA:
Directly held by the Company:
A ERERERAT KBRAHE  BRERAT RARR  ZERKHE 50,0005 7 100% = =
Asiaray Media Holdings Limited BVI, limited Investment holding, BVI HKD50,000

liability company

ALRMERE:
Indirectly held by the Company:
Asiaray Metro Media Limited £ BREMDF FOEEERRE &5 18T - 100% -
Asiaray Metro Media Limited Hong Kong, limited QOut-of-home advertising HKD1
liability company media services, Hong Kong
Tt ESRRERAT &% AREALR PARERRRE &% 2,500,000%7 - 100% -
Asiaray Advertising Media Limited Hong Kong, limited QOut-of-home advertising HKD2,500,000
liability company media services, Hong Kong
Asiaray Outdoor Media Limited &% AREMfAA PIESHERS &% 10,0007 - 100% =
Asiaray Outdoor Media Limited Hong Kong, limited QOut-of-home advertising HKD10,000
liability company media services, Hong Kong
Asiaray Megamedia Limited &% ERELAR R BR - BIR 10,0007 - 100% -
BERK B
Asiaray Megamedia Limited Hong Kong, limited Design, consultancy, HKD10,000
liability company construction and maintenance

services, Hong Kong

Genesis Printing and B BREMAR S 4E 7EA 10,0007 = 100% =
Production Limited G &3
Genesis Printing and Production Limited  Hong Kong, limited Advertising, production, HKD10,000
liability company installation and dismantling

services, Hong Kong

B AEEERAT &% BREAAR TER% 2% 10,0007 - 100% -
Asiaray Advertising Limited Hong Kong, limited Inactive, Hong Kong HKD10,000
liability company

BRRARSARAR &% ARRELT RERR &% 9.900% - 100% -

Hong Kong Asiaray Advertising Limited ~ Hong Kong, limited Investment holding, Hong Kong HKD9,900
liability company
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RAHEEREEERAR 2018 Fif

13 MEBARE)

Company Name

RESRREARLR
Asiaray Media Limited

T EREARAT

Asiaray Screen Alliance Limited

Tt aRSARAT

Asiaray Connect Limited

B ERERARAR

Asiaray International Holdings Limited

Right Vantage Holdings Limited
Right Vantage Holdings Limited

Radius Displays International Limited

Radius Displays International Limited

Radius Displays Limited

Radius Displays Limited

LRt EREARAT
([ LERtA))
Shanghai Asiaray Advertising Company
Limited ("Shanghai Asiaray")

HERRREERARAT
Shanghai Meidisi Advertising
Media Company Limited

W AREARAT
Zhejiang Asiaray Advertising
Company Limited

178

AL/ 3
RirERERY

Place of incorporation/
establishment

and kind of

legal entity

B8 AREMAR
Hong Kong, limited
liability company

&% BREALR
Hong Kong, limited
liability company

BE BREEARD
Hong Kong, limited
liability company

ZERAEE  BRAEAT
BVI, limited liability company

RERAES BRAMLA
BVI, limited liability company

&% ARRELT

Hong Kong, limited
liability company

B ARRELT

Hong Kong, limited liability
company

hE BRALAT

The PRC, limited liability
company

hE - ARREAT
The PRC, limited liability
company

hE BRAEAT
The PRC, limited liability
company

13 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

BRfTRE/

TERHALRDY R

Particulars of issued

Principal activities and share capital/

place of operation registered capital
PARERRRS B4 1087
QOut-of-home advertising HKD10
media services, Hong Kong
PARERRRS &% 10,0007
QOut-of-home advertising HKD10,000
media services, Hong Kong
PHRERRERE FE 1AL
QOut-of-home advertising HKD1
media services, Hong Kong
RERR  RBRRHS 157
Investment Holding, BV! UsD1
RARR  ZERKHE 157
Investment Holding, BV! UsD1
RUREEE  RERRREERS 10,1007
Fit - IERERRE B4
Provision of advertising selections, HKD10,100
signage and street fumiture
design engineering and
consulting service, Hong Kong
RUREHE  RERRRGERS 10,0007
Fit - IERERERE B
Provision of advertising selections, HKD10,000
signage and street fumiture
design engineering and
consulting service, Hong Kong
PARERBRE 8 AR#70,000,000
Out-of-home advertising RMB70,000,000
media services, the PRC
PHEERERY & AE%2,365,530
QOut-of-home advertising RMB2,365,530
media services, the PRC
PARERRRS 6 AEH10,000,000
QOut-of-home advertising RMB10,000,000

media services, the PRC

§a7
BREAN
ERRLLAI(%)

Proportion of
ordinary shares
directly held
by parent (%)

AREEN
ERRLLA(%)

Proportion of

ordinary
shares held by
the Group (%)

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

51%

100%

100%

100%

FER
RERAN
EERILA%)
Proportion of
ordinary
shares held by
non-controlling
interests (%)

49%

49%
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13 MEBARE)

Company Name

RIREREERAT
Shenzhen Yatie Advertising
Company Limited

LRt AREERERAT
([ LEEZER])
Shanghai Asiaray Advertising
Media Company Limited
("Shanghai Advertising Media")

BARARERRAT
Guangzhou Asiaray Advertising
Company Limited

ZEEERARIERERAR
Esiand)
Yunnan Airport Asiaray Information
Media Company Limited
("Yunnan Airport Asiaray")

AR EEERAT
Shenzhen Asiaray Advertising
Company Limited

BEEEREERAR
Hainan Asiaray Advertising
Company Limited

MIECIEERAR(ELRE])
Shenzhen Yashi Metro Company Limited
("Yashi Metro")

Bkt RSERAA
Sichuan Asiaray Advertising
Company Limited

AL/ 3
RirERERY

Place of incorporation/
establishment

and kind of

legal entity

hE - EREAAA
The PRC, limited liability
company

hE - BRAEAR

The PRC, limited liability
company

hE - EREAAA
The PRC, limited liability
company

hE BRALAT

The PRC, limited liability
company

hE - AREEAT
The PRC, limited liability
company

hE - EREAAA
The PRC, limited liability
company

hE - ERELAA
The PRC, limited liability
company

hE - AREEAT
The PRC, limited liability
company

13 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

TERHALRLY

Principal activities and
place of operation

PARERRRS 6
Out-of-home advertising
media services, the PRC

FHRERERY @

QOut-of-home advertising
media services, the PRC

PINRERER - BB
QOut-of-home advertising
media services, the PRC

POVRERERE -

QOut-of-home advertising
media services, the PRC

PINESEERE - FE
QOut-of-home advertising
media services, the PRC

PARERRRS 8
QOut-of-home advertising
media services, the PRC

PINRERER  R&
QOut-of-home advertising
media services, the PRC

PINESHEERS  TE
QOut-of-home advertising
media services, the PRC

Particulars of issued

registered capital

§A7
BRIAN
ERRLLAI%)

BRfTRE/
R

Proportion of
ordinary shares
directly held
by parent (%)

share capital/

AB&%1,000,000 -
RMB1,000,000

A&#%40,000,000 -

RMB40,000,000

ARH1,030,000 -
RMB1,030,000

50,000,000 -

RMB50,000,000

AE%1,000,000 =
RMB1,000,000

AB%2,000,000 -
RMB2,000,000

ARH1,000,000 -
RMB1,000,000

AE%1,200,000 =
RMB1,200,000

Asiaray Media Group Limited

FER
AREEAN RERAN
BERILAI%)  EERLA(%)
Proportion of
Proportion of ordinary
ordinary  shares held by
shares held by  non-controlling
the Group (%) interests (%)
100% =
100% -
100% -
51% 49%
100% -
100% =
12% 28%
100% -
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13 HIBAT (&) 13 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
827 FER
RERAN
EERLA%)
Proportion of
Proportion of ordinary
shares held by
shares held by  non-controlling
interests (%)

AL/ H 3

RirERERY TERHALRDY

Place of incorporation/
establishment

and kind of

legal entity

Principal activities and
place of operation

Company Name

IRELEREERAR
Bejjing Asiaray Advertising
Company Limited

ELRRRERRAR
Xi‘an Asiaray Advertising
Company Limited

ERELRESARAR
Qingdao Asiaray Advertising
Company Limited

MAEEREERARLT
([TazERktE])
Henan Airport Asiaray
Media Company Limited
("Henan Airport Asiaray")

LERRREREERAR
Shanghai Asiaray Media Communication
Company Limited

RIBERLEEERART
Shenzhen Baimoshi Advertising
Company Limited

BB ERRARAA
([E5kELE])
Wuxi Asiaray Metro Media
Company Limited (“"Wuxi Asiaray")

IREHEEERARAT
Beijing Yatie Media Communication
Company Limited
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hE - EREAAA
The PRC, limited liability
company

hE - EREAAA
The PRC, limited liability
company

hE - AREEAT
The PRC, limited liability
company

hE ARAEAT

The PRC, limited liability
company

hE - EREAAA
The PRC, limited liability
company

hE - ERELAA
The PRC, limited liability
company

hE BRALAT

The PRC, limited liability
company

hE - ARREAT
The PRC, limited liability
company

PARERRRS 6
QOut-of-home advertising
media services, the PRC

PINBERER  H&
QOut-of-home advertising
media services, the PRC

PNESHEERS  RE
QOut-of-home advertising
media services, the PRC

POVRERERE - B

QOut-of-home advertising
media services, the PRC

PHEERERE &
QOut-of-home advertising
media services, the PRC

EERE - TE

Advertising services, the PRC

PONRERERE -

QOut-of-home advertising
media services, the PRC

PINRERERT - RE
QOut-of-home advertising
media services, the PRC

BRiTRE/ EREAN  AREEAEN
AfERsE  BERUEH%)  EEREA(%)
Proportion of
Particulars of issued ~ ordinary shares ordinary
share capital/  directly held
registered capital by parent (%) the Group (%)
AE%10,500,000 - 100%
RMB10,500,000
AR#1,000,000 - 100%
RMB1,000,000
10,000,000 - 100%
RMB10,000,000
AB%5,000,000 - 51%
RMBS5,000,000
AB%1,000,000 - 100%
RMB1,000,000
AR#1,000,000 - 100%
RMB1,000,000
AE%3,600,000 - 100%
RMB3,600,000
AE%1,000,000 - 100%
RMB1,000,000

49%
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13 MEBARE)

Company Name

ERURRARSERAT
([5&5R])
Qingdao Chengtou Asiaray
Advertising Company Limited
("Qingdao Chengtou")

IReltEEREARAT
Beijing Chuangshibowei Advertising
Company Limited

RERHEEERERAT
Tianjin Yatie Media Communication
Company Limited

MRS ERAR
Zhejiang Yatie Advertising
Company Limited

MIRBAEREERAT
Shenzhen Skynet Creative Media
Advertising Company Limited

TEREFZERARAR
Zhuhai Newspaper Media Limited

KERARRERHERAR

Zhuhai Yachuangdi Design
Company Limited

RESENERAR

Asiaray Macau Limited

AL/ 3
RirERERY

Place of incorporation/
establishment

and kind of

legal entity

hE ARAEAT

The PRC, limited liability
company

hE - EREAAA
The PRC, limited liability
company

hE - ERELAA
The PRC, limited liability
company

hE - AREEAT
The PRC, limited liability
company

hE - EREAAA
The PRC, limited liability
company

hE - ERELAA
The PRC, limited liability
company

hE - AREEAT
The PRC, limited liability
company

hEAREHNERRERIHE
Macao Special Administrative

Region of the People's Republic
of China

13 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

TERHALRLY

Principal activities and
place of operation

PONREHERE - P

QOut-of-home advertising
media services, the PRC

RERS 08
Advertising services, the PRC

PINREREMR  H&
QOut-of-home advertising
media services, the PRC

PINESHEERS  TE
QOut-of-home advertising
media services, the PRC

REMRS 08
Advertising services, the PRC

FRRERERY =8
Out-of-home advertising media
services, the PRC

BERS - mE
Advertising services, the PRC

PHRERERE PEARLNE
ERRRIAHE

Out-of-home advertising media
services, Macao Special
Administrative Region of the
People's Republic of China

BRfTRE/
R

Particulars of issued

share capital/

registered capital

AE$14,424,000

RMB14,424 400

AB%5,000,000
RMB 5,000,000

AR#10,000,000
RMB 10,000,000

10,000,000
RMB 10,000,000

AB%5,000,000
RMB 5,000,000

AFR8,000,000
RMB8,000,000

AE%1,000,000
RMB1,000,000

#F425,000

MOP25,000

Asiaray Media Group Limited

VNG F2R
EREAN  AREEEN RERAN
BRI  EBRIAC)  EBRLA%)
Proportion of
Proportion of  Proportion of ordinary
ordinary shares ordinary  shares held by
directly held  shares held by  non-controlling
by parent (%) the Group (%) interests (%)
- 69% 31%
- 100% =
- 60% 40%
- 100% -
- 100% =
- 60% 40%
100% -
- 100% =
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13 MEBARE)

FIEMBRARIBMAGH - REBERVH
JB R R A R AR L ) B2 AT 4 B0 RO
Rl —2 -

HANE B IHRAE32(0) A E - A
REIE R BB EIEFE - AEE
RFA R BB TSI ANKD - A
RARBIEEENEERD ZE)ETEE
FERVARRRE B) S AT I AR IR Ak £ 2R B AT &l
EEBRMHNEERATNERESE @ &
REEFRAEA K 2B 85 5
N

R 2018 4F 12 A 31 H K FE = AR # &5
97,333,000/ 7T (2017 4 : 43,803,000
EIT) BN E R S A IR
WHXAEB - R2018F 12831 HMW I
72 j% 4 %5 9,313,000 78 7T (2017 4 -
1,135,000/ 7T ) £2)0] fg 2= 7B T (T 4RO IE
TR EZ AR o R2018F 12 A31HK
JE 42 A% 541 8,152,000 7T (2017 £ -
4,483,000 ) B EHEELSEES
FRAFIR IR = AR -

HRASEARIES Lt = EE R
BREERR  BRFERCE/ALE
BZMBABARK -

AEBHEMIFRE B QB IFERE
SHAEEITEE -

EXRE M B A R IE R A
e ERRXEWIHARARERERD
feh XX R R RERm K o

BREH

20184 2017128318 @ FEHE
AEHSENRERRASEEBYUUARE
HR 1717 X 9 Bl A312,394,0007% 7T &
251,274,000 7T © WAER & HINEE
AR FTIRBR o 3% 5 & M HNE & H0E A
PR 35 @ IE B AN A5 E & [E
HARE e
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13 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

All subsidiaries are included in the consolidation. The
proportion of the voting rights in the subsidiaries held
by the Group does not differ from the proportion of
equity interests held.

As disclosed in Note 32(b) to the consolidated financial
statements, the Company has set up a share award
scheme trust for the administration and holding the
Company’s shares acquired for share award scheme.
As the Company has the power to govern the relevant
activities of the share award scheme trust and can
derive benefits from the contribution of the eligible
persons who award the shares under the share award
scheme, the directors of the Company consider it is
appropriate to consolidate the share award scheme
Trust.

The non-controlling interest of HKD97,333,000 as at 31
December 2018 (2017: HKD43,803,000) was relating to
the non-controlling interest in Yunnan Airport Asiaray.
The non-controlling interest of HKD9,313,000 as at 31
December 2018 (2017: HKD1,135,000) was relating to
the non-controlling interest in Henan Airport Asiaray.
The non-controlling deficit of HKD8,152,000 as at 31
December 2018 (2017: HKD4,483,000) was relating
to the non-controlling interest in Tianjin Yatie Media
Communication Company Limited.

As the Group had the power to control the financial
and operating policies of the above three entities, they
had been accounted for as subsidiaries of the Group.

The non-controlling interests of the Group’s other
non-wholly owned subsidiaries are not material to the
Group.

The English name of the above subsidiaries referred
to above represested the best efforts by management
of the Company in translating their Chinese names, as
they do not have official English names.

Significant restrictions

Cash and cash equivalent and short-term bank deposits
of HKD312,394,000 and HKD251,274,000 were held
in Mainland China as at 31 December 2018 and 2017,
respectively, and are subject to local exchange control
regulations. These local exchange control regulations
provide for restrictions on exporting capital from the
country, other than through normal dividends.
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13 KEBARE)

BERERFEREZNNBELRANNH

(a)

(i) EBEEREXRHE

B
BE
=N
RBEEFEA

FRBEE
BE

FRBEEFEA

BEEFE

(i) HFEWBREE

WA
BR FTS B B A8
PR BRI

FFREEERFE
HAibkr & E18

REWFBAE
B# 0 RIS

fRA S AR

FE N SFFR AR A 22 O RS,

THZEEREHANFEENE

13 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
Summarised financial information for subsidiaries
with material non-controlling interests

(a) Summarised financial information of Yunnan Airport
Asiaray:

(i) Summarised balance sheet

HZ12A31BLEE

Year ended 31 December

20184 20174
2018 2017
F&ET AT
HKD’'000 HKD’000
Current

Assets 365,918 262,449
Liabilities (222,097) (220,841)
Total net current assets 143,821 41,608

Non-current
Assets 54,817 47,786
Total net non-current assets 54,817 47,786
Net assets 198,638 89,394

(i) Summarised statement of comprehensive
income

HZE12A31MHLLEE
Year ended 31 December

20184 20174

2018 2017

FExT FET

HKD’000 HKD'000

Revenue 365,763 311,367

Profit before income tax 139,299 82,957

Income tax expense (20,940) (12,527)

Profit from continuing operations 118,359 70,430

Other comprehensive losses (9,115) (6,881)

Total comprehensive income 109,244 63,549
Total comprehensive income allocated to

non-controlling interest 53,530 31,139
Dividend payable to non-controlling

interest - 28,323
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13 HIBAT (&) 13 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
BEEEAFERESMEA TS Summarised financial information for subsidiaries
ERBE(E) with material non-controlling interests (Continued)

(a) ZEFZEBEHRTHANTEEREE (&) (a) Summarised financial information of Yunnan Airport

Asiaray: (Continued)

(iii) BERERUE (iii) Summarised statement of cash flows

HZ12A31BLEE

Year ended 31 December

EEZDMENESRE

Cash flows from operating activities

20184

2018
FHERT

HKD’'000

20174
2017
FH&T
HKD’000

KERISIR® Cash generated from operations 209,326 16,463
B 1FH Income tax paid (15,114) (10,994)
LB EERIR S RAFRE Net cash inflow from operating activities 194,212 5,469
REERNERS Net cash inflow/(outflow) from investing
MA O ) #88 activities 6,617 (5,080)
BB EHNE SR R Net cash outflow from financing activities (57,803) -
RERBESEEY Net increase in cash and cash
EnE &R equivalents 143,026 389
FMReRREEEY Cash and cash equivalents at beginning
of the year 45,352 42,005
RekREEBYNER Exchange (losses) / gains on cash and
(B8) Wz cash equivalents (7,048) 2,958
FRNESRESEEY Cash and cash equivalents at the end
of the year 181,330 45,352
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13 KEBARE)

(b)

(i)

13 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

EEERFERESZKE L T 0B 15 Summarised financial information for subsidiaries
ERBE(E) with material non-controlling interests (Continued)

SR BRI EENBZ

BEREREE

(b) Summarised financial information of Henan Airport
Asiaray:
(i) Summarised balance sheet

B

afE
RBAEFRAR
FERE

=N
FRBEEFEMATT

BEEFE

M12H31H
As at 31 December
20184 20174
2018 2017
FHExT FET
HKD’000 HKD'000
Current
Assets 128,548 76,031
Liabilities (171,561) (139,467)
Total net current liabilities (43,013) (63,436)

Non-current

Assets 65,158 70,238
Liabilities (3,139) (4,486)
Total net non-current assets 62,019 65,752
Net assets 19,006 2,316
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13 HIBAT (&) 13 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
BEEEAFERESMEA TS Summarised financial information for subsidiaries
ERBE(E) with material non-controlling interests (Continued)

(b) JAEZEE AN TEEREE - (&) (b) Summarised financial information of Henan Airport

Asiaray: (Continued)

(i) HZEKRBERPE (i) Summarised statement of comprehensive

income

HZ12A31BLEE

Year ended 31 December

20184 20174

2018 2017

FET FET

HKD'000 HKD'000

WA Revenue 191,925 155,690

AT RTRE (Ei8) Profit/(loss) before income tax 23,865 (6,142)

Frigfi (Bx) &% Income tax (expense)/credit (6,125) 1,657

BHESEEENE(BB) Profit/(loss) from continuing operations 17,740 (4,485)

HEib4r & Eia Other comprehensive losses (1,050) (2,921)

mEekE (R A Total comprehensive income/(loss) 16,690 (7,4006)
B SR IFERERR Total comprehensive income/(loss)

relkes /(EiE) s allocated to non-controlling interest 8,178 (3,629)
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13 HIBAT (&) 13 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
BEEEAFERESNMEA TS Summarised financial information for subsidiaries
ERBE(E) with material non-controlling interests (Continued)

(b) JAEZEE AN TEEREE - (&) (b) Summarised financial information of Henan Airport

Asiaray: (Continued)
(iii) BERERUE (iii) Summarised statement of cash flows

HZ12A31BLEE

Year ended 31 December

2018%F 20174
2018 2017
FHExT FH&T
HKD'000 HKD'000
EETHRENESRE Cash flows from operating activities
KERISIR® Cash generated from operations 54,569 19,913
BEAFE Interest paid (298) (360)
EHTET Income tax paid (7,631) (1,993)
LEEHMNIRES RAFEE Net cash infow from operating activities 46,640 17,560
REERHNERS Net cash inflow/(outflow) investing
WA O ) #88 activities 162 (888)
RERBESEEY Net increase in cash and
EnE & cash equivalents 46,802 16,672
FMReRREEEY Cash and cash equivalents at beginning
of the year 37,791 19,193
ReRREEFEBYER Exchange (losses)/gains on cash and
(B8) Wz cash equivalents (3,329) 1,926
FRNESRESEEY Cash and cash equivalents at the end
of the year 81,264 37,791
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13 HIBAT (&) 13 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
EEERFEREZVHE D T W Summarised financial information for subsidiaries
BERBE(E) with material non-controlling interests (Continued)

(c) RKEFBELEZREGRA NG FEEH (c) Summarised financial information of Tianjin Yatie
#E - Media Communication Company Limited:

(i) EEEGEREE (i) Summarised balance sheet

M12H31H
As at 31 December
2018%F 20174
2018 2017
FHExT T
HKD'000 HKD'000
8 Current
BiE Assets 15,867 33,630
aE Liabilities (48,056) (52,627)
FEBEEFEA Total net current liabilities (32,189) (18,997)
TR E Non-current
BE Assets 11,809 7,790
ERBEEFEAS Total net non-current assets 11,809 7,790
EEFHE Net liabilities (20,380) (11,207)
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13 MEBARE)

(c)

(ii)

BERERFEREZNNBELRANNH

BERBEE)

#HE : (&)
FEBBRRBE

YA
BRETS AT E 1R
PSR %

FREEXREER
Hibira e, (BR)

REBRAE

B# D RIS
A BRAR

13 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Summarised financial information for subsidiaries

with material non-controlling interests (Continued)

KEFEEEFIRBR A G B # (c) Summarised financial information of Tianjin Yatie
Media Communication Company Limited: (Continued)

(ii)) Summarised statement of comprehensive loss

HZ12A31BLEE

Year ended 31 December

20184 20174

2018 2017

FExT FET

HKD'000 HKD'000

Revenue 41,822 20,183

Loss before income tax (13,066) (29,829)

Income tax credit 3,067 7,439

Loss from continuing operations (9,999) (22,390)

Other comprehensive income/(loss) 826 (779)

Total comprehensive losses (9,173) (23,169)
Total comprehensive losses allocated to

non-controlling interest (3,669) (9,268)
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13 KWEBRARE) 13 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
BEEEARFERESZNKE AN MK Summarised financial information for subsidiaries
ERBE(E) with material non-controlling interests (Continued)

(c) RKEFBELEZREGRA NG FEEH (c) Summarised financial information of Tianjin Yatie
#E (&) Media Communication Company Limited: (Continued)

(iii) BERERUE (iii) Summarised statement of cash flow

HZ12A31BLEE

Year ended 31 December

20184 20174
2018 2017
FET FHTT
HKD'000 HKD'000
EETHMENESRE Cash flows from operating activities
ERIRECRE),RA Cash (outflow)/inflow from operations (14,512) 7,328
LEEHMSHES Net cash (outflow)/inflow from
Cmd),/RAFFE operating activities (14,512) 7,328
KR EENIE S R R Net cash outflow from investing activities (40) (86)
MERHNRERAFRE Net cash inflow from financing activities - 11,354
BENERSZEEY Net (decrease)/increase in cash
GRD),/#inEEE and cash equivalents (14,552) 18,596
FONRERFSEFED Cash and cash equivalents at beginning
of the year 19,243 -
ReRREEEBYHER Exchange (losses)/gains on cash
(B18), W and cash equivalents (389) 647
FRNESRESEEY Cash and cash equivalents at the end
of the year 4,302 19,243
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14 EIEFTEH

14 DEFERRED INCOME TAX

BEMAEERABBHNOTAT The analysis of deferred tax assets and liabilities is as

follows:

M12831H

As at 31 December
20184 20174

2018 2017
TR TAT
HKD’000 HKD'000

EERAEE -
— 128 A AU E
— R12{8 A &Y
ELERIARE
— M2 A REE

Deferred tax assets:

— to be recovered within 12 months 52,680 45176
— to be recovered after 12 months 43,741 40,726
96,421 85,902

Deferred tax liabilities:
— to be settled within 12 months (6,338) (2,042)

90,083 83,860
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14 EEFIER (&)
IRIEFHIERR B R FE BN -

4

BRARMNE B BHE ER
FORH BT HRES
(Bfiz2.2)

ST AR (HE28)

B ARG R
(EERNEMERE WETR)

WM B AR (HiE37)

EMEEE

FHR

ERFISHEE -

UT&RELEEETRER
HYAEER

iR &5 18

BRER

JE UK IR R (B B 1
ERT—MHEERER
BT E

SIAE MR A Wk i) B E B

(20174 : ALK E SR EE)

B DT EE S
7 8 A 4
EERAAERE

ARIE I 5 AR E 1K SRR A
HIRAE

ERER IR E B FE
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14 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)
The net movement on the deferred tax account is as

follows:

HZ12A31BLEE

Year ended 31 December

20184 20174F

2018 2017

THERT THTT

HKD’000 HKD'000

Beginning of the year 83,860 78,075
Change in accounting policy
relating to the adoption of

HKFRS 9 (Note 2.2) 685 -

Credited to profit or loss (Note 28) 12,221 911

Credited/(charged) directly to

other comprehensive income 104 (10)

Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 37) (2,854) -

Currency translation differences (3,933) 4,884

End of the year 90,083 83,860

Deferred income tax assets:

M12H31H

As at 31 December
20184

20174
2017
THEIT
HKD’000

2018
FERT
HKD'000

The balance comprises temporary
differences attributable to:

Tax losses 43,740 40,726
Accruals 44,990 40,053
Provision for impairment of receivables 6,658 4,355
Discounting effect of loans to an associate
395 669

Fair value change on financial assets

through other comprehensive income

(2017: Available-for-sale financial

assets) 193 89
Depreciation allowance 445 10
Total deferred tax assets 96,421 85,902
Set-off of deferred tax liabilities pursuant

to set-off provisions (3,484) (2,042)
Net deferred tax assets 92,937 83,860
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14 EEZEREBHRE) 14 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)
EEHEEERABHES (KT X Movement in deferred tax assets and liabilities without
fER—ME e AR EENER) 0T - taking into consideration the offsetting of balances

within the same tax jurisdiction is as follows:
BELEFHIREE Deferred tax assets:

BATESIA
RferahEn
SHEE
8RF (0175 Ak SIABREN
BYE  -BEENE  LESRER) SHEE
REgEs BRER AERE  NERPE  NOVESD fiEEE  ATERE
Fair value
change on
financial assets
at fair value
through other
comprehensive Fair value
Discounting  income (2017: change on
Provision for effectof  availablefor- financial assets
impairment of ~ loanstoan sale financial  Depreciation through profit
Tax losses Accruals  receivables associate assets) allowance or loss Total
TEL Fhn Tin TAn TiL ThAL Thn TETL
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000

BE20185 128 A LEE Year ended 31 December 2018

i) At beginning ofthe year 40726 40,053 4,355 669 8 10 - 85,902
AR ESE B8 205k Change in accounting policy relating to

SHFEBHH22) the adoption of HKFRS9 (Note 2.2) B . 485 _ . B _ 685
RBEDH A/ (F18) Credited/(charged] to profit or loss 4819 6,846 1914 (252) _ 435 - 13,762
AR AkES Credited to other comprehensive income - - - - 104 - - 104
Ll 2 Currency translation differences (1,805) (1,909) (296) 22) - _ _ (4,032
HRER Atend of the year 43,740 44990 6,658 395 193 445 - 96,421

BE0175128M B LEE Year ended 31 December 2017

) At beginning ofthe year 751 37809 435 849 %9 - 1y 80,566
RBEDH A/ (F18) Credited/(charged] to profit or loss 940 (170) (17 231) _ 10 ®) 3%
REMEARGRIR Charged to other comprehensive income - - - - (10) - - (10)
EHhg e Currency translation differences 2274 2,39 291 51 _ _ _ 5,010
RER Atend of the year 40,726 40,053 4,355 669 89 10 - 85,902
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14 EEFIER (&) 14 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)
R ITEAE Deferred tax liabilities:

R12A31H

As at 31 December
20184 20174

2018 2017
TExT TAT
HKD’000 HKD'000

UT&EELSIEGEZ5EN The balance comprises temporary

=] differences attributable to:
EER Depreciation allowance 1,380 31
RBEBA O T ERS Fair value gains through business

(B17£37) combinations (Note 37) 2,854 -
REWME QT ERS Fair value gains on investment properties 2,104 2,011
EERIA R B4R Total deferred tax liabilities 6,338 2,042
R IR 57 T SR Set-off of deferred tax assets pursuant to

RiEaE set-off provisions (3,484) (2,042)
EERIBE B F5E Net deferred tax liabilities 2,854 =
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14 EEFIER (&) 14 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)
R ITAREEE) Movement of deferred tax liabilities:

EHAH REME

REER NVERE NVERES
Fair value Fair value

gains through gains on

Depreciation business investment
allowance  combination properties Total
TR TBT THET TR
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000

BZ20185F12A31HILEE Year ended 31 December 2018

READ At beginning of the year 31 - 2,011 2,042
BRI Charged to profit or loss 1,349 - 192 1,541
WEERB AR (H3#37) Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 37) - 2,854 - 2,854
ERmEED Currency translation differences - - (99) (99)
RER At end of the year 1,380 2,854 2,104 6,338
BZ2017F12R310LEE Year ended 31 December 2017

RED At beginning of the year 770 - 1,721 2,491
RBEFR (GEA) /i (Credited)/charged to profit or loss (739) = 164 (575)
EEHEES Currency translation differences - - 126 126
RER At end of the year 31 = 2,011 2,042
MR2018F K 2017% 128318 » A&EEH The Group did not recognise deferred tax assets
0 £ 55 Bl Bt AT 45 88 DA HD R 2R B ER B UL of HKD12,497,000 and HKD14,027,000 in respect
AHJ57,976,0007% 7t 2 58,503,0007% 7T of tax losses amounting to HKD57,976,000 and
TSR REERIBEEE12,497,000 HKD58,503,000 that can be carried forward against
78T K 14,027,000 7T ° future taxable profit as at 31 December 2018 and 2017,

respectively.
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14 EEFIER (&)

14

REERIEIER TR E EM B IR EEE M A

HAnR -

DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)
The expiry date of the tax losses for which deferred tax
assets were not recognised is as follows:

M12H31H
As at 31 December
20184 20174

2018 2017
TExT TAT
HKD’000 HKD'000

14 LA &

PV E2FRfETw
MR2E3IF A&
INCEV AV Ep
RAESFAE M
S5FNERIREME

25

=

Expire within 1 year 1,268 8,738
Expire in 1 to 2 years 5,690 1,408
Expire in 2 to 3 years 7,875 8,576
Expire in 3 to 4 years 10,468 9,072
Expire in 4 to 5 years 69 11,513
Over 5 years and not subject to expiration 32,606 24,201

57,976 58,503

R20184F K 2017F12A31H » KEHE
7 Bl 2 3 4 E AT AR DA SE 0 AR SR B AR B
W A 894,023,000/ 7T X 8,643,000/ T
B iR g =R EREERIEE E
1,006,000/ 7T £2.2,013,000/& 7T °
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The Group did not recognise deferred tax assets
of HKD1,006,000 and HKD2,013,000 in respect of
other deductible temporary differences amounting to
HKD4,023,000 and HKD8,643,000 that can be carried
forward against future taxable profit as at 31 December
2018 and 2017, respectively.
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15 FEWERIRRHEMEKRKIE 15 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

M12H31H
As at 31 December

FFARBEE
FEM B ()

— FEURREE T FIR (/5L 34(b)

— RWE=T75R
B R FORE B ()

FEURBRFR - R
Ho At FE USRI ()

— FEURREE T SR (M1 AL 34(b)

— BWRE=75E
R Bl FE MR IRR BB (d)

Hip U ss - JH5

& WA B

FBRHIR

H B FRIE(e)

— X TRREDT (H1aE34(b))

—XNFE=7

HARRBEE
A — PR A R B

et

Included in current assets

Trade receivables (a)

— Due from related parties (Note 34(b))

— Due from third parties

Less: loss allowance of trade
receivables (b)

Trade receivables, net

Other receivables (c)

— Due from related parties (Note 34(b))

— Due from third parties

Less: loss allowance of other
receivables (d)

Other receivables, net

Interest receivables

Prepaid taxes

Other prepayments (e)

— Paid to related parties (Note 34(b))

— Paid to third parties

Included in non-current assets
Loans to an associate (f)

Total

Asiaray Media Group Limited

20184

2018
FET

HKD’000

20174
2017
FHET
HKD’000

522,054 440,580
3,358 6,048
518,696 434,532
(28,615) (23,189)
493,439 417,391
271,720 112,244
22,911 15,447
248,809 96,797
(4,818) (1,739)
266,902 110,505
1,172 1,107
26,929 27,960
52,423 79,220
6,428 4,914
45,995 74,306
840,865 636,183
15,826 15,569
856,691 651,752
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15
(a)

(b)

FE W RR K % EL Ath P WK TE (48)
AEBIBETEFPEEEEH - K%
BE B RBEWATER B B B UR R A
BORE OO

15
(a)

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)
The Group has no specified credit terms for its
customers. Ageing analysis of the gross trade
receivables based on revenue recognition date at the
respective balance sheet dates is as follows:

M12A31H
As at 31 December
20184 20174
2018 2017
FET FET
HKD'000 HKD'000
&5%6@A Up to 6 months 397,028 331,480
6@ B =1218 A 6 months to 12 months 69,027 58,786
1FEE2F 1 year to 2 years 22,716 26,030
2FE3IF 2 years to 3 years 16,321 8,481
3FE Over 3 years 16,962 15,803
522,054 440,580
W ERFURE (b) Impairment of trade receivables

AEBERBEEMBRELEEINRE
AT EEMEREBRE - RtmARK
ERREREHEREEER - AKET
BERTEERXZETNEELER A
REREMBAN - BELRKEME
EREEREERR - MEFE KR
HEEEREAN —REEIN > A&H
1 3 5% % oK BE UG [ &Y 4% B 1 A E
fa o

7 20184F 1 A1 H RN E B B 15 3k 5 2%
RIZE95k1& « EIEE 1L N4,155,0007%
JLZE 27,344,000 7T ° IAASRE HAR -
E B — 2012 01,271,000 T &
28,615,000 7T - B R EEEEEN
T E A IBE RIS 1(b) ©

ERERBERFNEREBET AEH
RAERERAN [TTBAX] - EFRHMT
SHEEZHREE  REGRIGNE
B — AR T LA -
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The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach
to measure expected credit losses which use a lifetime
expected loss allowance for all trade receivables.
The Group also continuously monitors the credit
risks by assessing the credit quality of respective
counterparties, taking into account its financial
position, past experience and other factors. When
necessary, the Group will make specific provision for
those balances which cannot be recovered apart from
the general provision arise from the expected credit
loss model.

Upon the adoption of HKFRS 9 on 1 January 2018,
the loss allowance increased by HKD4,155,000 to
HKD27,344,000. The loss allowance further increased
by HKD1,271,000 during the current reporting period
to HKD28,615,000. Note 3.1(b) provides for details
about the calculation of these loss allowance.

The loss allowance for impaired trade receivables
had been included in ‘administrative expenses’ in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
Amounts charged to the allowance account are
generally written off, when there is no expectation of
recovering additional cash.
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15 BWERRRHEMERREE)

(c)

(d)

B W RIBE ZE R AR EERE
BEASXHHERRESREWE TH
BT FIA - 720184 2017412 A 31
B EaMEWENRAEREAFE
BE - AT RERRE B2 ERRANE
BN T UAREE - KRR 1218 B BEETE
HZEE54E -

R 2018 F %2017 %12 A31H » &
ftt fE Wg 3 T8 5 Bl A& 4,818,000 78 7T &
1,739,0007%8 7t - B # #5180 H KA
B - M2018F K 2017F12A31H -
BB B & 8 o R 54,818,000 T &
1,739,000/ 7T °

N2 (8] 5 B L IR U SRR (B B R Y
;R :

15
(c)

(d)

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Other receivables mainly represent guaranteed
deposits paid to various media resources owners and
amounts due from certain related parties. The carrying
amounts of other receivables approximated to their
fair value as at 31 December 2018 and 2017. Their
recoverability was assessed with reference to the credit
status of the recipients, and there is no expected credit
loss for future twelve months.

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, other receivables
of HKD4,818,000 and HKD1,739,000 respectively, over
180 days past due are impaired. As at 31 December
2018 and 2017, the balance of the loss allowance are
HKD4,818,000 and HKD1,739,000, respectively.

Movements on the Group's provision for impairment of
other receivables are as follows:

M®12A31H
As at 31 December
20184 20174
2018 2017
THET FHTT
HKD'000 HKD’000
RE 7] At beginning of the year 1,739 1,090
B ERR 2 BB g n Increase in loss allowance recognised
in profit or loss 3,270 559
GiEi=! Written off - (6)
B R Currency translation differences (191) 96
R At end of the year 4,818 1,739

HtEYHRIANEBEREENE T AS
HHRARERARN [1TTHAX ] - BN
TeROEZREE - REGERP MR
B &R — MR T IAMIEE o

The increase in loss allowance for other receivables
have been included in ‘administrative expenses’ in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
Amounts charged to the allowance account are
generally written off, when there is no expectation of
recovering additional cash.
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15 BWERRRHEMERREE)

(e)

(f)

HMAMRESTWT

EEERSFEEBEHN

15 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

(e)

Analysis of other prepayments is as follows:

M12H31H
As at 31 December
20184

20174
2018 2017
FET FHET
HKD’000 HKD'000

Prepayments for concession fee

AT FRIE charges for advertising spaces 47,161 74,764
EAh Others 5,262 4,456
52,423 79,220

TERETHERNERELKIESRED
—JEE A B # 15,251,000 ( & A B
17,406,000/ 70) BB AFHNEEE
K ZIBERM LA FEENRIAF
ARBITEMBHIRITEE N FK6.55%5T
BMERNEMNREREET -

201446 » EBHAHEBEMIMNES
EERARE — D ERNRES ZZ
—mEEEx R ZEHE]) -
BREZSHa  BEKAESR2014
F6A30BAMRBEANA49% AR
15,251,000( F1ER 17,406,000/ 7T ) E
EBRBEEIRT LB - WHERAE
BEFERTHZLERLZHER TR
BIPEE  EAEBEREBNES -
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(f

It represented an interest-free loan of RMB15,251,000
(equivalent to HKD17,406,000) from Shanghai Asiaray
to Fujian Zhaoxiang Advertising with a term of 6 years.
The initial fair value of the loan was based on cash flow
discounted using interest rate based on the prevailing
borrowing rates of 6.55%, promulgated by the People’s
Bank of China.

In 2014, Shanghai Asiaray entered into a formal
equity transfer agreement and a related supplemental
agreement with Xiamen Airport Group Co., Ltd. (=
FIFIEE B AR QA (the "Agreements”). Pursuant
to the Agreements, RMB15,251,000 (equivalent to
HKD17,406,000) representing 49% of the retained
earnings of Fujian Zhaoxiang Advertising as at 30 June
2014 was declared as dividends to Shanghai Asiaray,
which was immediately loaned to Fujian Zhaoxiang
Advertising through entrusted loan arrangement with
commercial banks for funding its business expansion.
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15
(9)

FE W RR X % EL Ath P WK TE (48)
7 5% 18] 8 AT R R e B At R LSRR TR Y B TED
TR T EBHE

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)
The carrying amount of the Group’s trade and
other receivables are denominated in the following
currencies:

M12H31H

As at 31 December
20184 20174
2018 2017
FHExT FET
HKD’000 HKD'000
AR RMB 687,807 558,933
BT HKD 168,884 92,819
856,691 651,752

16 FHRITEN 16 SHORT-TERM BANK DEPOSITS

AEBOEBRITERTIATIEE
8 :

The Group's short-term bank deposits were
denominated in the following currencies:

AR RMB
BT HKD

RHRITERERBIENRE - XAQF]
BERA 20184 %2017 12 A 31
B EHETEZRNEAEREEAFE
& -

H E20184F K 2017F 12 A31H IFF
B AEBYZHRNT6EAE1F/H
RHRITFRNEBRMNED R R1.75%
$1.70% °

M®12A31H

As at 31 December
20184 20174
2018 2017
TR FET
HKD’000 HKD'000
6,122 31,427
- 201
6,122 31,628

Short-term bank deposits were neither past due nor
impaired. The directors of the Company considered
that the carrying amount of the short-term bank
deposits approximated their fair values as at 31
December 2018 and 2017.

The effective interest rate for the short-term bank
deposits of the Group with initial terms ranging from
6 months to 1 year for the years ended 31 December
2018 and 2017 was 1.75% and 1.70%, respectively.
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17 ZR4IBERBAERBELSEEY 17 RESTRICTED CASH AND CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS

M12H31H
As at 31 December
20184 20174
2018 2017
FET FET
HKD'000 HKD'000
RITERRFHARS Cash at bank and on hand 429,420 370,956
R ZREIEE 2 (b) Less: Restricted cash (b) (49,489) (71,768)
HeMBEZEY() Cash and cash equivalents (a) 379,931 299,188
(@) BHEBRLEBRLEZEBYWIATIEE (@) Cash and cash equivalents were denominated in the
& : following currencies:
MW12H31H
As at 31 December
20184 20174
2018 2017
FET FET
HKD'000 HKD'000
AR RMB 306,481 219,836
BT HKD 68,555 79,352
HAh Others 4,895 _
379,931 299,188
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17 SREBESRBEERBESEEY
(&)

(b) BR3,664,0008 TLABITETEN 0 FR
FIIEEUAREE - XBRFIBEHD
o

17 RESTRICTED CASH AND CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS (Continued)

(b) Restricted cash was denominated in RMB except
for HKD3,664,000 which was dominated in HKD. An
analysis of restricted cash is as follows:

M12H31H
As at 31 December
20184 20174

2018 2017
TExT TAT

=T IRTTATE B R KA IR

HKD’000 HKD’000

Guaranteed deposits for letter of

RESD guarantee issued by certain banks 45,825 71,768

ERAEFROFAENRS

AN REHEN GRS IRBINE R
o B A e O HH B SN RTHEL RV SRTT A4S 81
KIRE  7BE ST B RE BT 8 A A S
PE B AR B SR AR ©

18 R

Deposits held by the Trust for treasury
shares

3,664 -

49,489 71,768

The conversion of RMB denominated balances into
foreign currencies and the remittance of such foreign
currencies denominated bank balances and cash out of
the PRC are subject to relevant rules and regulations
of foreign exchange control promulgated by the PRC
government.

18 SHARE CAPITAL

EBERYE EBRREE
Number of Nominal value
ordinary of ordinary

shares shares

(TR Fit7

EE Authorised:

20176128318 -
20181 1B R
20184124318

2817 Issued:

20175128318 -
2018F1H1A K
2018412 A31H

(thousand) HKD'000

At 31 December 2017,
1 January 2018 and
31 December 2018 1,000,000 100,000

At 31 December 2017,
1 January 2018 and
31 December 2018 440,000 44,000
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19 f&#E

R2017E1B1B £

Gl

EETE

Eiaa ki

EfRNESREAE
(E408)

GaUnaE

IEBRERR S (WiHa)

WAATERAZORE

EIKARGH ARES
(it20)

ERNERERAREAN
RA4R

R2017512A31 A &4

Balance at 1 January 2017

Comprehensive income

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income

Revaluation of available-for-sale
financial assets, net of tax

Currency translation differences

Total comprehensive income

Transaction with non-controlling
interests (Note (a))

Dividend paid to owners of
the Company

Issue of perpetual subordinated

convertible securities (Note 20)

Total transactions with owners,
recognised directly in equity

Balance at 31 December 2017
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19

RESERVES

R
Perpetual
Available subordinated
forsale  Share-based convertible Currency
Share financial compensation Warrant ~ securities ~ translation Other  Retained
premium  asset reserve reserve reserve (Note 20)  differences reserves eamings Total
THRL AT A TERL AR TERL
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000
461,013 (759) 26,209 3,075 - (43,831) (10,821) 77,039 511,925
- - - - - - - 44,690 44,690
- 47 - - - - - - 47
- - - - - 3N - - 371
- 4 - - - 3372 - 44,690 78,458
- - - - - - (12,506) - (12,506)
(114,400) - - - - - - - (114,400
- - - - 30,000 - - - 30,000
(114,400) - - - 30,000 - (12,506) - (96,906)
346,613 (712) 26,209 3,075 30,000 (10,110) (23,327) 121,729 493477
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19 #HEE) 19 RESERVES (Continued)

BOTEIA

TitE Abkaks DL RS

RbEE ERKERR HERKERR 2HHER E KBERER REEA

Financial
assets at

Available ~fair value Perpetual

forsale through other subordinated

financial ~ comprehen- Share-based convertible  Currency

Share assets  siveincome  Treasury compensation Warrant  securities  translation Other  Retained

premium reserve reserve stocks reserve reserve (Note 20)  differences reserves eamnings Total
Thn Thn Thn Thn Thn Thn Thn Thn Thn Thn Thn
HKD'000  HKD'000  HKD'000  HKD'000  HKD'000  HKD'000  HKD'000  HKD'000  HKD'000  HKD'000  HKD'000

WO17E12A31 R 45 Balance at 31 December 2017

(WRHE5) as originally presented 346,613 (12) - - 26,209 3,078 30,000 (10110 (23327 120729 493417
SR 2F(0H22)  Change in accounting polices
(Note 2. ® U 1) - - - - - SO () B V')

H201851R1AEEALEE  Restated total equity at

(EE5) 1 January 2018, as restated 346,613 - (12) - 26,209 3,075 30,000 (10,110) (23327 118259 490,007
GebE Comprehensive income
351 Proft for the year = = S S S - - - - 62,953 62,953

R4 (58) /b Other comprehensive (loss)/income
BRRATEIAL D Revaluation of financial asets at far

GelsninEE value through other comprehensive
income - - (695) - - - - - - - (695)
EHnEER Curency translation ifferences - - - - - - - (040) - - (040)
balsgs Total comprehensive income - - (695) - - - - (20407) = 62,953 41,851
BRERR Share option apsed - - - - (4,981) - - - - 4,981 -
MRBTERBENE  Perpetual subordinated convertible
securities distrbution - - - - - - - - - (1,743) (1,743)
ERDEBHIEERR  Purchase of shares for share award
(Hit32m) scheme (Note 3200 - - - (3% - - - - - - (3%
AAAZEEALANRE  Dividend paid to onners of the
Compiny (94160 . . . . . . . . - )

ERRNBREIEREAN  Total transactions with owners,
25488 recognised directly in equity (94,160) - - (17,336) (4,981) - - - - 3238 (11323%9)

H2018E12A31RER Balance at 31 December 2018 252,453 - (1407) (17,336 21,228 3,075 30,000 (30517)  (23327) 184450 418,819
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20

RE(2E)

PR2017F8 A » G EBER A A
BB HISREHHEERND T LEES
B - WA % - ESHTEKE L
BEEER2EHAENNERR - L8
EESEEI M2 WEREENIKE B E
MM 25% FEERMABEZ HMNERE
EREM AT RER

HE2018F12A31HILEE - A&EE
BB EEE B ETRE BT
B 6,752,5001RE B B kn - BERD
S 4EEE 517,336,000/ 70 0 B #EHE
w0k MET ABETFRRG -

KRR TR R 55

R20174% 9 R 78 » K2 A E Space
Management Limited ([R5 1) (KA
AR Z —)RI L RE W= - Bt - K
RAEREREETMRE S A RER
EREBA$#R50,000,0007 7T 2 KA
RBAIMIRE S - ARV FBRRETR
HRR AR 17 3.5478 7T 0 LB R R R 1R A
@A (MR 1) - BED A
30,000,000% 7T 20,000,000/ 7T © 1R
BREWE - BITEFTINRMERS
AEE : (1)VEBBIMMERITASHE
/350,000,0007% 7T 2 7K A IR A% T 2 AR 75
% RQARABIBRERBRRAE L
HEREHZE - RTKEMRERIT T
FA - ARFBAEFEEE AR
BBETEEENERRB I RBELSRE
#320,000,000/8 LAY 55 —HERE 55 -

R2017F11 8108 » AR el EHRES
RN AT RIS ERRE A RESE
THOK AR AR AT B S —F Kt
R E K AR BT IRE H B
Na) B R ER 7 AT ELT o
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20

RESERVES (Continued)

In August 2017, Wuxi Metro Group Limited transferred
its 25% share of Wuxi Asiaray to Shanghai Advertising
Media. Upon this transaction, Wuxi Asiaray became
the 100% subsidiary of Shanghai Advertising Media.
The difference between the acquisition consideration
paid by Shanghai Advertising Media and the carrying
value of the 25% net assets of Wuxi Asiaray as at the
acquisition day was recognised in other reserves.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the
Group acquired 6,752,500 of its own shares through
purchases on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange by the
share award scheme trust. The total amount paid to
acquire the shares was HKD17,336,000 and has been
deducted from equity and included in treasury shares.

PERPETUAL SUBORDINATED CONVERTIBLE
SECURITIES

On 7 September 2017, the Company entered into a
Subscription Agreement with the Space Management
Limited (the “Subscriber”), one of the shareholders of
the Company, pursuant to which, the Company has
conditionally agreed to issue, and the Subscriber has
conditionally agreed to subscribe for, the Perpetual
Subordinated Convertible Securities (the “PSCS")
in the principal amount of HKD50,000,000 that is
convertible into the ordinary shares of the Company
(“Conversion Shares”) at the initial Conversion Price
of HKD3.54 per Conversion Share in two tranches at
the face value of HKD30,000,000 and HKD20,000,000
respectively. Pursuant to the Subscription Agreement,
the issuance is conditional on the fulfilment of the
following conditions: (1) approval of the issue of the
PSCS (with principal amount of HKD50,000,000) by
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange; and (2) approval
of the Subscription Agreement by the independent
shareholders of the Company at the general meeting.
Within 5 years from the completion of the first tranche
subscription, the Company shall have the right, at
its sole discretion and through its board of directors
meetings, to call for the Subscriber to subscribe for
the second tranche of the Securities in the principal
amount of HKD20,000,000.

On 10 November 2017, the Company and the
Subscriber entered into a Supplemental Agreement
to amend the call for the Subscriber to subscribe for
the second tranche of the PSCS, pursuant to which the
subscription of the second tranche of PSCS shall be
subject to independent shareholders’ approval by the
Company.
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20 KANRZUBERFES (&) 20 PERPETUAL SUBORDINATED CONVERTIBLE
SECURITIES (Continued)

B2017F12 A 15 B 817 2 BREF IR The first batch of PSCS HKD30,000,000 has been
gHER - E—#AEL%R30,000,000 issued on 28 December 2017 after the approval of the
W TT 2 K AR AR AT IR 38 25 2 70 2017 EGM held on 15 December 2017. As at 31 December
F12H28H 1T - M20184F k20174 2018 and 2017, the second batch of PSCS has not
12A318 & oK AR B AT R AR E 55 been approved by the independent shareholders of the
MARBIARABBILRELAE - KAF] Company. It is the intention of the Company that all the
BEMBERESRENK  BEASEF cash flow payments, including principal and interests,
B BARRBBBEL - will be made at the Company’s discretion.
KRR AR 75 I A B B A R 3E A~ The PSCS has no maturity date and does not confer a
fE, F UER R 2 BEA o right to receive distributions.

21 &R 21 BORROWINGS

M®12H31H
As at 31 December
20184

20174
2018 2017
FET FHET
HKD’000 HKD'000

FERME BT AR Non-current bank borrowings

— B (a) — secured (a) 4,280 5,682
B ERBERRRENE S Less: current portion of non-current
borrowings (1,141) (1,196)
— | — unsecured 105,597 19,000
B IERENE KRB S Less: current portion of non-current
borrowings (31,010) (9,340)
77,726 14,146
MENSRAT AN Current bank borrowings
— JERBERRE D — current portion of non-current
borrowings 32,151 10,536
— fRIEH — unsecured 159,129 119,668
191,280 130,204
RITERARE Total bank borrowings 269,006 144,350
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21 BFR(#E) 21 BORROWINGS (Continued)
(a) FEBPERVFBOT : (@) The details of the secured borrowings are as follows:
M12H31H
As at 31 December
20184 20174
2018 2017
FTER FHET
HKD'000 HKD’000
LA $00] = 22 A A A Y Secured by the pledge of certain
ETORERER properties of Henan Airport Asiaray
(Btat6%7) (Notes 6 and 7) 4,280 5,682
(b) RMEFLEBENMEFHAERNENT : (b) The weighted average effective interest rates at each

balance sheet date are as follows:

M®12831H
As at 31 December
20184 20174F
2018 2017
TERT T
HKD'000 HKD’000
IEMBNE R Non-current borrowings 4.38% 4.38%
mENE R Current borrowings 3.89% 3.93%
() M2018F 20179 12A31H » AEH (c) At 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Group's
EEERRANT : borrowings are repayable as follows:
R12A31A
As at 31 December
2018%F 20174
2018 2017
THET FAT
HKD'000 HKD’000
1EURN Within 1 year 191,280 130,204
1F 226 Between 1 year and 2 years 35,241 10,856
2FFE5F Between 2 years and 5 years 42,485 3,290
269,006 144,350
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B (&)
(%)

ARSFAEREER

RELK - REE 8 5K E b8 A =
SHBHEEBHWT :

o> 3

61 A sk AR
6@ B E1218 A
1 E5F

BIEARE SR H) 2 B 82 K BR T B 4H
RUERHOTETRK - JERBER
BERAFEWAT :

FREE
AF(E

21
(c)

BORROWINGS (Continued)
(Continued)

M12H31H
As at 31 December
20184

20174
2017
FHET
HKD’000

2018
TET
HKD’000

Wholly repayable within 5 years 269,006 144,350

HE) R (d) The exposure of the Group’s borrowings to interest
rate changes and the contractual repricing dates at the

end of the year are as follows:

M®12831H

As at 31 December
20184 20174
2018 2017
FET FET
HKD’000 HKD'000
6 months or less 48,463 129,008
6 months to 12 months 142,817 1,196
1 year to 5 years 77,726 14,146
269,006 144,350

EEI S
M AR

The fair values of current borrowings approximated
their carrying amounts as the impact of discounting was
not significant. The carrying amounts and fair values of
the non-current borrowings are as follows:

M12831H

As at 31 December
20184 20174
2018 2017
FExT T
HKD’000 HKD’000
Carrying amounts 77,726 14,146
Fair values 75,757 15,376
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21 BRE) 21 BORROWINGS (Continued)
d (&) (d) (Continued)
ANEEBEZOERE N EEHE - The carrying amounts of the Group's borrowings are
denominated in the following currencies:

M12A31H
As at 31 December
20184 20174
2018 2017
FExT FET
HKD'000 HKD'000
ARE RMB 52,742 41,332
BIT HKD 216,264 103,018
269,006 144,350
22 BENEREMRRHEAMEMSKIE 22 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
MW12H31H
As at 31 December
20184 20174
2018 2017
FET FET
HKD'000 HKD'000
C=20p)
(Restated)
FEFBR TR (a) Trade payables (a) 187,369 117,580
— FENTRE T RIB(H17£34(b)) — Due to related parties (Note 34(b)) 71,374 33,698
— ENE=HF0E — Due to third parties 115,995 83,882
ErtES T EER Accrued concession fee charges for
> Hi(b) advertising spaces (b) 283,789 193,796
— FERRAE BB (H17£34(b)) — Due to related parties (Note 34(b)) 244,338 192,141
— BNE=S5A — Due to third parties 39,451 1,655
H b SRR IE Other taxes payables 5,880 6,915
FEfT AR B Dividends payables 25,113 29,309
FES T2 Interests payables 530 -
e k8 TER Salary and staff welfare payables 28,581 22,770
H th FE A FIE(c) Other payables (c) 41,791 48,116
— FENTRAE T RIA(H17£34(b)) — Due to related parties (Note 34(b)) 9,522 4,283
— ENE=A%A — Due to third parties 32,269 43,833
573,053 418,486

B @EEEEERAF 2018 FiR 210



SO FEERER ML NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BRI R E T FRIE (&) 22
R2018F 20176128318 - EE (a)

S H BRI REST0T

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the ageing analysis
of the trade payables based on invoice date is as
follows:

M12H31H
As at 31 December
2018%F 20174
2018 2017
FET T
HKD'000 HKD'000
%618 A Up to 6 months 145,597 88,999
6EA=12{8 A 6 months to 12 months 36,855 953
1FEE2F 1 year to 2 years 1,281 26,710
2FE3IF 2 years to 3 years 3,116 226
3FMUE Over 3 years 520 692
187,369 117,580
FTEREIBHRNESE N IERER (b) The amounts mainly represented the differences

R R IR A R A B SO RIS
MR EEREENRERERAELE
Xz BRI ERR -

HitpENRAERRED WEFERRE (©)
& KA TRBREY A

between the minimum guaranteed concession fee
charges recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the beneficial periods and the minimum
guaranteed concession fee charges payable according
to the concession rights agreements.

Other payables mainly represented guarantee deposits

received from customers and certain amounts due to
related parties.
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23 BRMEITWEX 23 EXPENSES BY NATURE
5 AWARKA ~ $HE K 45 1 B R ST M Expenses included in cost of revenue, selling and
THAXBFRZTIAT : marketing expenses and administrative expenses are
analysed as follows:

HZ12A31BLEE

Year ended 31 December

EEERBFEEEH

Concession fee charges for

20184

2018
TET
HKD’000

20174
2017
FH&T
HKD’000

advertising spaces 1,227,615 1,194,033
I8 B & MAFEIAK A Project installation and dismantling costs 104,502 78,055
FiIE K B g Tax and surcharges 38,770 34,753
BEXH Utilities 21,342 23,832
BRERAEX Employee benefit expenses 213,639 178,448
EREEBRERX Travelling and entertainment expenses 53,087 43,056
PAEHESMAX Office rental expenses 23,403 16,408
BEERKE Professional service fees 12,196 10,936
W - WERRBITE Depreciation of property,
(Kteté) plant and equipment (Note 6) 37,562 38,140
ZERT BN & Auditors’ remuneration 5,315 3,868
— =R — Audit services 3,663 3,468
— EEETARTS — Non-audit services 1,652 400
T b (E AR (A7) Amortisation of land use rights (Note 7) 672 632
mEEEE(HF9) Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 9) 497 589
JFE U B 3k N B A E U Fh T8 Impairment/(reversal of) provision for
ERE (B ERE) trade and other receivables 7,998 (1,023)
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24 EEFENRX BEEEHE

(a)

BEERMX

24 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES, INCLUDING

DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS
Employee benefit expenses

HZ12A31BLEE

Year ended 31 December

20184 20174

2018 2017

FExT FET

HKD'000 HKD'000

IE& - Ha A Wages, salaries and bonuses 177,472 149,405
BIRNE KA — EREMEREHE Pension costs — defined contribution plans 28,773 24,009
B - BB R EHAM Welfare, medical and others 7.394 5034
213,639 178,448

BEBMAXNEHEARAERPET
SIFERI AR

Employee benefit expenses were charged in the
following categories in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income:

HZ12A31BLLEE

Year ended 31 December

2018%F 20174

2018 2017

FET T

HKD'000 HKD'000

HERTBHERERY Selling and marketing expenses 118,621 102,139
TEEX Administrative expenses 95,018 76,309
213,639 178,448

AEGFTBEMBEARNESELEMRD
AR EREME RN TEEETRKRS
FHE) o AR EIRER My T BT AR E ) E
ELB(NTIEEFESMI3%E21% * &
ELTR)EHHSFTEELER - A
EEMNERBIRHEES -

ANEBMAEB MK IOMBERRHH
BIBLTEME Bt  AREEHER
BRESEBBAREELREAERK
AS5%HHEER o

Employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC
are required to participate in a defined contribution
retirement scheme administered and operated by the
local municipal governments. The Group contributes
funds which are calculated on fixed percentage ranging
from 13% to 21% of the employees’ salary (subject to a
floor and cap) as set by local municipal governments to
each scheme locally to fund the retirement benefits of
the employees.

The Group’s subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong
contribute to an MPF scheme, under which the Group
and each employee each make monthly contribution
to the scheme at 5% of the qualifying earnings of the
employee.
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24 EEREFNAX BEESME(®)

(b) EHRESHFMAL
HZE2018F12A831BHILFE - K&EH
hEZEaHFMATR2E—R(20174F :
MEZ)RMITEE - HENHSEEMNTE
39M DT DRI R - B E20184F 12
A31BLEFE - HHmMA(2017F - =
FIATHEN S @EEE T -

24 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES, INCLUDING
DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Five highest paid individuals
The 5 individuals whose emoluments were the highest
in the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018
included 1 (2017: 2) executive directors whose
emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented in
Note 39. The aggregate amounts of emoluments for
the remaining 4 (2017: 3) individuals for the year ended
31 December 2018 are set out below:

HZ12A31BLEE

Year ended 31 December

2018% 20174

2018 2017

TR TET

HKD’000 HKD’000

IERF® Wages and salaries 5,574 4,567
TEAT Bonuses 1,348 112
RINEECA — ERMHEGETE Pension costs — defined contribution plans 36 54
6,958 4,733

HE2018F K2017F12A31BIEFE
FERZEALTINHNEEER T8
& :

The emoluments payable to these individuals for the
years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 fell within
the following bands:

HZ12A31BLLEE

Year ended 31 December

20184 20174
2018 2017
FHEx FHET
HKD'000 HKD'000

B < &5 [E] Emoluments band
1,000,0018 721,500,000/ 7T HKD1,000,001 to HKD1,500,000 - 2
1,500,0018 722,000,000/ 7T HKD1,500,001 to HKD2,000,000 2 -
2,000,001 7T 22,500,000/ 7T HKD2,000,001 to HKD2,500,000 2 1

REE2018F K20175F12 8318 1b5
BN AfEHENTINEERALR
BEMA LT HEAME - ERMNER
SESNBENRESIEABERmEE -
MEE R0 WENR B RETAEH -
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During the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017,
no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the
directors or the five highest paid individuals as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office, no directors waived or
have agreed to waive any emoluments.
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25 HlA 25 OTHER INCOME

HZ12A31BLEE

Year ended 31 December

20184 20174
2018 2017
FET FHTT
HKD'000 HKD'000
B & @ ARG A Advertising consulting service income 4,276 6,987
BT BA A (a) Government subsidy income (a) 682 1,359
BT —HBE QR Interest income on loans to an associate
FBWA(HraE31) (Note 31) 1,007 925
RIRITTRAORE Compensation from counter parties for
breach of contracts 1,123 892
RIE LB N 4R AN Reimbursement of installation and
maintenance costs 1,169 788
B & R AT AR A Advertising design service income 2,402 757
AfHESREERN Dividend income on available-for-sale
AR B A (K77E31) financial assets (Note 31) = 486
WA EIIAEMES Dividend income on financial assets at
&zl ar=4-¥=3:0] fair value through other comprehensive
f& SURA (BT 7£31) income (Note 31) 485 -
BREWMEROESWA Rental income on investment properties
(Ktit8) (Note 8) 230 264
Hith Others 377 51
11,751 12,509
(a) BB AIERRBEBUT L& 50T (@) Government subsidy income represented various
EEBARBEATRENZTER tax refunds granted by the relevant government
e authorities with no future obligations.
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26 Hfbz (FE)  BEHE 26 OTHER GAINS/(LOSSES), NET

HZ12A31BLLEE

Year ended 31 December

20184 20174
2018 2017
TERT FAT
HKD'000 HKD’000
FEH (1E) Wzs %58 Net exchange (losses)/gains (291) 581
REME N FER = Fair value gains on investment
(K17#8) properties (Note 8) 680 573
B ATE(EG| ABZEEER Fair value (losses)/gains on financial assets
ERMEEATEER) K at fair value through profit or
w=(HaE10) loss (Note 10) (336) 569
HEWE - BERRER Losses on disposal of property,
BIVAENER plant and equipment and
intangible assets (386) (3,795)
Efh Others 1,666 1,009
1,333 (1,063)
27 WERE BHE 27 FINANCE COSTS, NET

HZ12A31BLEE

Year ended 31 December

2018%F 20174
2018 2017
FHExT FH&T
HKD'000 HKD'000

AE WA Finance income
RITHFRFI B YA Interest income on bank deposits (3,437) (3,620)

5= §7%:N Finance costs

RITEKA B2 Interest expense on bank borrowings 7,449 7,143
MERA - FE Finance costs, net 4,012 3,523
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28 FREHAX

(a)

(b)

(c)

AEEEZ=2018F % 2017F12A31H
I FEMAEREISTIT

28

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The income tax expense of the Group for the years
ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 is analysed as
follows:

BZE12A31MHILEE
Year ended 31 December
20184

20174
2018 2017
FET FH&T
HKD’000 HKD'000

BNERFT1S HX Current income tax

— R DERER — PRC corporate income tax 38,040 20,524

— BANEH — Hong Kong profits tax 734 (225)
38,774 20,299

TS T (ML 14) Deferred income tax (Note 14) (12,221) 911
26,553 19,388

FREHEMEN
ARARRAEHERERAEFRERADA
MK AEREERAT - B2
FSEEMEM

EBFEH

AR AEEHEFBRMNEENEHNE
HEE  WERBBFERTIRES -
AEBECDREHE2018F £ 2017F12
A3 B IEFESFNGTEREFER
16.5% M T R R R -

R FTIE B
AEBOREBRITEN  REBLREHIE
) 5 5 o B KB N % R0 b T
J& SR T A 1R 25% B B¢ K 52 P 15 Bt s
- BRIFAEREEHEANERR

AEBEMBAREEEAHEENTE
EMERL A E AR P B AR
MEMENEBHREERRER  BEE
15%H)BEMBHRBE -

(a)

(b)

(c)

Cayman Islands income tax

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands as
an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law of Cayman Islands and accordingly, is
exempted from Cayman Islands income tax.

Hong Kong profits tax

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided for as there
was business operation that is subject to Hong Kong
profits tax. It had been provided for at the rate of
16.5% on the estimated assessable profits for each of
the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017.

PRC corporate income tax

The income tax provision of the Group in respect of
operations in Mainland China has been calculated at
the tax rate of 25% on the estimated assessable profits
for each of the years ended, based on the existing
legislation, interpretations and practices in respect
thereof, unless preferential tax rates were applicable.

Yunnan Airport Asiaray, a subsidiary of the Group,
was established in Yunnan Province, PRC. It was
eligible for preferential tax policies applicable for the
development of western regions in Mainland China,
and was entitled to a preferential income tax rate of
15%.
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28
(d)

FrEBE E) 28 INCOME TAX EXPENSE(Continued)

PEIFENB (d) PRC withholding tax

RBERPBERBER - NP BEREX According to the applicable PRC tax regulations,
M AK)ARIFE2008F 1 A1 A 2R EERF) dividends distributed by a company established in
HRINEREEDIRAKRE - —RAR Mainland China to a foreign investor with respect to
10% T EFBHAEH o MR FETMAK profits derived after 1 January 2008 are generally
Y HHINERE BT AR BRREET B subject to a 10% withholding income tax. If a foreign
VRS EEHHTHRNIEERET investor incorporated in Hong Kong meets the
BRABEAHH XK H10%MFEES% - conditions and requirements under the double taxation

treaty arrangement entered into between Mainland
China and Hong Kong, the relevant withholding tax
rate will be reduced from 10% to 5%.

HZ12A31BLEE

Year ended 31 December

BR Ffr 18 % A 7 8
B D EREEE R EIR
SE XA

RERR &S RDERE R
HEREABEHBIA
BERBEUA
AR R X

BT SHEERRERTIA
g
AERBEEASHEEDN
R

B ABEFERERNTIA
&8

BRI ARERNERER

PSR
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20184 20174

2018 2017

FHExT FET

HKD'000 HKD'000

Profit before income tax 153,268 90,590
Less: share of results of investments

in associates (12,462) (8,584)

140,806 82,006

Tax calculated at a tax rate applicable to

profit in the respective tax jurisdictions 23,195 13,360
Incomes not subject to tax (104) (428)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 3,653 3,171
Tax losses not recognised for deferred

income tax assets 1,393 3,855
Temporary differences not recognised

for deferred income tax assets 91 119
Utilisation of tax losses previously not

recognised (1,610) (523)
Utilisation of temporary difference

previously not recognised (65) (166)
Income tax expense 26,553 19,388
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29
(a)

(b)

BRER

=%
BEREABMNIREANRRERARMA
MBEREKARB AR ES DK © Bk
NERBERITEBRIEFHHRFHE -

AR B EA ARIGFE

29
(a)

EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the
profit attributable to owners of the Company less the
distribution to PSCS by the weighted average number
of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

BZ12A31HILEE
Year ended 31 December
20174

20184
2018 2017

Profit attributable to equity holders

(T&xT) of the Company (HKD'000) 62,953 44,690
o K AR AR E S DR Less: Distribution to PSCS (HKD'000)

(Fi85T) (1.725) .

61,228 44,690

BT E R INE T8 Weighted average number of ordinary

(1) shares in issue (thousand shares) 438,403 440,000
FRE BT (BB Earnings per share (HK cents per share) 13.97 10.16
e (b) Diluted

BREERNTIRREBRARR MR
FERE - RRARAERE BUK AR AR AT R R R
SRELNMABESESEBR(ER
SAEEREERN NS &) HETEIN
BB IEFOBIERREAE -

HZE2018F12A31HIEFE - KA&H
FERAE (MIFE32(a)) » K AR AT AR
7 (B 5E20) R ;R R =8 (MY RE33) B AT
EEHESRERAN  BEENEFA
BEARBEUE  WAEFESREER
MEF AW REFTEENR e

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting
the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding by the assumption of the conversion
of all potential dilutive ordinary shares arising from
share options granted by the Company, warrants and
PSCS (forming the denominator for computing diluted
earnings per share).

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group’s
share options (Note 32(a)), PSCS (Note 20) and
warrants (Note 33) could potentially dilute basic
earnings per share in the future, but were not included
in the calculation of diluted earnings per share because
they are anti-dilutive for the year.
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29 BREFE)

(b) #HE)
HZE2017F12A831BIEFE - K&EH
B (P RE32(a)) M RRR#E B (MI5E33)
B8 sTREART - BEP
EFRNEAERESHE - WEFTESR
BB RAR W AR ELA o KARRA
BB ST ERET] TEIT 2D
R HE MAD AT

29 EARNINGS PER SHARE(Continued)

(b) Diluted(Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group's
share options (Note 32(a)) and warrants (Note 33) could
potentially dilute basic earnings per share in the future,
but were not included in the calculation of diluted
earnings per share because they are anti-dilutive for
the year. The weighted average number of shares
that could have been issued upon the exercise of the
conversion of the PSCS is added to the denominator as
follow:

20174
2017

ARmEmEA ARENB(TET)

RERT BB R ER AN Z BB hnE
FHETR)

3

| e

2017412 H28B £20174
F 45 B S K AR AR
AT RR B A (FR%)

Rt EREERN
ERalEGopill: B2l AQ Ry

ShEs RN (FRE)
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Profit attributable to equity holders
of the Company (HKD'000) 44,690

Weighted average number of
ordinary shares used to calculate
basic earnings per share (thousand shares) 440,000

Adjustments for:
— conversion of PSCS between
28 December 2017 to
2017 year-end (thousand shares) 93

Weighted average number of
ordinary shares for diluted
earnings per share (thousand shares) 440,093

Diluted earnings per share (HK cents per share) 10.15
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30 RE

B AR B3 A%0.025%8 T
(20174 : ®h%0.10/%7T)(a)

fEARR B8 0%0.0148 7T
(20174 : 0.16/87T)

5B A% B & A%0.107%8 7T
(20174 : #)(b)

R2019FE3 27 BB T2 &% + -
EECEZRNEHZE2018F12A8
31 HIEFERRIARK B F0.025
BT (20174 « &R0.10%8 L) -
#8%E 511,000,00078 7T (2017 £ -
44,000,000/ 7T ) © EER B AR
RERAAREERERFT RS £
R o 1bE S5 B RS SRR A R S el ot
TR B,

R2018F 1M AB14B BTz €%
F B2 ERNBIRES
AR R 0.108 7T » A% A
44,000,000 7T (20174 : #&) o
AR AN FIHEIA2018F 11 A2
BN2018F 11 A14BHAE o

30 DIVIDENDS

BZE12A31MHILEE
Year ended 31 December
20184

20174
2017
FH&T
HKD’000

2018
TET
HKD’000

Proposed final dividend of HKD0.025
(2017: HKDO.10) per share (a)
Interim dividend of HKD0.014
(2017: HKDO.16) per share
Special dividend of HKDO0.10
(2017: nil) per share (b)

11,000 44,000

6,160 70,400
44,000 -
61,160 114,400

At the meeting held on 27 March 2019, the Board
recommended the payment of a final dividend
of HKDO0.025 (2017: HKDO0.10) per share for the
year ended 31 December 2018, amounting to a
total of HKD11,000,000 (2017: HKD44,000,000).
This proposed dividend is to be approved by
the shareholders at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company. These financial
statements do not reflect this dividend payable.

At the meeting held on 14 November 2018,
the Board approved the payment of the special
dividend of HKDO.10 per share of the Company,
amounting to a total of HKD44,000,000 (2017:
nil). References are made to the announcements
of the Company dated 2 November 2018 and 14
November 2018.
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31 REREEH 31 CASH FLOW INFORMATION
(a) BEMSBRS (a) Cash generated from operations

HZE12A31MHLLEE
Year ended 31 December

20184 20174
2018 2017
FEx FET
HKD'000 HKD'000
KR P15 A5 BT 1) Profit before income tax 153,268 90,590
FEE Adjustments for:
JFE U7 B 3 K% L Ath E U Fh T8 Provision for/(reversal of) trade and other
B (BERRE)(K:F23) receivables (Note 23) 7,998 (1,023)
RITERA BT Interest expenses on bank borrowings
(Ktaz27) (Note 27) 7,449 7,143
IRITIFAF B YA Interest income on bank deposits
(HieE27) (Note 27) (3,437) (3,620)
BT —HEEE AR Interest income on loans to an associate
FEWA(H5E25) (Note 25) (1,007) (925)
BAEEAEBZEN SR Interest income on financial assets at
BEEMF BIA fair value through profit or loss - (51)
AHHESREENRENR A  Dividend income on available-for-sale
(H15£25) financial assets (Note 25) = (486)

RAFETAEMEEKEZA S Dividend income on financial assets at
MEENRBWA(HZE25) fair value through other comprehensive

income (Note 25) (485) -
M - BE REEITE (H1726) Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment (Note 6) 37,562 38,140
T RS (A7) Amortisation of land use rights (Note 7) 672 632
mEEEE (K F9) Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 9) 497 589
HEME - MEMEEREFE Losses on disposal of property, plant and
EREE (K Z26) equipment and intangible assets (Note 26) 386 3,795
AT EIAESENS R Fair value gains on financial assets at fair
BEANFEWZE(HE10(a) value through profit or loss (Note 10(a)) 336 (569)
BRAFEIABRERN Fair value gains on investment properties
WEMENTFERE(F7E8)  atfair value through profit or loss
(Note 8) (680) (573)
DIERBE R E XS Share of results of investments in
(HfeE12) associates (Note 12) (12,462) (8,584)
190,097 125,058
LEESEY Changes in working capital:
— 78 — Inventories 396 (1,472)
— FEURBR X K ELAb e W sk 1E — Trade and other receivables (196,232) (76,625)
— ERERAR R EMERNFKIE  — Trade and other payables 155,156 84,025
— ZBRHIRE — Restricted cash 22,279 (8,216)
EEMERE Cash generated from operations 171,696 122,770
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31
(a)

(b)

REREBERHE)
EEMBRE(E)

EaHRERERT  HEVE  HE
RENETEESEK

B

31 CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Continued)

(a) Cash generated from operations (Continued)
In the consolidated statement of cash flows, proceeds
from disposals of property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets comprise:

HZ12A31BLEE

Year ended 31 December

2018%F 20174

2018 2017

FET T

HKD'000 HKD'000

BREFE(IF6K9) Net book amount (Note 6 and 9) 1,465 4,147
HEBE(ME26) Losses on disposals (Note 26) (386) (3,795)
HEFTSFUA Proceeds from disposals 1,079 352
METHELEZEBYHER (b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing

activities
REF S A2 M E FEEEFE This section sets out an analysis of net debt and
BB DT o the movements in net debt for each of the periods
presented.

20184 20174

2018 2017

FExT BT

HKD'000 HKD'000

BeRIBREEEBY Cash and cash equivalents 379,931 299,188

R — AN FEREER Borrowings — repayable within one year

(BHFEY) (including overdraft) (237,030) (130,204)
BER—BER1FEEE Borrowings — repayable after one year (31,976) (14,146)
FHIRE Net cash 110,925 154,838
Be ndtRE Cash and liquid investments 379,931 299,188
BERE-BETEHER Gross debt — fixed interest rates (58,122) (55,226)
BERE - FEFX Gross debt — variable interest rates (210,884) (89,124)

FHIRE Net cash 110,925 154,838
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31 BERhEER#E) 31 CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Continued)
(b) REEBELEEBHIEKR(E) (b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing

activities(Continued)

HEE

Other assets
RITEX

Cash/
bank
overdraft
THL
HKD'000

REEHHEAE
Liabilities from financing
activities
1EREH 15438
AL AL st
Borrowing Borrowing
due within due after
1 year 1 year Total
TET TAT TAT
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000

#®20175181H Net cash as at

ZERE 1 January 2017 217,336 (61,638) (5,310) 150,388
ReEnE Cash flows 69,255 (64,974) (9,620) (5,339)
IME TR Foreign exchange adjustments 12,597 (2,436) (372) 9,789
Hi R 2% Other non-cash movements - (1,156) 1,156 -
R2017%12831H Net cash as at

ZERE 31 December 2017 299,188 (130,204) (14,146) 154,838
ReneE Cash flows 95,694 (107,848) (19,178) (31,332)
NGE T2 Foreign exchange adjustments (14,951) 2,203 167 (12,581)
Hit R e 2% Other non-cash movements - (1,181) 1,181 =
#2018%12831H Net cash as at

ZRRE 31 December 2018 379,931 (237,030) (31,976) 110,925
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32
(a)

DR AERNARK

]

AR E KBRS TR IR 2014412
RH6BBBHRAZRREM(ZETE]) -
FEEMARAERALTHAEERME
B AT BE 1 LAY B B R 1 S fR i 42 B =k
EE

MR2015F5 8210 - EFS#EREZ
FHEI 11,534,875 BB E T HE
BRBALNBEFRERENTE NE
B(IMHREEDANINNEE([RERE
FAEBARERE ) RBREZAER D
4,400,00017 B IR #E T ML £ ([FTERA
BEEREETE]) - 20156 F10H
BITHREFRI A S BB LR EIER
HER o

FiiERENGBERERSEETHRE
0.6F&ZAI{TFE30% M AR T HIE1.65F
%A1TE70% © AR ARR2016%F1 818
F2020F6A9H (RIEBHEMA ) BB A
TELEABREBRENE30% &R
AR2017F1 B1HE2020%F6 A9H (&
FEEMB) BB TEDE LB E
K EFR70% °

AEEY FEARKIETRS - AREE
RS E I E -

32 SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

(a)

Share Option Plan

The Company’s share option scheme was adopted
pursuant to a resolution passed on 6 December 2014
(the “Scheme”) for the primary purpose of providing
incentives or rewards to eligible persons for their
contribution or potential contribution to the Group.

On 21 May 2015, the Board approved to grant
11,534,875 share options under the Scheme to its
employees and directors that excluding Lam Tak
Hing, Vincent (“Mr. Lam”) the chairman and the chief
executive officer of the Company (“Employee and
Contributor Share Option Plan”) and 4,400,000 share
options under the Scheme to Mr. Lam (“Executive
Share Option Plan”) that was approved and confirmed
by the independent shareholders at the extraordinary
general meeting held on 10 June 2015.

The vesting schedule of above share options is 30%
after 0.6 years from the grant date and 70% after 1.6
years from the grant date. The first 30% of the above
share options granted shall be exercisable by the
grantees during the period from 1 January 2016 to 9
June 2020 (both days inclusive); and the remaining 70%
of the share options granted shall be exercisable by the
grantees during the period from 1 January 2017 to 9
June 2020 (both days inclusive).

The Group has no legal or constructive obligation to
repurchase or settle the options in cash.
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32 LURDABERWNRE) 32 SHARE-BASED PAYMENT (Continued)

(a) BREFEE) (a) Share Option Plan (Continued)

() FBRENZE) (i) Movements in share options
MARITE R B SE R AR N F Movements in the number of share options outstanding
HITEERESERAT and their related weighted average exercise prices

were as follows:

EERERMERRET TRABRRETS
Employee and Contributor Executive
Share Option Plan Share Option Plan
FHTREE FHTEE
(BHBRE BREHE (BHBRE BREHE ABREYE

UE i) (F4) MUE st (F4) (F4)
Average Average
exercise price Number of exercise price Number of Total number
(HKD per options (HKD per options of options
share option)  (thousands) share option)  (thousands)  (thousands)

1201851418 At 1 January 2018 6.95 8,337 6.95 4,400 12,737
KM Lapsed 6.95 (153) - - (153)
120184128318 At 31 December 2018 6.95 8,184 6.95 4,400 12,584
7201741418 At 1 January 2017 6.95 11,047 6.95 4,400 15,447
K Lapsed 6.95 (2,710) - - (2,710)
720176124310 At 31 December 2017 6.95 8,337 6.95 4,400 12,737
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32
(a)
(ii)

(iii)

RGBERNATR(E)
BRERE(E)

15 R T 1EfE A HE
RERHRTTERBBREN DB RITE
BT

ZIHAE — 202056 H9H

ZHIH —2020F6 A9H

EERERERITHAE

32
(a)
(ii)

Expiry date - 9 June 2020

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT (Continued)

Share Option Plan (Continued)

Outstanding share options

Share options outstanding at the end of the year have
the following expiry dates and exercise prices:

Expiry date — 9 June 2020

M2018%12H31H
As at 31 December 2018

SHBRE BREHE
WAt TEE (F4)
Exercise price Number of

in HKD per  share options
share option (thousands)

Employee and Contributor and

BT 2 Executive Share Option Plans 6.95 12,584
FERRIE N T E (iii)  Fair values of share options

NABESEZE BB GEMITESE
FEARARG EMEBRERSELB
HMW A FEETHR - BRENQAFE
TMER_XEEET - EERERMER
R EMEE A AR E AN ERE AR
A EMITEE - HIE30.493% - KA
E1.0726% - EEBREFHSAFER
@\ 8 5 7 = 1.2258% 1T A B BB
HEETEIEERERFEANENE AR
BAEMITEE - KIE31.29% IR A
*1.0726% - TERRRE R EFHASF R &
& B2 55 A1 2K 1.3088% ° BT st & K18 5
LZEAELRARN T AFIRAK
1B 55T - W2015F5821BIREEE &
EREERETEREOBREATAE
5 %919,402,000 7T © AR 1T A
EREREFSRENEREQAFTEAL
7,453,000 7T ©

R E 20184 & 2017 F |F4F 2 #E M
R -

The directors of the Company appointed an
independent valuer, Greater China Appraisal Limited,
to estimate the fair value of the above share options
as at the respective grant dates. The fair values of the
share options were determined using the Binomial
method. The significant inputs used in the Employee
and Contributor Share Option Plan valuation method
were exercise price shown above, volatility of 30.493%,
dividend yield of 1.0726%, an expected option life
of 5.1 years, and an annual risk-free interest rate of
1.2258%. The significant inputs used in the Executive
Share Option Plan valuation method were exercise
price shown above, volatility of 31.29%, dividend
yield of 1.0726%, an expected share option life of 5
years, and an annual risk-free interest rate of 1.3088%.
The volatility measured is estimated by the average
of 5-year weekly volatility of several comparable
companies. The fair value of share options granted on
21 May 2015 under Employee and Contributor Share
Option Plan was approximately HKD19,402,000 and
the fair value of options granted under Executive Share
Option Plan was approximately HKD7,453,000.

There was no expense recognised for year ended 2018
and 2017.
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32
(b)

33

DR AEBRNSTRE)

iR 10 S B s+l
ANTEH20184F5 A 17 BRI 5 128
FrEI(TIRGEEEE)) EZEBMAR
EREpAEEREENESSHAENE
HEERATHASBEEBKHER R E
TEER o IR0 2B T B R FR 40 A% 10 42 B
FrEEHRAI0OFARRED - A
HEFCEBRE BN TARATRELL -
ARABEKI—EBEF WEEZFTA
BIE LA AR ZE G IR AN KRG
(I 2B R EIEsE]) - BB H R IR M
HESEET °

REZE2018F12A31HILFE - KA
A3 AR E % D S8 B AT 21 4R%  E R AR

{/\ ®

RREREE

201610 A10H - K2R & H Great
World HK Media Pte. Ltd. ( [ Great
World HK D ET RS M & Vel - #&0A
IRFFAARELL Catterton Management
Limited (FHLVMH Moét Hennessy Louis
Vuitton S.A., Catterton Holdings, L.L.C
K Groupe Arnault SASAK S BIFLE AR 1
RERQAF)NEBaE R XAQF
B Great World HKET 7 R EE sk (R B
HiA2016F 10 A13B MR IBEISET
R#Fx)  ABEBEARRBILAEITES
$£3,000,000%8 7T + sk 1H RAXEF0.3
B ITEE1710,000,00010 RIKAERE - KA
A TR A ARITEESRAR
BN 4.10% TR & % 10,000,000
IRABIRIEZ R - RFRRBEZBEITE
RERAET - BAITRIRIETE B P15 3B H
%815 440,700,000 7T °
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32
(b)

33

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT (Continued)

Share award scheme

On 17 May 2018, the Company adopted a share award
scheme (the “share award scheme”) for the primary
purpose to recognise and reward the contribution of
the Group’s employees and other eligible persons
as approved by the Board for their contribution or
potential contribution to the Group’s business. The
share award scheme shall be valid and effective for
a term of 10 years commencing from the date of the
adoption of the share award scheme, subject to any
early termination as may be determined appropriate
by the Board. The Company has set up a trust and
appointed a trustee for the administration and holding
of the Company’s shares acquired for the share award
scheme (the “share award scheme trust”). The vesting
period and conditions is determined by the Board.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the
Company did not grant any shares under the share
award scheme.

WARRANT RESERVE

On 10 October 2016, the Company entered into a
strategic alliance agreement with Great World HK
Media Pte. Ltd.("Great World HK"”) to enhance the
business collaboration between the Company and
L Catterton Management Limited, a private equity
firm formed by LVMH Moét Hennessy Louis Vuitton
S.A., Catterton Holdings, L.L.C and Groupe Arnault
SAS. On the same day, the company and Great
World HK entered into a subscription agreement
(as amended and supplemented by a supplemental
agreement dated 13 October 2016) in relation to issue
10,000,000 warrants of the Company at issue price of
HKD3,000,000 in total, or HKDO.3 per warrant. The
Company entitled the subscriber to subscribe for up
to 10,000,000 warrant shares at the exercise price of
HKD4.10 per warrant share. Assuming the warrants are
exercised in full by the subscriber, the net proceeds of
the warrant issue will be HKD40,700,000.
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33

34

RREEREE)
REEEIEN2016F 128298 %k ° &
NAEEL T B L EEMTEET
BEERARMG LR EE 2 AF
B - RREFNRFETERZ XA
BT o REBITHH  RBEFZ2LAFE
43,075,000 70 + RELZE 201612 A
BMMABLEFEZEBZRIOR  HERE
R ZMDRREF03075FTT - N
A& #E BB 5 A B A E K8 A BUE
BOIFEEBMHRBREERLIIOBT K
12 38.0567% - Bz B Uz % 4.7483% »
TEEFFHIF  RFEERRF X
1.3713% °

M2018%1H24R + Great World HK
MSpace Management Limited®:%
10,000,000 BAAEE -

EXBEEFRS

K £ [ % Media Cornerstone Limited
(RRBEAXHSEMK) =4 - &
%A AR A KD HE)57.94% © Space
Management Limited( R EBRE XS
FMAK)FEARLARMDAEI15.04% ©
HAer T 27.02% M0 »EkIFHE - EH1R
Media Cornerstone Limited%) 5l &%
RAREEER AT o A& B0 R LITE
AR5 BRI A o

B ESCEMM T EE  AEER
HEFEHRNE E2018F K% 201712 A
BMALEFEEFTTUTEARARS - AQ
REERAE  ZEWEFIRINIETE
AR A S B B R B T T i AR
T o

33

34

WARRANT RESERVE (Continued)

The subscription was completed on 29 December
2016. The directors of the Company appointed an
independent valuer, Greater China Appraisal Limited,
to estimate the fair value of the above warrants. The
fair values of the warrants were determined using the
Binomial method. As at date of issue, the fair value of
the warrants was HKD3,075,000, which was charged
to profit or loss during the year ended 31 December
2016, representing HKD0.3075 per warrant granted.
The significant inputs used in the warrants valuation
method were exercise price of HKD4.10 per warrant,
volatility of 38.0567%, dividend yield of 4.7483%, an
expected life of 3 years, and an annual risk-free interest
rate of 1.3713%.

On 24 January 2018, Great World HK transfer the
10,000,000 warrants to Space Management Limited.

SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
The Group is controlled by Media Cornerstone
Limited incorporated in the BVI, which owns 57.94%
of the Company’s shares. Space Management Limited
incorporated in the BVI holds 15.04% of the Company’s
shares. The other remaining 27.02% of the shares are
widely held. The directors regard Media Cornerstone
Limited as the holding company and ultimate holding
company respectively. The ultimate controlling party of
the Group is Mr Lam.

Same as disclosed in other notes above, the following
significant transactions were carried out between
the Group and its related parties during the year
ended 31 December 2018 and 2017. In the opinion
of the directors of the Company, the related party
transactions were carried out in the normal course of
business and at terms negotiated between the Group
and the respective related parties.
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34 EXBEIRS (#) 34 SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(a) BERZXRZS (a) Transactions with related parties

() BERETREBRA (i)  Advertising display service incomes

HZ12A31BLEE

Year ended 31 December

20184 20174
2018 2017
TET FAT
HKD'000 HKD'000
BENTE Associates:
— BEIAESE — Fujian Zhaoxiang Advertising 1,710 1,303
— YIS HE 4 — Shenzhen Airport Asiaray 458 2,717
BT 2 B#Y Non-controlling interests
FIERR AR in subsidiaries:
— REREFEHRZERABMR AT — Zhuhai Newspaper Media Holding
([EZRE®RE]) Limited (“Zhuhai Newspaper”) 2,393 -
— EERSEEEREE — Yunnan Airport Group Company
AR KEFRA Limited and its subsidiaries
([EE#EREFAA]) (“Yunnan Airport and
its subsidiaries”) 2,008 592
— REHMEERIKEABRART — Tianjin Metro Resources Investment
([ R ) Company Limited (“Tianjin Metro”) 71 -~

6,640 4,612
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34

(a)
(ii)

EXBELRE (&)

BERRS (&)
B &R S B

34 SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(a) Transactions with related parties (Continued)

(ii)  Concession fee charges for advertising spaces

HZ12A31BLEE

Year ended 31 December
20184 20174

2018 2017
TExT TAT
HKD’000 HKD'000

/N

— RBEIAES

— BEAIER

— YIS HE 4

— KEEH

hi = N N

R ER

— EEBRSENETF AT

— A MSERBRA A
([ A 435 1)

— EEHBERERE
ERAR(ESHE])

— IREmE
— R H
AT EEGIWEEDT :

—RERTHEESRNARA

AT & B R )

Associates:

— Fujian Zhaoxiang Advertising 48,307 47,004
— Guangxi Top Source 1,092 1,047
— Shenzhen Airport Asiaray 157,954 135,930
— Zhuhai Yueya 212 -

Non-controlling
interests in subsidiaries:

— Yunnan Airport and its subsidiaries 135,750 144,437
— Henan Airport Group Company
Limited (“Henan Airport”) 134,379 131,035

— Qingdao Chengyang Development
and Investment Company Limited

("Qingdao Chengyang”) - 10,097
— Zhuhai Newspaper - 43
— Tianjin Metro 34,023 35,460

Related company controlled by

Mr. Lam:
— Taiwan Asiaray Advertising Holding

Limited

("Taiwan Asiaray”) - 625

511,717 505,678
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3 BEXBEIRZ(E)

(a) RELZXRZ(E)
(i) BN ENHERE

a:
1| H35 T A1

&
| M
§

A

/

(iv)] WAFHLHZT

R—EHBELTHN
FERER
— EFEE R AT AT
HAMEERFINEEEAT :

— HEETPERBERAR
([FEEATRE])
— BEERER QA
(TEg )
— REBRAF
RAREHIT -
— ML
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34 SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(a) Transactions with related parties (Continued)

(iii) Sales commissions paid/payable

HZ12A31BLEE

Year ended 31 December
20184

20174
2017
FH&T
HKD’000

2018
TET
HKD’000

Associate:

— Shenzhen Airport Asiaray 555 522

(iv)  Office rental expenses

BZ12A31ALLEE
Year ended 31 December
20184 20174
2017
FET
HKD’000

2018
FTERT
HKD’000

Non-controlling interest
in a subsidiary:

— Yunnan Airport and its subsidiaries 1,201 1,188
Related companies
controlled by Mr. Lam:
— Asiaray China Media Company
Limited (“Asiaray China”) 1,616 791
— Billion China International Limited
("Billion China") 4,924 2,409
— Peaky Limited 528 568
Ultimate controlling party:
— Mr. Lam 329 -
8,598 4,956
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3 EXBEIRS(H) 34 SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(a) BEAXRZ(#Z) (a) Transactions with related parties (Continued)

v) B EREESZ KR (v)  Utilities cost paid/payable

HZ12A31BLEE

Year ended 31 December

2018%F 20174

2018 2017

THET FAT

HKD'000 HKD’000

R B AR NIEERESR ! Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries:

— EEMS RHEFAR] — Yunnan Airport and its subsidiaries 4,780 6,339

— S — Henan Airport - 1,110

4,780 7,449

i) FEEEAEF (vi) Key management compensation

REERBENKEFETEEEASR The compensations paid or payable to key
(PIEES BFEATEREME AT management personnel (including directors, chief
BAB)BREN T executive officer and other senior executives) for

employee services are shown below:

HZ12A31BLLEE

Year ended 31 December

20184 20174

2018 2017

FHEx FET

HKD'000 HKD'000

TERF® Wages and salaries 4,992 7,240
VARR £ A EE 1 2 ISP 3R Share-based payments — -
RIRET AR Retirement scheme contributions 36 63
TEAT Bonuses 160 _
4a=t Total 5,188 7,303
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3 EXBELIRS(#) 34 SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(b) EEEEHME (b) Balances with related parties

(i) EEREWERF - (i) Included in trade receivables:

HZ12A31BLEE

Year ended 31 December

20184 20174
2018 2017
FTERT FAT
HKD'000 HKD’000
BE AT : Associates:

— RIS T 4 — Shenzhen Airport Asiaray 1,904 5,027
— BEKAES — Fujian Zhaoxiang Advertising = 1,016

R B AR WIEERESR ! Non-controlling interest in subsidiaries:
— RE — Tianjin Metro 69 =
— EE#ERE T AT — Yunnan Airport and its subsidiaries 1,385 5
3,358 6,048

(i) BFRETERL - (i) Included in trade payables:

HZ12A31BLLEE

Year ended 31 December

2018%F 20174
2018 2017
TET FHTT
HKD'000 HKD’000
BE AT Associates:
— FYIE S HE 4 — Shenzhen Airport Asiaray 58 41
— RBEIARS — Fujian Zhaoxiang Advertising 210 1,410
— BB — Zhuhai Yueya 2,494 =
BT 2 B#Y Non-controlling interests
IR in subsidiaries:
— EEBRENETF AT — Yunnan Airport and its subsidiaries 11,665 6,023
— SIS — Henan Airport 56,947 26,224

71,374 33,698

B @EEEEERAF 2018 FiR 234



SO B HmRME

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 BEXBEIRZ(E)

(b) EERREFMER(E)
(iii)  EERE M AN FIE -

/N

— BEKAES
— BEREIER

hi = N N
R ER

— BEEHE

— RiEHh

(iv) EBRERTIE & 2R A4S

BE AT

— BEKAES

— RIS T
— EATER
REEBEATH
IR

— EFBESERETFAR
— A S

— KB

34 SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

(b) Balances with related parties (Continued)

(iii) Included in other prepayments:

Associates:
— Fujian Zhaoxiang Advertising
— Guangxi Top Source
Non-controlling interests
in subsidiaries:
— Qingdao Chengyang
— Tianjin Metro

BB (iv)

Associates:

— Fujian Zhaoxiang Advertising

— Shenzhen Airport Asiaray

— Guangxi Top Source
Non-controlling interests

in subsidiaries:

— Yunnan Airport and its subsidiaries

— Henan Airport

— Zhuhai Newspapaer

Asiaray Media Group Limited

HZ12A31BLEE

Year ended 31 December
20184

2018
TET
HKD’000

20174
2017
FH&T
HKD’000

338 -
427 368
5,663 1,826
- 2,720
6,428 4,914

Included in accrued concession fee charges for
advertising spaces:

HZ12A31BLLEE

Year ended 31 December
20184

2018
FTERT
HKD’000

20174
2017
FHET
HKD’000

37 -
69,851 67,231
97 -
87,892 59,476
86,461 65,390
- 44
244,338 192,141
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34 EAEESRS(E) 34 SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(b) EHRREFMER(E) (b) Balances with related parties (Continued)

(v) EREMEKIE - (v) Included in other receivables:

BZ12A31BLLEE
Year ended 31 December

20184 20174
2018 2017
FTET FHET
HKD'000 HKD’000
BeEnT : Associates:
— BATER — Guangxi Top Source - 120
— RIS e 4 — Shenzhen Airport Asiaray 3,093 13,318
— KB — Zhuhai Yueya 2,283 =
iy N Non-controlling interest
IR in subsidiaries:
— EEBISEREFAR] — Yunnan Airport and its subsidiaries 715 197
— EHMERETF AR — Wauxi Metro and its subsidiaries = =
— R — Tianjin Metro 16,820 1,716
— 555 — Qingdao Chengyang = 60
22,911 15,411
(vi) EFREMENFIE - (vi) Included in other payables:

HZ12A31BLLEE

Year ended 31 December

20185 20174
2018 2017
TR FHET
HKD'000 HKD'000
R 2 BI#Y Non-controlling interest
IR ER in subsidiaries:
— A5 — Henan Airport 37 —
— EERSNETAF — Yunnan Airport and its subsidiaries 8 347
HMEEZEFINBEEAR ! Related companies controlled
by Mr. Lam:
— M4 — Asiaray China 2,342 818
— (B — Billion China 7,135 2,493
— REEL S — Taiwan Asiaray = 625

9,522 4,283
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3 EARELRZ () 34 SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(b) EEBAEAMEXR(E) (b) Balances with related parties (Continued)

(vi) EZREMENZE - (&) (vi) Included in other payables: (Continued)

P ERRE AR BEIEE 2R KR The above balances with related parties were

RIRBESRIER - unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

EXAR R E TRER W EIER B The English names of certain related parties referred

B ERNERIOHARAEEER to above represented the best efforts by management

MR ATBEEMmR - of the Company in translating their Chinese names, as
they do not have official English names.

35 REBEAE 35 OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS
AEERBENAIRELEEHEREER The Group leases certain office buildings and certain
ETMAMERETHEER - B A media resources under non-cancellable operating
VEEENHBHR1FE10FETE - M lease agreements. The lease terms for office buildings
EREERNBIFERZ10F1E - MAES are negotiated for terms ranging from 1 to 10 years,
HEEBZAINERERKETISHEE and those for media resources are negotiated for
BHE o terms ranging from 1 to 10 years, and majority of lease

agreements are renewable at the end of the lease
period at market rate.

UTAAREERENAREEERE The Group’s future aggregate minimum lease
RREHIERE (R ERE payments under non-cancellable operating leases are
as follows:

HZ12A31BLLEE

Year ended 31 December

20184 20174

2018 2017

FTERT FHTT

HKD'000 HKD'000

TZR1F Not later than 1 year 794,710 887,656

LN FETSREFE Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 1,586,818 2,046,838

Z A5 Later than 5 years 626,906 756,139

3,008,434 3,690,633

36 HFHEER 36 CONTINGENCIES
BRa Otk A EEPTIEREEIDN - Saved as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated
REEM2018F12A31 B EE AL financial statements, the Group had no material
7 =R contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2018.
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37

EBa 6

M2018F8A29R - AEBEKE R A
Asiaray International Holding Limited
RIMEEWE B - AEBEBIRGF
E B B Radius Displays International
Limited & H Bt /8 2 ] (4278 [Radius |)
Z B EBEITIRA51% ° RadiusE 2R FH1E
HESHRERTRRRR - TEME
B AR - M 2018F 10 A30H » REMK
BEEMHEAENEREER  RAEEE
SERC LAt

WM ANRE A B S REFTIERN
ANAEREZE2021F3 318 LU ESF
ERBREEFEEHABRFETE - WA
REXARABTRERD DML
5 o TR TS R R E RN
BHHEWREEREREBENQTF
(T
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37

BUSINESS COMBINATION

On 29 August 2018, Asiaray International Holding
Limited, a subsidiary of the Group, has entered into a
sale and purchase agreement, pursuant to which the
Group conditionally agreed to purchase 51% of the
issued share capital of Radius Displays International
Limited and its subsidiary (together as “Radius”).
Radius is mainly engaged in provision of signage and
urban furniture design engineering and consulting
work. On 30 October 2018, upon the fulfillment of the
conditions precedent set out in the sales and purchase
agreement, the Group has completed the above
acquisition.

The total consideration of this acquisition was based
on the average adjusted profit after tax for the 4 years
ending 31 March 2021 with the formula as prescribed
in the sale and purchase agreement and will be settled
in 4 installments by payment of cash or issuance of
consideration share by the Company. The following
table summarises the consideration paid for the
acquisition, and the fair value of assets acquired and
liabilities assumed at the acquisition date.
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37 EXBEH(HE) 37 BUSINESS COMBINATION (Continued)
BEREFHBOT : Details of the purchase consideration is as follows:
20184
2018
FHERT
HKD’000
BERE: Purchase consideration:
ENEE Cash paid 4,359
BRAFEIABRSENSHMEE—K Financial liabilities at fair value thorugh
ARE(a) rofit or loss — contingent consideration (a) 6,611
p —_—
HWEERE Total purchase consideration 10,970
FAUCEE B ERD A - DU RS Details of the consideration paid for the acquisition,
)S\QE%K}J?/E%E’\]’D\#TEEQE . the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed

at the acquisition date.

20185
2018

TR
HKD’000

CHBTRAEERCHRIEABMNE Recognised amounts of identifiable assets

BRALHE acquired and liabilities assumed
ME - BB RRE Property, plant and equipment 115
B EE Intangible assets 17,298
B RIRGEBY Cash and cash equivalents 4,638
P U5 B R % EL A E WK TR Trade and other receivables 4,636
BIERF T & E Current tax assets 1,018
BIEHIBRAE Deferred tax liability (2,854)
FE AT BR 3 R H At B 5 5B Trade and other payables (8,606)
BAERBEESE Total identifiable net assets 16,245
B FEIE R ZR (49%) Less: Non-controlling interests (49%) (7,960)
ERBEEAEGLEERE Net assets attributable to equity owner 8,285
BERE Purchase consideration (10,970)
[k Goodwill 2,685
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37 ¥¥E6t(E)

g B% #H 8 Bk 4 700,000 T 2 RNE &=
2018F 12 A31MHIEFEEME AW
kR o

B R E 2,685,000 T IgHEERE
HHAIB A EEFEQAFENS I
EAREBEF B4 S RadiusM AL B2 #
MEBERNE  RREBREBEEPRE
HENHERER R BEERRTE
AR AR TH & B R A EE A 1O 17 R Az
EL - FHMED EREES A REN
BPTISHL

MN20184E10A31 B E£20184F12831H
HRfE - U % E A U A 3,888,000/8
TT R A5 F|53,0005 7T °

U BE N 20184F1 B1B L  HE
2018F 12 A31H L FEAHEE W
A K FE & 5 Bl A22,834,000 7% 7T &
2,167,000 7T - 2S¢ B ERWES
AREIEERAREERHBARNE T
BERZEMTEEE -

Bt (a)

BEEEHD  LRENBREDUNEERHEME
AHAREREZE202143 A31 B L EFE KR
e P ALFEAE - WARS AR BT
REBRG D HELEN - KT B - KRAREHA
FEDHBELGEMRABBERESREERELE
AR K16 5% T2 BEMEET - BNKARE
WAFEERABIHRTE - WRE I BEREM
FE33WE -
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37

BUSINESS COMBINATION (Continued)
Acquisition-related costs of HKD700,000 have
been charged to the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income for the year ended 31
December 2018.

The goodwill of HKD2,685,000 recognised represents
the excess of the purchase consideration over the
fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired
and is attributable to the created synergies with
the Group through integration of the management
expertise of Radius to the Group, providing cross-
selling opportunities and one-stop advertisement
solution to existing and potential clients and enhancing
the operational efficiency. None of the goodwill
recognised is expected to be deductible for income tax
purposes.

The acquired business contributed revenues of
HKD3,888,000 and net profit of HKD53,000 to the
Group for the period from 31 October 2018 to 31
December 2018.

If the acquisition had occurred on 1 January 2018,
consolidated pro-forma revenue and profit for the
year ended 31 December 2018 would have been
HKD22,834,000 and HKD2,167,000 respectively.
These amounts have been calculated using the
subsidiary’s results and adjusting them for differences
in the accounting policies between the group and the
subsidiary.

Note (a)

In accordance with the sale and purchase agreement, total
consideration of this acquisition was based on the average adjusted
profit after tax for the 4 years ending 31 March 2021 with a formula as
prescribed in the sale and purchase agreement and will be settled in
4 installments by payment of cash or issuance of consideration share
by the Company. As at the completion date, the fair values of the
contingent consideration is determined by a professional valuation
conducted by an independent valuer using discounted cash flow
method and with reference to the discount rate of 16.5%. The fair value
of the contingent consideration payable is considered as a level 3
measurements and disclosed in Note 3.3 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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38 BALANCE SHEET AND EQUITY MOVEMENT
OF THE COMPANY

38 FARRAEERBRREZZH

M®12831H
As at 31 December
20184 20174
rokk:] 2017
TR FET
HKD'000 HKD'000
BE ASSETS
ERBEE ) Non-current asset
R—EREBARZIRE Investment in a subsidiary 280,094 280,094
M (o SEE) AT B Tt Contribution to
share award scheme trust 21,000 -
301,094 280,094
REEE Current assets
H b fE U 5k T8 K TR OB Other receivables and
3 prepayments 462,578 472,605
HBRITTE X Short-term bank deposits - 9
RERBESEEY Cash and cash equivalents 8,759 53,225
471,337 525,839
HWEE Total assets 772,431 805,933
EEkEE EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
KATREEAEEER Equity attributable to owners
of the Company
[N Share capital (a) 44,000 44,000
G Reserves (a) 537,185 641,481
B Total equity 581,185 685,481
aE Liabilities
FRBEE Non-current liability
fE X Borrowings 45,750 9,660
REERE Current liabilities
H b e Fk0E Other payables 67,386 81,876
JE{SH % B Dividend payables 24,200 =
&k Borrowings 53,910 28,916
145,496 110,792
HWEE Total liabilities 191,246 120,452
HEZKEE Total equity and liabilities 772,431 805,933

EE2R20194F

The balance sheet of the Company was approved by

ARAEEBREREL , ,
SH27BHEET)E - W EERE the Board on 27 March 2019 and was signed on its
B=Z o behalf.
MiEmE MRE
Lam Tak Hing, Vincent Lam Ka Po
*E BITEE
Chairman Executive Director
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38 FARRAEERBRREZBEH(E)

(a)

RAHEEREEERAR 2018 Fif

PN £ )

H2017%1418
FEAE

Re

FAARRT AR

20175124318

K2018451A18
ERME

k&
KARBIERES D
BREXK

R2018512A318

At 1 January 2017
Profit for the year
Dividends

Issuance of PSCS

At 31 December 2017

At 1 January 2018
Profit for the year
Dividends

PSCS distribution

Share option lapesed

At 31 December 2018

242

38 BALANCE SHEET AND EQUITY MOVEMENT
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
(a) Equity movement of the Company

Nk AER KARR (23tE8)/

RVEE  HERRE FREIRE TRRER  HbRE  REEA

(Accumulated

Share-based losses)/

Share Share  compensation Warrant Other retained
capital premium reserve reserve PSCS reserves earnings Total
Tin Tikr TR TR TR T Thn
HKD000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000
44,000 461,013 26,209 3075 - 29,674 (27,840) 756,131
- - - - - - 13750 13750
- (114,400 - - - - - (114,400
- - - - 30,000 - - 30,000
44,000 346,613 26,209 3075 30,000 29,674 (14,090) 685,481
44,000 346,613 26,209 3,075 30,000 249,674 (14,090) 685,481
- - - - - - (8,393) (8,393)
- (94,160) - - - - - (94,160)
- - - - - - (1,743) (1,783)
- - (4,981) - - - 4,981 -
44,000 252,453 21,228 3,075 30,000 249,674 (19,245) 581,185
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39 ESM= 39 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
BUNEEREE2018F12A3181LF The remuneration of each director for the year ended
EHMeETImT - 31 December 2018 is set out as below:

RESEE

ALY

HMELT

RHZEN

EXHEAE  EREEM

#8 R ZHREOEA  SENMR dEREpHE

Other

emoluments

paid or

receivable in

respect of

director's

other services

in connection

Employer's with the

contribution  management

toa of the affairs

Allowances retirement of the company

Discretionary  and benefits benefit or its subsidiary
Name of directors Fees Salary bonuses in kind scheme undertaking Total
TERL TERL AL AT T T B
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000

£33 Chairman

s Mr. Lam - 1,404 - - 18 = 1422
YTES Executive directors

HRE Lam Ka Po = 2400 160 180 18 = 2758
FATES Non-executive director

2B (i) Wong Chi Kin (Note (a)) 252 - - - - _ )

BUkHTES Independent

non-executive directors

SERE Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung 252 - - - - - 25
558 Ma Ho Fai 52 - - - - . %52
Sk (Win) Mak Ka Ling (Note(b) 252 = S - - - )
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39 EEMe(#)
BUNEENEEZ2017F12A8318IE4
EHMESHIET

Name of directors

£ Chairman

WHiE Mr. Lam

YTES Executive directors

WZE Lam Ka Po

BRW(WHE0) So Chi Man (Note (c))

FnEs Non-executive director

EEB(WiiHa) Wong Chi Kin (Note (2)

SEX W) Yung Chun Man (Note(d)

BukyTEs Independent
non-executive directors

it Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung

558 Ma Ho Fai

RER(iie) Mak Ka Ling (Note(b))

RsB(Hie) Chan Chi Fai Andrew (Note(e))
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39

Fees
T
HKD'000

167
176

218
216
142
106

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

The remuneration of each director for the year ended

31 December 2017 is set out as below:

REZER

LOGE
HMEAT
FBEEH

ExHEhe AEESH

Fe ML 2ERENER HHNER  SERHANE
Other

emoluments

paid or

receivable in

respect of

director's

other services

in connection

Employer's with the

contribution  management

toa of the affairs

Allowances retirement of the company

Discretionary  and benefits benefit or its subsidiary

Salary bonuses in kind scheme undertaking
BT T AL AT TEx
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000

1,200 - - 18 -
1,920 - - 18 -
1,006 - - 9 -

Total
ThT
HKD'000

1,218

1,938
1,015

167
176

216
216
142
106
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39 EsM=(®)

Wit -

(a)

BEERAEER2017F3A24A EHZERA
RAIHFEMITES o

ERBZITN2017F5A5HREZT AR
RENBLIFRITES -

RS E A TR 201756 B26 H#ER I AN A A
HITES -

BENXEER2017F6 826 BRI ARA A
HIEHITES »

PR ER2017F6 A 26 HRRERLD A
B IFMITES o

EEHME
HZE2018F12A31MHILFE #iEE=H
ANEB KBRS /EHINASKBERARNE
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39 DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

Mr. Wong Chi Kin was appointed as a non-executive director of
the Company with effect from 24 March 2017.

Ms. Mak Ka Ling was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company with effect from 5 May 2017.

Mr. So Chi Man retired as an executive director of the Company
with effect from 26 June 2017.

Mr. Yung Chun Man retired as a non-executive director of the
Company with effect from 26 June 2017.

Mr. Chan Chi Fai Andrew retired as an independent non-
executive director of the Company with effect from 26 June
2017.

Directors’ remuneration

During the year ended 31 December 2018, no director received
any emolument from the Group as an inducement to join or
leave the Group or compensation for loss of office; no directors
and senior management waived or has agreed to waive any
emoluments (2017: nil).

Directors’ retirement benefit

During the year ended 31 December 2018, no retirement
benefits paid to the directors of the Company by a defined
benefit pension plan operated by the Group in respect of
the director’s services as a director of the Company and
its subsidiaries or other services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company or its subsidiary
undertaking (2017: nil).

Directors’ termination benefit

During the year ended 31 December 2018, no payments to
the directors of the Company as compensation for the early
termination of the appointment (2017: nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for making available
directors’ services
During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company did
not provide to any third party for making available director’s
services (2017: nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other dealings
in favour of directors, controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors

During the year ended 31 December 2018, no loans, quasi-
loans or other dealings in favour of directors of the Company,
controlled bodies corporate by and connected entities with
such directors (2017: nil).

Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements
or contracts

Saved as disclosed in Note 34, no significant transactions,
arrangements and contracts in relation to the Group's business
to which the Company was a party and in which a director of the
Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year
(2017: nil).
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RESULTS

20185
2018

TER
HKD'000

Profit/(loss) attributable to

HZ12A31HLEE
Year ended 31 December

20174 20164 20154
2017 2016 2015
FHET FHET FHT
HKD'000  HKD'000  HKD'000

(/==5)

(Restated)

20144
2014
T
HKD'000

owners of the Company 62,953 44,690 16,883 (39,616) 142,555
Earnings before interest, tax,
depreciation and amortisation 196,011 133,474 90,219 24,031 258,145

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

R12A31AH
As at 31 December

20184 20174 20164 20154 20144
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
FET THET FTAT TET TET
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000

(g=5]) (FK=7))

(Restated) (Restated)
Total assets 1,599,456 1,307,444 1,136,523 1,264,963 992,386
Total liabilities 1,024,279 (728,266) (548,859) (559,865) (783,615)
Net assets 575,177 579,178 587,664 705,098 208,771
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Lam Tak Hing, Vincent

(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Lam Ka Po

(Chief Operations Officer)

Non-executive Director

Mr. Wong Chi Kin

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung

Mr. Ma Ho Fai GBS JP

Ms. Mak Ka Ling

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Ip Pui Sum

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Lam Tak Hing, Vincent
Mr. Ip Pui Sum

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung (Chairman)
Mr. Ma Ho Fai GBS JP
Ms. Mak Ka Ling

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Lam Tak Hing, Vincent (Chairman)
Mr. Ma Ho Fai GBS JP
Ms. Mak Ka Ling

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Ma Ho Fai GBS JP (Chairman)
Mr. Lam Tak Hing, Vincent

Mr. Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung
Ms. Mak Ka Ling
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AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

LEGAL ADVISER

Mason Ching & Associates
2403, 24/F., World-Wide House
19 Des Voeux Road Central
Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

The Hong Kong and Shanghai Banking Corporation
Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong) Limited
United Overseas Bank Limited

Bank of Communications Company Limited

REGISTERED OFFICE

Maples Corporate Services Limited
P.O. Box 309, Ugland House
Grand Cayman, KY1-1104

Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

16/F.,

Kornhill Plaza — Office Tower
1 Kornhill Road

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17/F.

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai, Hong Kong

WEBSITE
http://www.asiaray.com
STOCK CODE

1993
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